

Ayesha Siddique

# Living on the edge: Adaptation to pesticides and associated fitness costs

PHD DISSERTATION 2 2023 Helmholtz Centre for Environmental Research - UFZ Department of System-Ecotoxicology

# Living on the edge: Adaptation to pesticides and associated fitness costs

Von der Fakultät für Mathematik, Informatik und Naturwissenschaften der RWTH Aachen University zur Erlangung des akademischen Grades eines Doktorin der Naturwissenschaften genehmigte Dissertation

vorgelegt von

# Ayesha Siddique, M.phil

aus

Lahore, Pakistan

Berichter: Prof. Dr. Matthias Liess Prof. Dr. Andreas Schäffer

Tag der mündlichen Prüfung: 02.06.2023

Diese Dissertation ist auf den Internetseiten der Universitätsbibliothek online verfügbar.

I hereby declare that I have created this work completely on my own and used no other sources or tools than the ones listed, and that I have marked any citations accordingly.

Hiermit versichere ich, dass ich die vorliegende Arbeit selbständig verfasst und keine anderen als die angegebenen Quellen und Hilfsmittel benutzt sowie Zitate kenntlich gemacht habe.

Aachen, June 02, 2023

Ayesha Siddique

#### The thesis is based on the following publications

- Siddique, A., Liess, M., Shahid, N., & Becker, J. M. (2020). Insecticides in agricultural streams exert pressure for adaptation but impair performance in *Gammarus pulex* at regulatory acceptable concentrations. Science of the Total Environment, 722, 137750. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.137750</u>
- Siddique, A., Shahid, N., & Liess, M. (2021). Multiple Stress Reduces the Advantage of Pesticide Adaptation. Environmental Science & Technology, 55(22), 15100-15109. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.1c02669</u>
- 3. **Siddique, A.**, Shahid, N., & Liess, M. (2023). Persistent pesticides effects favour single population dominance and reduces biodiversity of vulnerable species. (Submitted).
- 4. Shahid, N., **Siddique, A.**, & Liess, M. (2023). Predicting the combined effects of multiple stressors and individual stress adaptation. (Submitted)

# Abstract

The decline of sensitive species in agricultural streams is mainly attributed to pesticide contamination, even below the regulatory acceptable concentrations. Very low toxic pressure may thus determine ecological and evolutionary processes responsible for the current loss in biodiversity, and leading to adaption at community and individual level. In order to improve the current risk assessment, this dissertation aims to analyze factors that may shape the response of organisms to chemicals in the field.

To analyze the effect of long-term exposure to low pesticide concentrations in natural populations, a field investigation was conducted **(Chapter 2)**. We observed that populations from contaminated streams were up to 2.5-fold more tolerant to clothianidin. However, populations showing increased insecticide tolerance were characterized by reduced survival, per capita growth and mating when cultured under pesticide free conditions.

Given that multi-stress conditions may occur more often under global change scenarios, the adaptation to one stressor might shape the response to another stressor **(Chapter 3)**. We observed that agricultural populations are on average 2-fold more tolerant to insecticide clothianidin as compared to reference populations. After experimental pre-exposure to very low concentration ( $LC_{50}/1000$ ), only reference populations showed increased pesticide tolerance. Under multiple stress of pesticides and elevated temperature, both reference and agricultural populations showed a similar tolerance to the combined stress of pesticides and warming due to stronger synergistic effects in adapted populations. However, agricultural populations were more sensitive to elevated temperature alone due to the hypothesized fitness cost of genetic adaptation to pesticides and as a result, pesticide adaptation loses its advantage.

Although pesticide tolerance enables the survival of tolerant species in contaminated streams, long-term exposure to pesticides may alter their genetic structure (Chapter 4). *G. pulex* collected from 38 small streams showed that pesticide exposure increased the pesticide tolerance, reduced

the genetic diversity, resulted in an adopted genetic composition and compromised individual fitness in locally adapted populations. Specifically, an increased frequency of "high contamination alleles" and a decrease of "low contamination alleles" was observed with increasing contamination. Furthermore, the individual per capita growth decreased with increasing trade-offs of genetic adaptation. Nevertheless, *G. pulex* contributed an average of 44% of macroinvertebrate abundance and benefited from reduced interspecific competition with vulnerable species in contaminated streams.

Condering global change scenario and persistent stress leading to adaptation, the question arises: How can the combined effects of these apparently contradictory processes be predicted (Chapter 5)? We show that pesticide adapted *G. pulex* from agricultural streams were more tolerant to pesticides (clothianidin, prochloraz) as compared to nonadapted populations. However, joint exposure to both pesticides and temperature stress resulted in acute synergistic interactions, and the combined effects were stronger in adapted populations. We hypothesize that the pesticide adaptation reduces general stress capacity of individuals and trade-off process increases sensitivity to the combined stress. The general stress exerted by each of the individual factors was quantified using the Stress Addition Model (SAM). These studies showed that pesticide pollution triggers adaptation from sub-organismal to community level. Unraveling these processes explains effects from genes to ecosystem level.

# Zusammenfassung

Der Rückgang empfindlicher Arten in landwirtschaftlich genutzten Fließgewässern wird hauptsächlich auf die Verunreinigung durch Pestizide zurückgeführt, selbst wenn diese unterhalb der zulässigen Konzentrationen liegt. Eine sehr geringe toxische Belastung kann daher ökologische und evolutionäre Prozesse bestimmen, die für den derzeitigen Verlust der biologischen Vielfalt verantwortlich sind und zu Anpassungen auf Gemeinschafts- und individueller Ebene führen. Um die derzeitige Risikobewertung zu verbessern, zielt diese Dissertation darauf ab, Faktoren zu analysieren, die die Reaktion von Organismen auf Chemikalien im Feld beeinflussen können.

Um die Auswirkungen einer langfristigen Exposition gegenüber niedrigen Pestizidkonzentrationen in natürlichen Populationen zu analysieren, wurde eine Felduntersuchung durchgeführt **(Kapitel 2)**. Wir stellten fest, dass Populationen aus kontaminierten Bächen eine bis zu 2,5-fach höhere Toleranz gegenüber Clothianidin aufwiesen. Die Populationen, die eine erhöhte Insektizidtoleranz aufwiesen, waren jedoch durch eine geringere Überlebensrate, ein geringeres Pro-Kopf-Wachstum und eine geringere Paarungsbereitschaft gekennzeichnet, wenn sie unter pestizidfreien Bedingungen gezüchtet wurden.

Da unter den Szenarien des globalen Wandels Mehrfachstressbedingungen häufiger auftreten könnten, könnte die Anpassung an einen Stressor die Reaktion auf einen anderen Stressor beeinflussen **(Kapitel 3)**. Wir haben festgestellt, dass landwirtschaftliche Populationen im Vergleich zu Referenzpopulationen im Durchschnitt eine 2-fach höhere Toleranz gegenüber dem Insektizid Clothianidin aufweisen. Nach einer experimentellen Vorexposition bei sehr niedrigen Konzentrationen (LC50/1000) zeigten nur die Referenzpopulationen eine erhöhte Pestizidtoleranz. Bei Mehrfachbelastung mit Pestiziden und erhöhter Temperatur zeigten sowohl die Referenzpopulationen als auch die landwirtschaftlichen Populationen eine ähnliche Toleranz gegenüber der kombinierten Belastung durch Pestizide und Erwärmung, was auf stärkere Synergieeffekte bei den angepassten Populationen zurückzuführen ist. Die landwirtschaftlichen Populationen reagierten jedoch empfindlicher auf die erhöhte Temperatur allein, was auf die angenommenen Fitnesskosten der genetischen Anpassung an Pestizide zurückzuführen ist, wodurch die Anpassung an Pestizide ihren Vorteil verliert.

Obwohl die Pestizidtoleranz das Überleben toleranter Arten in kontaminierten Fließgewässern ermöglicht, kann die langfristige Exposition gegenüber Pestiziden ihre genetische Struktur verändern (Kapitel 4). Bei G. pulex aus 38 kleinen Bächen zeigte sich, dass die Pestizidbelastung die Pestizidtoleranz erhöht, die genetische Vielfalt verringert, zu einer angepassten genetischen Zusammensetzung führt und die individuelle Fitness in lokal angepassten Populationen beeinträchtigt. Insbesondere wurde mit zunehmender Pestizidbelastung eine Zunahme der Häufigkeit von Allelen mit hoher Kontamination" und eine Abnahme der Allele mit geringer Kontamination" beobachtet. Darüber hinaus nahm das individuelle Pro-Kopf-Wachstum mit zunehmenden Abstrichen bei der genetischen Anpassung ab. Dennoch trug G. pulex durchschnittlich 44 % zur Makroinvertebratenabundanz bei und profitierte von der geringeren interspezifischen Konkurrenz mit anfälligen Arten in kontaminierten Bächen.

In Anbetracht des Szenarios des globalen Wandels und des anhaltenden Stresses, der zu einer Anpassung führt, stellt sich die Frage: Wie lassen sich die kombinierten Auswirkungen dieser scheinbar widersprüchlichen Prozesse vorhersagen (Kapitel 5)? Wir zeigen, dass pestizidadaptierte G. pulex aus landwirtschaftlich genutzten Bächen toleranter gegenüber Pestiziden (Clothianidin, Prochloraz) sind als nicht adaptierte Populationen. Die gemeinsame Exposition gegenüber Pestiziden und führte Temperaturstress jedoch zu akuten synergistischen Wechselwirkungen, und die kombinierten Effekte waren bei angepassten Populationen stärker. Wir stellen die Hypothese auf, dass die Anpassung an die Pestizide die allgemeine Stresskapazität der Individuen verringert und der Ausgleichsprozess die Empfindlichkeit gegenüber dem kombinierten Stress erhöht. Der allgemeine Stress, der von den einzelnen Faktoren ausgeht, wurde mit dem Stress-Additions-Modell (SAM) quantifiziert. Diese Studien haben gezeigt, dass die Verschmutzung durch Pestizide eine Anpassung von der suborganismischen bis zur gemeinschaftlichen Ebene auslöst. Die Entschlüsselung dieser Prozesse erklärt die Auswirkungen von den Genen bis zur Ökosystemebene.

# Contents

Abstract	4
Zusammenfassung	6
List of Figures	.14
List of Tables	.22
List of Abbreviations	.23
1.1 Pesticide use	.25
1.2 Fate and transport of pesticides	.26
1.3 Monitoring of pesticides	.29
1.4 Biological monitoring and effects of pesticides	.30
1.5 Mechanisms of Tolerance development	.32
1.6 Impact of contaminants on genetic diversity	.33
1.7 Fitness costs of adaptation	.35
1.8 Toxicant mixtures	.36
1.9 Environmental stressors	.38
1.10 Objectives and outline	.40
<ol> <li>Increased pesticide tolerance and impaired performance in <i>G. pulex</i></li> <li>Abstract</li> </ol>	.42 .42
2.2 Introduction	.43
2.3 Materials and Methods	.45
2.3.1 Study design	.45
2.3.2 Study sites	.45
2.3.3 Sampling of macroinvertebrates and test organisms	.46
2.3.4 Quantification of pesticide exposure	.46
2.3.5 Effects of pesticide exposure on macroinvertebrates	.47
2.3.6 Acute toxicity tests for pesticide tolerance	.48
2.3.7 Culture of <i>G. pulex</i>	.49

2.3.8 Data analysis
2.4 Results
2.4.1 Pesticide contamination and community structure
2.4.2 Increased tolerance to clothianidin in <i>G. pulex</i>
2.4.3 Consequences of increased tolerance in <i>G. pulex</i>
2.5 Discussion
2.5.1 Quantification of pesticide effects on macroinvetebrates54
2.5.2 Adaptation to pesticides and consequences on the fitness 54
2.6 Conclusions
2.7 Acknowledgments
2.8 Funding
2.9 Conflict of interest statement
<ol> <li>Multi-stress reduces the advantage of pesticide adaptation</li></ol>
3.2 Introduction
3.3 Methods
3.3.1 Description of study sites
3.3.2 Collection of macroinvertebrates and test organisms61
3.3.3 Quantification of pesticide contamination
3.3.4 Selection of insecticide and temperature
3.3.5 Acute sensitivity tests
3.3.6 Insecticide Testing
3.3.7 Data analysis
3.4 Results
3.4.1 Pesticide contamination and the ecological effects
3.4.2 Differential tolerance
3.4.3 Fitness costs of pesticide tolerance
3.4.4 Clothianidin tolerance under multi-stress
3.4.5 Clothianidin tolerance under multi-stress

	3.4.6	Prediction of combined effect of clothianidin and temp	.70
3.5	5 Dis	cussion	.72
	3.5.1	Effects of pesticides on macroinvertebrates.	.72
	3.5.2	Adaptation to pesticides and multi-stress.	.72
3.6	6 Cor	nclusions	.73
3.7	7 Ack	nowledgments	.74
3.8	3 Aut	hor contributions	.74
3.9	O Cor	npeting interests	.74
4. Pesti 4.1	icide s l Abs	selection reduces genetic diversity	.75 75
4.2	2 Intr	oduction	.76
4.3	3 Mat	terials and Methods	.78
	4.3.1	Study sites and sample collection	.78
	4.3.2	Quantification of pesticide contamination	.79
	4.3.3	Selection of Insecticide and Acute Toxicity Tests	.80
	4.3.4	Population genetic diversity assessment	.81
	4.3.5	DNA extraction and AFLP assay	.81
	4.3.6	Genetic analysis	.82
	4.3.7	Populations' per capita growth assessment	.83
	4.3.8	Macroinvertebrate abundance and population size	.84
	4.3.9	Data analysis	.84
4.4	4 Res	ults	.85
	4.4.1	Pesticide Exposure, macroinvertebrates and adaptation	.85
	4.4.2	Genetic diversity and genetic structure of G. pulex	.86
	4.4.3	Genetic diversity and adaptation of G. pulex	.87
	4.4.4	Contamination specific alleles in G. pulex	.89
	4.4.5	Fitness trade-offs in genetically adapted populations	.90
	4.4.6	Distance to refuge and genetic composition of G. pulex	.91
	4.4.7	Inbreeding in <i>G. pulex</i> and relation to vulnerable	.91

4.5 Discussion
4.6 Acknowledgements96
4.7 Authors contributions
4.8 Competing interests
5. Predicting the combined effects of multiple stressors
5.1 Abstract
5.2 Introduction
5.3 Materials and Methods101
5.3.1 Test organisms and characterization of pesticides101
5.3.2 Calculation of toxicant exposure102
5.3.3 Characterizing the ecological effects of pesticides102
5.3.4 Exposure to pesticide mixture and temperature stress103
5.3.5 Data analyses and prediction of combined effects104
5.4 Results106
5.4.1 Pesticide exposure and ecological effects
5.4.2 Interaction between clothianidin and prochloraz109
5.4.3 Interaction between multiple stress
5.4.4 Prediction of Multi-stress Effects111
5.5 Discussion
5.6 Conclusions114
5.7 Author Contributions115
5.8 Acknowledgements115
<ul><li>6. Discussion and outlook</li></ul>
6.2 Pesticide adaptation under multiple stress
6.3 Pesticide adaptation and reduced genetic diversity120
6.4 Pesticide adaptation under mixture and multiple stress
6.5 Implications and outlook
6.5.1 Adaptation to pesticides and compromised fitness

67

## **List of Figures**

- **2.3** Effect of pesticide tolerance (60h EC<sub>75</sub> of the insecticide clothianidin) on (a) survival, (b) per capita growth, and (c) reproduction (proportion of mating adults) of *G. pulex* populations. The grey area corresponds to 95% confidence interval.
- 3.1 of  $(TU_{max})$ Correlation toxic pressure with (a) macroinvertebrate community composition expressed as SPEAR<sub>pesticides</sub> and (b) pesticide tolerance in G. pulex (quantified as EC<sub>50</sub> of the insecticide clothianidin after 48 h constant exposure, log-transformed) collected in spring and Means  $\pm 95\%$ confidence intervals are autumn. shown.....
- 3.3 Comparison of the percent mortality of *G. pulex* collected from agricultural and reference streams after 48 h exposure to the neonicotinoid insecticide clothianidin in the laboratory at 16°C, 20°C and 24°C using one-way ANOVA. The grey dots represent data points.

71

- **3.4** Comparison of the median effective concentrations (EC<sub>50</sub>) of *G. pulex* collected from agricultural and reference streams after 48 h exposure to the neonicotinoid insecticide clothianidin in the laboratory at 16°C, 20°C and 24°C. The effect of temperature on the clothianidin tolerance of field-exposed populations is shown in (a), whereas the effect of temperature on increased clothianidin after pre-exposure is shown in (b). Grey dots represent data points.....
- 3.5 Comparison of the prediction and synergistic effects of clothianidin and temperature are presented in (a) CA-based MDR (model deviation ratio) values without pre-exposure and (b) after pre-exposure, and (c) SA-based MDR values without pre-exposure and (d) after pre-exposure. The grey dots represent data points. The grey background represents MDR > 2 and hence synergistic interaction between clothianidin and temperature in relation to CA as a null model. The blue line shows MDR of 1 representing an optimal fit between observation and prediction.
- 4.1 Effect of pesticide exposure. Relationship between site pesticide contamination  $(TU_{max})$ specific and (a) macroinvertebrate community structure quantified as SPEAR<sub>pesticides</sub> and (b) pesticide tolerance of G. pulex (quantified as EC<sub>50</sub> of the insecticide clothianidin after 48h constant exposure, log-transformed). Means  $\pm$ 95% confidence intervals are shown..... 86
- 4.2 Pesticide exposure, genetic diversity and adaptation of G. pulex. Relationship between site specific pesticide contamination (TU<sub>max</sub>) and within population genetic diversity in G. pulex (a). Total pesticide contamination: The green box represents populations with field exposure from  $TU_{max}$  –6 to –4.1, the yellow box represents populations from  $TU_{max}$  –4 to –2.1, and the green box represent populations from  $TU_{max}$  –2 to 0. Asterisks show significant differences between the groups. (b) Clothianidin tolerance ( $\log EC_{50}$ ) and within population genetic diversity in G. pulex populations. Grey area represents  $\pm$  95% confidence interval and dots represent data points.....
- **4.3** Relationship between site specific pesticide contamination  $(TU_{max})$  and (a) average allele frequency of "low contamination alleles" in *G. pulex* populations based on alleles
- 15

significantly higher in streams with low toxic pressure (TU<sub>max</sub> range from -6 to -4), (b) average allele frequency of "high contamination alleles" in G. pulex populations based on alleles significantly higher in streams with high toxic pressure (TU<sub>max</sub> range from -2 to -0). The green box represents populations with field exposure from  $TU_{max}$  -6 to -4.1, the yellow box represents populations with field exposure from  $TU_{max}$  –4 to – 2.1, and the red box represents populations with field exposure from TU<sub>max</sub> -2 to 0. Grey area represents  $\pm$  95% confidence interval and dots represent data points.....

- 4.4 Fitness costs of exposure to pesticides in G. pulex. (a) Relationship between site specific pesticide contamination (TU<sub>max</sub>) and per capita growth of gammarid populations cultured under non-contaminated conditions (average per capita growth in cultures from month 2 to 4), (b) Linear regression between genetic diversity and average per capita growth of gammarid populations cultured under noncontaminated conditions. Grey area represents  $\pm$  95 % confidence interval and dots represent data points..... 90
- 4.5 The effect of nearby refuge areas. Relationship between distance to refuge and (a) Clothianidin tolerance (48h  $EC_{50}$ ) in G. pulex, (b) Within population genetic diversity and (c) Frequency of low contamination alleles in the studied populations of G. pulex. Grey area represents  $\pm$  95% confidence interval and dots represent data points..... 91
- 4.6 Abundance of G. pulex. Relationship between Abundance of G. pulex and (a) SPEAR<sub>Pesticides</sub>, and (b) Percentage of vulnerable species. Grey area represents  $\pm$  95% confidence interval and dots represent data points..... 92
- 5.1 Effects of pesticide contamination on macroinvertebrate community structure: Local pesticide contamination changes the macroinvertebrate community structure (linear regression, adjusted  $R^2 = 0.83$ , F = 54.06, residual d.f. = 11, p < 0.001). Shaded areas represent 95% confidence intervals..... 107
- 5.2 Clothianidin tolerance (EC<sub>50</sub>) of G. pulex collected from control (green) and agricultural streams (red) after exposure (48-h) to clothianidin in combination with prochloraz under different temperature regimes (16, 19, and 22°C). The lower 108 and upper boundaries of the box represent 25th and 75th

percentile, the horizontal line denotes the median, and the whiskers correspond to the lowest and highest values. Dashed lines represent fitted regressions with confidence intervals displayed by shaded areas. The significance level is displayed as "\*" for p < 0.05, "\*\*" for p < 0.01, and "\*\*\*" for p < 0.001...

- 5.3 Relationship between total general stress and strength of synergistic effects: Combined stress of multiple stressors including prochloraz, sub-optimal temperature and fitness cost of pesticide adaptation significantly increased the clothianidin sensitivity expressed by acute synergism (linear regression, adjusted  $R^2 = 0.64$ , F = 56.76, residual d.f. = 30, p < 0.001). Shaded areas represent 95% confidence intervals....... 112
- B.2 Comparison of the median effective concentrations (EC<sub>50</sub>) after 48 h exposure to the neonicotinoid insecticide clothianidin before and after pre-exposure of *G. pulex* collected from agricultural and reference streams in the laboratory at 16°C, 20°C and 24°C. The effect of temperature on the clothianidin tolerance of forest populations is shown in (a) whereas the effect of temperature on increased clothianidin of agricultural populations is shown in (b). Grey dots represent data points.
- C.1 Location of the sampling sites that cover a range of noncontaminated to moderately contaminated streams in central Germany. Square shapes represents the sampling sites and are coloured according to the  $TU_{max}$  values ranging from -6 (low pesticide pollution; green) to 0 (high pesticide pollution; red)... 138

- **C.2** Correlation plot representing correlations for different field factors determining pesticide tolerance in G. pulex. Genetic diversity represents within population genetic diversity, area covered with forest represents forest areas around the streams, SPEAR taxa represents proportion of sensitive species calculated by SPEAR<sub>pesticide</sub>, total nitrogen represents sum of NO2, NO3, and NH4 in mg/L, total phosphorus represents PO4 in mg/L, pesticide contamination represents highest pesticide concentrations measured at each stream represent as TU<sub>max</sub> and background contamination represents pesticide concentrations measured with grab samples. Values in the boxes represent correlation power, negative values represent negative correlations, positive values represent positive correlation. White boxes represent insignificant correlations (p-value > 0.05).....
- C.3 Non-metric multi-dimentional scaling (NMDS). Twodimensional ordination of populations of *G. pulex* collected from different sites in 2018, 2019 Spring and 2019 Autumn from non-metric multi-dimensional scaling (MDS) applied to a Bray-Curtis similarity matrix with 95% eclipse. Each symbol represents one individual.....

- C.6 Correlation plot representing correlations for different field factors affecting the genetic diversity of *G. pulex.* pH mean represents mean of pH measured continuously from April to July, pesticide contamination represents highest pesticide concentrations measured at each stream represent as TU<sub>max</sub>, area covered with agriculture represents agricultural areas with pesticides around the streams, metal contamination represents

maximum toxicity caused by metals represent as  $TU_{max}$ , total nitrogen represents sum of NO2, NO3, and NH4 in mg/L, total phosphorus represents PO4 in mg/L, abundance of gammarids represent a count of *G. pulex* sampled from each stream alng with other macroinvertebrates, Genetic diversity represents within population genetic diversity, area covered with forest represents forest areas around the streams, SPEAR taxa represents proportion of sensitive species calculated by SPEAR<sub>pesticide</sub>, EPT species represent percentage of EPT species at each sites and total insect taxa represents total taxa found at each stream. Values in the boxes represent correlation power, negative values represent negative correlations, positive values represent positive correlation. White boxes represent insignificant correlations (*p-value* > 0.05).....

<b>C.7</b>	Relationship between local pesticide contamination (TU <sub>max</sub> )		
	and ratio of high to low contamination alleles. Grey area		
	represents $\pm$ 95% confidence interval and dots represent data		
	points	144	

- **D.1** Location of the sampling sites in central Germany that cover a wide range from non-contaminated to highly contaminated 154

streams. Square shapes represent sampling sites and are coloured according to the SPEAR<sub>pesticide</sub> values ranging from good (green) to bad ecological status (red) .....

- - 155

- **D.5** Survival of *G. pulex* exposed to a neonicotinoid insecticide clothianidin and an azole fungicide prochloraz at 19°C. Doseresponse relationships are displayed for reference (A-C) and agricultural (D-F) populations without additional stress at 16°C (blue points, solid line) and in combination with different prochloraz concentrations (A, D;  $0\mu g/L$ , B, E;  $1\mu g/L$  and C, F;  $10\mu g/L$ ) and elevated temperature (19°C) as additional stressors (red points, solid line). Data points represent the average survival of the populations from the respective group. The red dashed line represents the modelled concentration-response relationship under additional stress using the Stress Addition Model (SAM); whereas, violet and cyan dashed lines represent the EA and CA models respectively .....

# **List of Tables**

2.1	Pesticide exposure and physico-chemical properties of the study sites	46
3.1	Experimental observations and predictions of <i>G. pulex</i> from agricultural and reference streams exposed to clothianidin at 20°C and 24°C with and without pre-exposure	71
5.1	Prediction of joint effects of neonicotinoid clothianidin alone and in combination with a fungicide prochloraz under different temperature regimes	110
A.1	Survival and long-term traits of <i>G. pulex</i>	121
<b>B.</b> 1	Pesticide exposure and EC <sub>50</sub> of the study sites	131
<b>B.2</b>	Percentage mortality in pesticide-free controls	136
<b>C.1</b>	Physico-chemical parameters of the streams	148
C.2	Sequences of primers and adaptors used in the AFLP procedures	149
C.3	Populations genetic statistics based on 451 AFLP loci	150
C.4	Pairwise geographic distance and genetic dissimilarity computed by SIMPER based on bray-curtis similarity index	151
C.5	Pairwise genetic differentiation and significance	152
D.1	Information of the investigated streams including physicochemical parameters such as water temperature (°C), water level (cm), dissolved oxygen (DO) and pH, water toxicity in terms of $TU_{max}$ values, and the composition of the macroinvertebrate community structure expressed as SPEAR <sub>pesticides</sub>	154
		104

# List of Abbreviations

ADaM Artificial Daphnia medium	
AFLP Amplified fragment length poly	ymorphism
AMOVA Analysis of molecular variance	•
ANOSIM Analysis of similarity	
ANOVA Analysis of variance	
AOP Adverse outcome pathways	
CA Concentration Addition	
C <sub>ew</sub> Equilibrium water concentratio	ons
C <sub>w,eq</sub> Estimated equilibrium water co	oncentrations
DMSO Dimethyl sulfoxide	
DNA Deoxyribonucleic acid	
dNTPs Deoxynucleicacidtriphosphate	
DO Dissolved oxygen	
EA Effect Addition	
EU European Union	
EC Electrical conductivity	
ECx Effective concentration	
EDSs Event-driven water samplers	
EFSA The European food safety authors	ority
Fst Genetic differentiation	
Fis Inbreeding Coefficient	
FA Fragment analysis	
GCA Generalized concentration addi	ition model
He Expected heterzygosity	
I4A Inbreeding for AFLP	
KOC Soil organic carbon-water parti	ition coefficient
KgM Klein gewasser monitoring	
LC Lethal concentration	
LC-HRMS Liquid chromatography-high-r	resolution mass spectrometry
LME Linear mixed-effects	
LOEC Lowest observed-effect concern	itration
LSER Linear solvation energy relation	nship
MDR Model deviation ratio	
MOA Mode of action	
N <sub>a</sub> Number of alleles per locus	
nAChRs Nicotinic acetylcholine recepto	ors
NOEC No observed-effect concentrati	on

nP	Private alleles
OECD	Organisation of economic cooperation and development
OMPs	Organic micro pollutants
PCR	Polymerase chain reaction
PICT	Pollution induced community tolerance
PLP	Polymorphic loci
POCIS	Polar organic chemical integrative samplers
PPDB	Pesticide properties database
PPPs	Plant protection products
RAC	Regulatory acceptable concentration
SAM	Stress addition model
SIMPER	Similarity percentage analysis
SPEAR	Species at risk
SPMD	Semipermeable membrane devices
TCDD	2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzo-p-dioxin
TU	Toxic Unit
$TU_{max}$	Toxic unit value representing maximum toxicity
$TU_{sum}$	Toxic unit value representing the sum toxicity of chemicals
uHe	Unbiased expected heterozygosity
UVR	Ultraviolet radiation
WWTP	Waste water treatment plant

# Introduction

### 1.1 Pesticide use

During the past few decades, pesticides are widely applied to increase the global crop yield (Zhang et al., 2011). Pesticides are frequently cast-off in agriculture in order to ovoid crop devastation from plant diseases. Historically, pesticides production can be separated into three stages: (1) in the first stage (before 1870s) natural pesticides such as sulfur were used to control pests, (2) in the second stage (1870s-1945), inorganic synthetic pesticides such as natural materials and inorganic mixtures were mostly used; (3) in the third stage (since 1945) organic synthetic pesticides became common. Since 1945, the man-made organic pesticides, for example DDT, 2,4-D, and later HCH, dieldrin, have taken over the era of inorganic and natural pesticides. In the former period of organic manufactured pesticides, there were primarily three classes of insecticides, carbamated-, organophosphorus-, and organochlorined- insecticides. Soon after that herbicides and fungicides attained a substantial expansion as well. The revolution in the field of pesticides occurred in 1940s when the chemical industry started manufacturing synthetic compounds to control insects (insecticides), animal pests (rodenticides), unwanted weeds (herbicides), and fungal diseases (fungicides) (Casida and Quistad, 1998). In the modern agriculture, a varied range of plant protection products (PPPs) have been applied regularly. However, the distribution of pesticide application throughout the world is rather uneven (Pimentel, 1996). On the basis of total pesticide consumption, Asia uses the most (53.2%) followed by America (29.4%) and Europe (14%).

About 51.1% land in Germany is cultivated with crops or grass for meadows. In agriculture, farming approaches are central for the environment protection. Although the Federal Government is trying to rise the share of organic farming up to 20%, so far it covers only 10.8% of total cultivated land. The conventional farming is major form of agriculture and consumes a lot of active ingredients. For the last 20 years, the demand of pesticides has been dramatically increasing. Germany is among the top five countries in Europe that is using enormous quantities of pesticides. Germany, Italy, France, and Spain together share over 50% of the total European pesticide sales. In 2014, pesticide sales in Germany accounted for approximately 12% of all sales in the European Union (EU, 2016).

#### **1.2** Fate and transport of pesticides

Pesticides are available in several forms (e.g., liquid, solid and gaseous), and can be applied through numerous methods (spraying, with water or incorporated in soil) (Miller, 2002). The application time and pesticides selection are directly associated with crop type, crop stage, application method, intended target, chemical formulation of the product and weather conditions (Leonard, 1988). After pesticide application, distribution and fate of pesticides also depends on factors such as application method, physicochemical characteristics of compound (e.g., persistence, water solubility, sorption affinity), soil properties and climatic conditions (reviewed by (Alletto et al., 2011)). Pesticides in the environment are subjected to various biotic (microbial degradation) and abiotic (chemical degradation in soil, sorption, photo-degradation, hydrolysis) dispersal mechanisms. Additionally, major pathways for the loss of pesticides to the environment include aerial drift, volatilization, runoff to surface water, and leaching into the groundwater. Application method is not only vital for the pesticide's efficiency (Van Timmeren et al., 2011) but it also affect the fate of pesticides as potential water pollution (Davis et al., 1996). For example, in case of soil incorporated pesticides, loss occurs largely through microbial transformation rather than volatilization and surface runoff. In contrast, for pesticides sprayed directly on crops or bare soils, volatilization and runoff events primarily contribute to the pesticide loss (Davis et al., 1996; Kronvang et al., 2004). Similarly, chemical properties of pesticides also impact their reactivities (Chaplain et al., 2011). For example, highly soluble compounds may leach out through soil to groundwater, and/or to be lost via surface runoff during extreme rainfall events. In contrast, volatile pesticides can simply evaporate in the atmosphere. Sorption is another key process that governs the distribution, fate, and ecological effects of the toxicants in the environment. Some pesticides can be sorbed strongly to the soil organic matter (Bondarenko and Gan, 2004; Kookana et al., 2014), and do not leach out easily. In this respect, pesticides degradation may take few minutes to several years. In the natural environment, pesticide degradation includes biogeochemical cycles.

Plant protection products enter into surface waters via point and non-point sources. The point source pathways consist of farmyard runoff, wastewater treatment plant effluents, and spillage where non-point pesticide contribution comes from air-borne and water-driven transport processes. After entering into a water bodies, behavior and fate of a pesticide is determined by its chemical properties (e.g., solubility and persistence) and the characteristics of the streams (e.g., current velocity, concentration of suspended particles, and constituents). Though freshwater covers only 0.8% of the Earth's surface, it supports a rich biological diversity. According to an estimate, about 100,000 of 1.8 million species inhabit freshwater ecosystem which is approx. 6% of the total biodiversity (Dudgeon et al., 2006). Rivers and streams are common freshwater sources that offer habitats for aquatic organisms. Most of the aquatic species are extremely important and provide numerous invaluable ecosystem services such as leaf litter degradation, water purification, food provision and climate regulation (Covich et al., 1999; Gamfeldt et al., 2008; Graça, 2001; Wallace and Webster, 1996). However, the stream ecosystems are highly impacted by numerous toxicants such as organometallic compounds, pesticides, pharmaceuticals, detergents, personal care products, biocides, industrial chemicals, halogenated organic compounds and other organic micropollutants (OMPs) (Schwarzenbach et al., 2006). In agricultural areas, pesticide contamination is a well-known stressor that induce detrimental effects on aquatic macroinvertebrates (Schäfer et al., 2007). For instance, (Ippolito et al., 2015) modeled the runoff potential of pesticides worldwide and concluded that the freshwater systems within 40% of the global land surface area are likely to be ecologically affected by the insecticide exposure.

Pesticide exposure substantially affects the community composition of freshwater macroinvertebrates (Beketov et al., 2013; Liess et al., 2021b; Shahid et al., 2018). For instance, (Schäfer et al., 2007) investigated 29 streams in Finland and France, and reported a significant decline in sensitive species. Similarly, (Orlinskiy et al., 2015) observed significant reduction in sensitive species even at very low pesticide concentrations (TU<sub>max</sub>  $\leq$ -3). Another study of (Beketov et al., 2013) revealed that the pesticide pollution in agricultural streams poses significant effects on species- and family richness in Australia and Europe, with up to 42% loss of the macroinvertebrate taxa. Recently, a nationwide monitoring comprised of more than 100 streams in Germany revealed altered community structure of macroinvertebrates even at regulatory compliant concentrations of pesticides (Liess et al., 2021b). In agricultural landscapes, pesticides are mainly responsible for the decline in invertebrate populations (Liess et al., 2021b; Stoate et al., 2001). Furthermore, the structural alterations of macroinvertebrate communities can compromise related ecosystem functions (Münze et al., 2015; Peters et al., 2013; Schäfer et al., 2012). In aquatic ecosystems, leaf litter breakdown and primary production are considered as a major source of energy for the freshwater food web. Recently, (Peters et al., 2013) reviewed available literature regarding the effects of pesticide on freshwater ecosystem structure and functioning. The meta-analysis revealed potential adverse effects even below the regulatory acceptable concentrations. Numerous field and laboratory investigations have

reported pesticide induced effects on leaf litter degradation, primary production and community respiration (Abelho and Graça, 2000; Widenfalk et al., 2004; Wilson et al., 2004).

## **1.3 Monitoring of pesticides**

Field monitoring of pesticide exposure is particularly important in scientific understanding of environmental fate of pesticides. In agricultural landscapes, pesticides may enter the aquatic ecosystems through runoff in the form of pulses, and cause short term contamination (Liess et al., 1999; Russo et al., 2018). Therefore, linking observed effects of pesticides on aquatic invertebrates is not possible without adequate monitoring of pesticide peak concentrations (Friberg et al., 2003). Contamination load in agricultural streams mainly depends on the pesticide quantity applied in the field, timing and rainfall intensity, octanol-water partition coefficient (K<sub>ow</sub>) (Neumann et al., 2002; Schulz, 2004) and the soil hydrology (Doppler et al., 2012; Leu et al., 2004). Further, partitioning of pesticides between water, sediments and atmosphere depends on their volatility and hydrophobicity. In aquatic ecosystems, contaminants may dissolve or bound to particulate organic matter, undergo further redistribution processes and change the exposure of the aquatic organisms accordingly.

For water quality monitoring, numerous sampling techniques have been employed. The conventional methods of water monitoring generally rely on grab water sampling at fixed time intervals. However, this strategy seems inappropriate to capture spontaneous and periodic fluctuations i.e. following pesticide application or after major rainfall events (Guo et al., 2004; Liess et al., 1999; Schulz, 2004), and therefore are known to underestimate the pesticide concentrations (Stehle et al., 2013; Xing et al., 2013). In comparison, event-driven sampling is a reliable technique to capture peak concentrations after rainfall events, and has commonly been applied for collecting water samples from streams (Beketov et al., 2013; Liess et al., 2021b; Shahid et al., 2018).

Passive sampling enables continuous monitoring of water contamination and represents an effective alternative to grab sampling. These simplified and miniaturized sampling techniques do not require any energy supply for the entire setup. Passive samplers are specifically designed for selected target compounds according to the type of monitoring (Greenwood et al., 2007). In the last decade, various passive samplers have successfully been employed for the monitoring of different contaminants in freshwater systems (Münze et al., 2015; Vrana et al., 2005).

### **1.4 Biological monitoring and effects of pesticides**

Ecological knowledge of streams provides an integrated picture of ecosystem health. Evaluating the quality status of waterbodies using biological information of the local biota in surface water is known as biological monitoring (Barbour et al., 1999). Biological monitoring approaches are principally based on the biological responses of aquatic communities to undesired natural or anthropogenic changes in water quality (Bonada et al., 2006) (Karr and Chu, 1998). Biological monitoring is one of the most appropriate approaches for the characterization of stream health (Karr, 1999), and can be performed at numerous levels (Allan et al., 2006). Indeed, assemblages of different aquatic populations are quite useful in biological assessment; stream macroinvertebrates are commonly used because of their abundance, easy sampling and identification, and quick response to a broad range of contaminants. Moreover, benthic macroinvertebrates are less mobile, and have aquatic life-cycle stages long enough to provide clear and localized picture of biological responses (Barbour et al., 1999). They have been employed for the biological monitoring of a wide array of stressors including pesticides (Malaj et al., 2014; Shahid et al., 2018), hydro morphological degradation (Lorenz et al., 2004; Nõges et al., 2016), acidification (Dangles and Guérold, 1999), habitat destruction (Von der Ohe and Goedkoop, 2013), salinity (Schäfer et al., 2012; Szocs et al., 2012) and eutrophication (Hering et al., 2006).

For biomonitoring of pesticide contamination in running waters, (Liess and von der Ohe, 2005) developed a trait-based approach SPEARpesticides (SPEcies At Risk). SPEAR index is based on four ecological traits: (1) sensitivity to toxicants; (2) generation time; (3) potential of pesticide exposure; and (4) recolonization ability. Generally, the SPEAR index

categorizes the aquatic taxa into sensitive- and tolerant species. SPEAR quantifies the proportion of sensitive macroinvertebrates to a total number of macroinvertebrates (Eq. 1.1).

$$SPEAR_{pesticides} = \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{n} \log(x_i+1)y}{\sum_{i=1}^{n} \log(x_i+1)} \times 100$$
(1.1)

where n is the total number of taxa; xi is the richness of taxon i, and y is 1 if taxon i is at risk, otherwise 0.

Biodiversity decline due to anthropogenic stressors in the last five decades is a record in human history (Assessment, 2005). In spite of general concern and numerous international initiatives (AREAS, 2003; Outlook, 2010), the present rate of biodiversity decline seems to be accelerating instead of reducing (Butchart et al., 2010; Walpole et al., 2009). The upcoming costs of this crisis may be dramatic, as the latest studies revealed the chances of planetary scale ecosystem shift to an unknown and irreversible state (Barnosky et al., 2012). Pesticide contamination is considered one of the key drivers for the worldwide decline in the richness and diversity of insects, plants and birds (Beketov et al., 2013). There is mounting evidence that the pesticide-driven impairment of biogenesis also disturbs ecosystem services extending from pollination (Rundlöf et al., 2015) to leaf-litter degradation (Schäfer et al., 2011) and to the biological control of agricultural pests (Roubos et al., 2014; Talebi et al., 2008) and of pathogens in freshwater.

On the other hand, pesticide pollution may lead to a community shifted towards a more tolerant community when stressors exert a selection pressure as formulated in the PICT (pollution induced community tolerance) concept, (Backhaus et al., 2004). However, induced tolerance is often associated with costs, as species shift may lead to the decline of diversity and functions of the biological community, and consequently result in impaired ecosystem functioning and stability (Rolf D. Vinebrooke, 2004; Schmitt-Jansen et al., 2008). Similarly, at the organism level, induced tolerance is associated with costs, since energy allocation into defense mechanisms requires trade-offs in other processes. Provided that organisms differ in their sensitivity and vulnerability to stressors, and that complex stressor interactions occur in networks, it is not surprising that exposure of organisms to multiple stressors frequently leads to unforeseen effects.

#### 1.5 Mechanisms of Tolerance development

Anthropogenic stressors are likely to cause major detrimental effects on aquatic organisms (Campos et al., 2016; Rodrigues et al., 2015). However, a substantial number of natural populations may still persist in highly contaminated areas by acquiring tolerance to stressors. Increased tolerance is mainly acquired through physiological acclimation and/or genetic adaptation to contaminants (Janssens et al., 2009; Medina et al., 2007; Ribeiro and Lopes, 2013). Physiological acclimation is an individual level reversible adaptive response where organisms acquire tolerance upon exposure to contaminants (Adeyemi and Klerks, 2013; Farwell et al., 2012). On the other hand, genetic adaptation involves variations at the genetic level, and development of tolerance at the population level by the selection of tolerant genotypes and/or removal of sensitive ones (Auld et al., 2010; Lopes et al., 2004; Ward and Robinson, 2005; Xie and Klerks, 2003).

Phenotypic plasticity serves a single genotype to show variable phenotypes in various environments, which allows adaptive traits to be induced within a single generation (Schlichting and Pigliucci, 1998). In a rapidly changing environmental conditions, the contribution of plasticity to the organismal adaptation has vital consequences for the expression of traits within and the evolution of populations. With increasing individuals anthropogenic activities, an important challenge is to consider the role of plasticity in shaping organism responses to disturbances. Upon occasional exposure, inducible traits are maintained as it facilitates the expression of adaptive phenotypes in response to variable environmental conditions (Weston et al., 2013). Physiological induction of tolerance has been observed after low insecticide exposure in mosquitoes and wood frogs from less-contaminated sites (Hua et al., 2013; Poupardin et al., 2008). In contrast, when populations experience long-term exposure over multiple generations, maternal effects result in increased tolerance, but a plastic response eventually becomes constitutively expressed, resulting in genetic adaptation. For instance, some populations of *Hyalella Azteca* have shown a 550-fold greater resistance to pyrethroids as compared to wild-type populations (Weston et al., 2013). Further investigation revealed that one of three different single amino acid substitutions in the voltage-gated sodium channel (VGSC) was responsible for resistance to pyrethroids, with different mutations in different populations. This shows that several independent selection events arose in the different populations (Major et al., 2018). Furthermore, two amino acid substitutions (L925I and L925V) were proved to be completely recessive in *H. azteca*, signifying that these mutations were rapidly fixed in the populations due to high pyrethroid exposure (Sever et al., 2020).

There are numerous other factors that may affect the tolerance development. For example, (Becker and Liess, 2017) reported that the species diversity hampers adaptation to pesticides in *Gammarus pulex*. Similarly, (Shahid et al., 2018) revealed the effect of local contamination level and distance from the recovery area on resistance development. Life stage at the time of exposure is another important factor that may affect the evolution of resistance (Becker and Liess, 2017; Becker et al., 2020).

### **1.6 Impact of contaminants on genetic diversity**

With wide-ranging farmland and application of pesticides, subsequent runoff into aquatic ecosystem has triggered evolutionary changes such as reduced genetic diversity throughout non-target invertebrate communities (Stuhlbacher and Maltby, 1992). When population-level processes of genetic adaptation to contaminants are not compensated by new genetic input, exposed populations may experience decreases in their levels of genetic diversity, the so-called contaminant-derived genetic erosion (Fasola et al., 2015; Ribeiro and Lopes, 2013; van Straalen and Timmermans, 2002). In this context, small and isolated populations are expected to be mainly susceptible to genetic erosion. As the probability of genetic drift and the increasing expression of recessive deleterious alleles is higher, populations may further loses genetic diversity and reproductive fitness, hence, increasing the risk of population extinction (Frankham, 2005; Reed and Frankham, 2003). Since the ability of natural populations to adapt to future environmental changes is directly associated with the amount of standing genetic diversity (Frankham, 2005, 2015), genetic erosion may affect the long-term survival of populations.

During recent years, investigations on genetic diversity have gained interest in evolutionary toxicology studies and neutral markers such as amplified fragment length polymorphisms (AFLP) or microsatellites (besides others) have been used to understand and predict long-term ecological impacts of contaminants (van Straalen and Timmermans, 2002). Neutral markers provides insight into the current status, dynamics and past selection pressures exerted on populations by investigating genetic variation in the non-coding region of DNA within and among populations (Hoffmann and Willi, 2008). Even though the suitability of neutral markers to assess the long-term consequences of contaminants has been established under laboratory settings (Athrey et al., 2007; Nowak et al., 2009), only a few studies have provided clear evidence of contaminant-driven genetic erosion under natural conditions (Maes et al., 2005; Paris et al., 2015). Laboratory studies showed that exposure to tributyltin decreased genetic diversity of Chironomus riparius populations within only few generations as a consequence of numerous life-history modifications including increased mortality and reduced fertility (Nowak et al., 2009). Likewise, laboratory populations of the killifish Heterandria formosa exposed to cadmium for eight generations exhibited 10-20% reduced genetic diversity as compared to control populations (Athrey et al., 2007). However, these laboratory indications contrasted with no reduction in genetic diversity in natural populations of the Daphnia longispina historically exposed to acid mine drainage (Martins et al., 2009), the killifish Fundulus heteroclitus populating highly contaminated urban harbors (McMillan et al., 2006) or the Sander vitreus inhabiting river sections polluted with endocrine active compounds (Miller et al., 2012). Investigating genetic diversity during and after contaminating events is difficult as the genetic diversity of natural field populations is highly dynamic and is affected by a multitude of interrelated biotic and abiotic components (Frankham, 2005; Moe et al., 2013). Patterns of genetic variation within and among natural populations are impacted by various historical and recent factors, like past and present selection processes, migration and chance events. Most field studies regarding the effects of contamination on genetic variation, however, do not consider those natural processes adequately (Bickham et al., 2000), and therefore, fail to distinguish between natural "background noise" and anthropogenic impacts.

Genetic responses at the population level comprises of increased mutation rates and changes in genome-wide genetic diversity and allelic or genotypic frequencies due to contaminant-mediated selective pressures and altered gene flow between populations (Bickham, 2011). Even though our knowledge of the genetic effects of pesticides on freshwater species populations is still in its infancy, empirical evidence indicates that these effects are capable of altering neutral genetic diversity and structure (Inostroza et al., 2016) and can drive adaptive genetic variation (Weston et al., 2013). This suggests that agrichemical contamination may be a major driver of evolutionary change in freshwater ecosystems.

### 1.7 Fitness costs of adaptation

The acquisition of pesticide resistance in non-target aquatic organisms is an evolving issue, with a growing number of studies recording tolerance in both wild and laboratory populations to both current use and old compounds (Jansen et al., 2011a; Weston et al., 2018). While the development of resistance to contaminant may superficially reveal the adaptive capacity of organisms to survive exposure to anthropogenic contaminants, it is crucial to consider potential fitness costs associated with the resistance development. For example, pyrethroid resistance in *H. Azteca* acquired via mutations on the vgsc that decrease sensitivity to pyrethroids could lead to reduction in general fitness, because of reduced efficacy of the *VGSC* and metabolic costs related to the alteration or due to "genetic hitchhiking" of less desirable traits linked to the mutations (van Straalen and Timmermans, 2002; Zhao et al., 2000) . Furthermore, fitness costs related to mutations causing resistance to xenobiotics are not a new concept. (Fisher, 1958) established a model of adaptation that discusses
how autonomous selection pressures outline current phenotypes through gene co-evolution. Because of the complex gene interdependence, mutations with large phenotypic effects are likely to induce deleterious effects. Another study demonstrated that pyrethroid-resistant *H. azteca* were more sensitive to thermal stress as compared to non-resistant animals suggesting that future climate scenarios may lead to increased sensitivity to temperature variations in resistant organisms and intensify the potential fitness costs associated with resistance (Heim et al., 2018). Pyrethroidresistant *H. azteca* may also be more susceptible to acute changes in salinity as compared to non-resistant individuals, though this could not be confirmed statistically (Heim et al., 2018). Alterations to thermal tolerance are known in other crustaceans raised under different salinity regimes, and can impact a wide range of processes including growth, acclimation rate, and survival (Kumlu et al., 2010).

# 1.8 Toxicant mixtures

In agricultural streams, organisms are often exposed to chemical mixtures. For instance, high loads of pesticide mixtures can be found in agricultural streams, especially after runoff events (Knillmann et al., 2018; Liess and von der Ohe, 2005). Therefore, the quantification of toxic effects is difficult and a key challenge for ecologists (Laetz et al., 2009). In general, pesticides can be classified on the basis of respective targets such as insecticides, fungicides and herbicides, chemical structure and modes of action (Casida, 2009). Organophosphates insecticides such as chlorpyrifos, temephos, malathion, dimethoate and diazinon contain phosphorus, and inhibit acetylcholinesterase (AChE) activity, an enzyme that hydrolyze the neurotransmitting agent acetylcholine (Carlock et al., 1999; Fukuto, 1990). Inhibition of AChE leads to acetylcholine buildup, that overstimulates neurological activity (Beauvais et al., 2000; Sismeiro-Vivas et al., 2007). Carbamates insecticides such as carbofuran and carbaryl also inhibit AChE activity (Fukuto, 1990). Pyrethroids insecticides such as esfenvalerate, deltamethrin and cypermethrin causes neurological damages, but the target site is Voltage-dependent sodium channels (Casida, 2009; Fukuto, 1990; Leahey, 1985). In contrast, neonicotinoids are systemic compounds, extensively applied for crop protection against pest insects (Nauen and Denholm, 2005), and are well known substitute of carbamate and organophosphate insecticides, registered in more than 120 countries (Morrissey et al., 2015). The neonicotinoid insecticides affect the nervous system; specifically act agonistically on nicotinic acetylcholine receptors (nAChRs) (Casida and Durkin, 2013; Jeschke et al., 2010), responsible for post-synaptic neurotransmission in both invertebrates and vertebrates (Millar and Denholm, 2007). Due to systemic nature and effectiveness, neonicotinoids are most commonly applied insecticides worldwide (Pisa et al., 2015; Simon-Delso et al., 2015a).

However, the local mass mortality of bees has been associated with the large-scale use of neonicotinoids. In 2013, the European Food and Safety Authority (EFSA) affirmed neonicotinoids to be an inadmissibly high risk to bees (EFSA, 2018). Furthermore, a decrease of a broad variety of insects in neonicotinoid usage areas could already be reported (Sanchez-Bayo and Wyckhuys, 2019). As a consequence, EU limited the use of the neonicotinoids Clothianidin, Imidacloprid, and Thiamethoxam in plant protection and seed treatment products. In 2018, these limitations were supported by extensive data collection, and outdoor uses of all three products were banned. Other neonicotinoids registered as active substances in the EU remain unrestricted and EFSA recently concluded that one of these, acetamiprid, poses a low risk to bees (Bass and Field, 2018).

Nevertheless, pesticide mixtures especially with different mode of actions may act synergistically. Regarding the relevance of synergistic toxicant mixtures in the field, the funnel hypothesis suggests that the deviation from additivity decreases with an increasing number of components in a mixture. While pesticide mixtures in the field may contain several toxicants including insecticides, fungicides and herbicides (Münze et al., 2017) and are rarely equitoxic. Thus, pronounced interactions might be even more likely to occur in real ecosystems when few toxicants dominate the overall toxicity (Cedergreen, 2014).

Traditional ecotoxicology determines the inherent toxicity of chemicals using single species tests and a limited set of apical end points (survival,

growth, reproduction). However, in reality, aquatic ecosystems are challenged with multiple stress factors. Current approaches to assess the risk of anthropogenic stressors to aquatic ecosystems are developed for single stressors and determine stressor effects primarily as a function of stressor properties. The cumulative impact of several stressors, however, may differ markedly from the impact of the single stressors and can result in non-linear effects and ecological surprises. To meet the challenge of diagnosing and predicting multiple stressor impacts, assessment strategies should focus on properties of the biological receptors rather than on stressor properties. This change of paradigm is required because (i) multiple stressors affect multiple biological targets at multiple organizational levels, (ii) biological receptors differ in their sensitivities, vulnerabilities, and response dynamics to the individual stressors, and (iii) biological receptors function as networks, so that actions of stressors at disparate sites within the network can lead via indirect or cascading effects, to unexpected outcomes.

Assessment of pesticide combination effects is usually based on models of concentration addition (CA, assuming a similar mode of action for the mixture components) or independent action (IA, assuming a dissimilar mode of action). The predictive power of these models to estimate mixture toxicity has been documented in several studies (Backhaus et al., 2004; Faust et al., 2001; Tang and Escher, 2014). In the last decade, additional toxicological approaches Stress Addition Model (SAM) (Liess et al., 2016a) have been developed. The SAM is an appropriate approach to quantitatively predict the synergistic effects of multiple stressor combinations like contaminants and environmental stressors. Up until now, SAM is the only approach that reflects for chemicals under different levels of environmental stress.

# **1.9** Environmental stressors

Ecotoxicological risk assessment of environmental chemicals is predominantly based on the results of laboratory studies where test organisms are exposed to a range of concentrations of single compounds.

This approach is useful for the generation of dose-response relationships and the derivation of toxicity data such as the concentration causing 50% impairment of a life history trait (e.g.  $LC_{50}$  or  $EC_{50}$ ). In such laboratory experiments the test organisms are almost always kept in optimal conditions (temperature, moisture, food etc.) to optimize performance in the control treatment and isolate the effects of the chemical in question. This is the advantage of traditional laboratory testing, and methods have been greatly improved and standardized during the last decades (see e.g. (Walker et al., 2005). However, in their natural settings organisms rarely experience optimal conditions. On the contrary for most of their lifespan, organisms are forced to cope with sub-optimal conditions with frequent exposure to severe environmental stress (Holmstrup et al., 2010). Generally, sub-optimal conditions can be attributed to the physical, chemical and biological stressors (Lydy et al., 2004). These added environmental stressors may or may not alter the effects of chemical contaminants in comparison to the optimal laboratory test performed in well-controlled conditions. (Dinh et al., 2016; Heugens et al., 2001; Pieters et al., 2005). For instance, environmental parameters such as pH, temperature, or ultraviolet radiation (UVR) and food stress may affect the bioavailability of toxicants, toxicokinetic and physiological state of organisms (Clements et al., 2008; Franklin et al., 2000; Kashian et al., 2004). (Pettis et al., 2012) showed that the increased mortality of wild honey bee colonies was due to the interactions between pesticides and pathogens. In another study, pathogens amplified the effect of agrochemicals on amphibians (Rohr et al., 2008). Similarly, food limitation and UV-B radiations amplified the sensitivity of marine crustaceans to copper (Liess et al., 2001). Numerous additional environmental stressors such as elevated temperature, pH, salinity, and eutrophication are also recognized to interact and amplify the toxic effects of contaminants (Beermann et al., 2018; Matthaei et al., 2010). Lately, (Delnat et al., 2019) studied the effect of daily temperature variation on combined toxicity of chlorpyrifos and a biopesticide Bacillus thuringiensis variant in mosquito Culex pipiens. A high daily temperature variation altered the interaction between both stressors from additive to synergistic. Furthermore, streams draining agricultural land are often characterized by

loss of hydro morphological and habitat heterogeneity due to dredging and channelization, increased concentrations of macronutrients, and increased transport of suspended material (Friberg et al., 2010; Pedersen, 2009). These effects may additionally have profound effects on ecosystem structure and function (Pedersen and Friberg, 2009; Piscart et al., 2009; Rasmussen et al., 2011). Even though the so-called mixture-toxicity has been debated for a long time, understanding the interactive effects of multiple stressors is still limited. These interactive effects are of great interest for the management of aquatic ecosystems.

# 1.10 Objectives and outline

In the recent years, a considerable decline in biodiversity have been observed worldwide. However, a number of natural populations still persist by developing increased tolerance. Although adaptation to stressors helps individuals to survive under stressed conditions, the response may change under real field conditions confronted with pesticides mixtures and environmental stressors. Therefore, the aim of this doctoral research was to investigate pesticide adaptation and potential costs in natural populations that are not well understood. Objectives of the study were addressed through a series of activities, including field research, and laboratory studies. Specifically, this study includes several investigations to answer the following research questions:

1. Do natural populations of *G. pulex* from agricultural streams have developed increased tolerance to pesticides and have compromised general fitness?

2. Do pesticide adapted populations have benefit under multiple stress of pesticides and elevated temperature?

3. Are pesticides adapted populations affected in terms of reduced genetic diversity, and how individual trade-offs are linked at community level?

4. How the response of pesticide adapted populations is further shaped under pesticide mixtures and elevated temperature?

In order to achieve these objectives, first of all, changes in community structure and tolerance development in non-target invertebrates to pesticides were assessed experimentally using a neonicotinoid insecticide clothianidin and dominant crustacean Gammarus pulex. To analyze the fitness costs of increased pesticide tolerance, field populations were cultured in lab under non-contaminated conditions (CHAPTER 2). Additionally, field populations of Gammarus pulex from agricultural and reference streams with differential pesticides tolerance were exposed to combined stress of clothianidin and elevated temperature. We also quantified different mechanisms of tolerance and revealed fitness costs of tolerance under warming (CHAPTER 3). Further investigations focused on the long-term consequences of pesticide exposure on genetic structure and diversity in natural populations of Gammarus pulex using AFLP assay. We also addressed other factors that affect tolerance development and genetic diversity of the populations (CHAPTER 4). In order to investigate the benefit of pesticide adaptation in field exposed populations, the clothianidin tolerance was tested in combination with an azole fungicide prochloraz and elevated temperature (CHAPTER 5). From this dissertation, CHAPTER 2 was published in the journal Science of the Total Environment, CHAPTER 3 was published in Environmental Science and Technology, CHAPTER 4 is under review in Global Change Biology and CHAPTER 5 is under review in Environment International. Finally, a brief synthesis of obtained results, conclusions and outlook for future research are given in CHAPTER 6.

# 2

# Increased pesticide tolerance and impaired performance in *G. pulex*

# 2.1 Abstract

Pesticide exposure in agricultural streams requires non-target species to adapt. However, pesticides may reduce performance in between exposure events due to long-term effects and physiological fitness costs of adaptation. Here, we investigated the long-term consequences of pesticide exposure to low concentrations in the widespread crustacean Gammarus *pulex.* We collected populations from six German streams covering no to moderate agricultural pesticide exposure. Peak concentrations ranged up to 1/400 of their acute median lethal concentration (Toxic Unit = -2.6), resulting in significant changes in the macroinvertebrate community composition (SPEAR<sub>pesticides</sub> = of 0.2). Acute toxicity tests revealed up to a 3-fold increased tolerance towards the most frequently found insecticide clothianidin compared to individuals collected from non-contaminated streams. However, populations showing increased insecticide tolerance were characterized by reduced survival, per capita growth and mating adults when cultured under pesticide-free conditions in the laboratory for three months. We conclude that pesticide pollution triggers adaptation both

at the species and the community level even at concentrations considered to be safe according to the European pesticide legislation. In *G. pulex*, adaptation is associated with impaired performance which potentially affects ecosystem functions such as leaf litter degradation. These longterm impairments need to be considered in deriving safe concentrations.

Key words: Gammarus pulex, Fitness costs, Pesticide exposure, Adaptation, Neonicotinoids, Ecotoxicology

# 2.2 Introduction

Macroinvertebrates in agricultural streams are exposed to pesticides, especially during the surface runoff following rainfall events (Kreuger, 1998; Liess and Schulz, 1999). This pesticide exposure may extend from a few minutes to several hours, depending on the intensity of rainfall, pesticide properties and the characteristics of the water body. Pesticide exposure poses deleterious effects on the structure and functions of macroinvertebrates in agricultural streams (Hunt et al., 2017; Liess and Ohe, 2005; Münze et al., 2017; Shahid et al., 2018). Furthermore, Beketov et al. (2013) reported significant effects of pesticide contamination on the species and family richness of macroinvertebrates. Significant change in the macroinvertebrate community composition has been reported even at 3 to 4 orders of magnitude below the acute median lethal concentration (LC<sub>50</sub>) of laboratory standard test species (Liess and von der Ohe, 2005; Schäfer et al., 2012). Reasons for these low environmental effect concentrations include an increased sensitivity of individuals to pesticides under multiple stress conditions (Liess et al., 2016a; Liess et al., 2019) and the culmination of effects from sequential exposure (Liess et al., 2013b). Accordingly, the exposure to pesticides may exert a considerable pressure for adaptation, which results in increased pesticide tolerance in exposed species (Becker and Liess, 2015; Delnat et al., 2020; Sparks and Nauen, 2015; Vigneron et al., 2015; Weston et al., 2013). Recently, Becker and Liess (2017) and Shahid et al. (2018) reported 3- to 4-fold increased pesticide tolerance in *Gammarus pulex* collected from agricultural streams. However, adaptation to pesticides is often associated with considerable fitness costs under non-toxic conditions (Becker and Liess, 2015; Delnat et al., 2020; Medina et al., 2007; Meyer and Di Giulio, 2003). Fitness costs of increased pesticide tolerance (resistance) may reduce ability for population recovery in between events of pesticide exposure. Bach and Dahllof (2012) revealed cost of resistance to high pesticide concentrations (causing acute mortality in non-adapted populations) in marine amphipod collected from contaminated fjord. Similarly, (Heim et al., 2018) reported lower reproductive capacity and lower upper thermal tolerance in pyrethroid-resistant Hyalella azteca individuals compared to non-resistant individuals. Obviously, coping with the toxicity of high insecticide concentrations is costly, and requires energy and resource allocation for adaptation and survival. However, fitness costs of resistance to lower pesticide concentrations that typically cause no acute mortality but sublethal effects (TU  $\leq -3$ ) have never been investigated. Such concentrations have been observed regularly in the field (Knillmann et al., 2018; Liess and von der Ohe, 2005) and are generally considered to be safe according to the European pesticide legislation (EFSA, 2013). Unraveling these effects in real field conditions may contribute to our understanding of why pesticides affect the macroinvertebrate community composition in the field at concentrations much lower than those predicted to be safe based on the sensitivity tests in the laboratory (Liess et al., 2013b).

This study aimed at investigating the effects of pesticide exposure on the tolerance and fitness of *Gammarus pulex* which is one of the most common freshwater macroinvertebrate species in central European streams with high ecological relevance for leaf litter degradation (Schäfer et al., 2012). We were particularly interested in potential effects of increased pesticide tolerance on key life-history traits. For this purpose, populations from agricultural and reference streams with different tolerances to pesticides were cultured under uncontaminated conditions and the variable: survival, per capita growth and reproduction were monitored for three months.

# 2.3 Materials and Methods

# 2.3.1 Study design

We collected *Gammarus pulex* from six sites that covered a range of noncontaminated to moderately contaminated streams in central Germany. The test organisms were sampled from April to June 2018 during the period of peak pesticide application. Additionally, macroinvertebrates were sampled to quantify effects of pesticide exposure on the community composition using the SPEAR<sub>pesticides</sub> bioindicator. Pesticide exposure during the study period was measured from water samples collected during run-off events after heavy rainfalls. The organisms were acclimatized to test conditions for seven days and subsequently exposed to six different concentrations of the neonicotinoid insecticide clothianidin. Additionally, we cultured each population in a climate chamber under standardized pesticide free conditions for three months. Long-term endpoints such as survival, per capita growth and reproduction of cultured organisms were recorded.

## 2.3.2 Study sites

Three sites were located in less contaminated forested area and selected as reference sites, whereas streams close to agricultural fields were not protected and showed considerably higher pesticide exposure (Table 2.1). None of these sites were influenced by other sources of contaminants such as wastewater treatment plants (WWTPs), industrial effluents or mining drainage. During the sampling, different physico-chemical parameters such as electrical conductivity (EC), temperature, pH, and dissolved oxygen (DO) were also measured showing that these environmental parameters were well in the range of favourable conditions for *G. pulex* (McCahon and Pascoe, 1988b)(Table 2.1).

Site	Coordinates	EC (µS)	Temp	рН	DO	SPEAR	TU <sub>max</sub>	Most toxic compound	Compound class
Ref-1	50.59251 10.64666	728	14	8.5	-	0.91	-5.34	2_4_Dichlorophenoxy- acetic acid	Phenoxy herbicides
Ref-2	52.1656 10.83203	756	8.9	7.56	8.9	1.00	-5.83	Fluroxypyr	Pyridine herbicides
Ref-3	51.33528 12.97136	534	15.8	7.63	-	0.69	-3.69	2_4_Dichlorophenoxy- acetic acid	Phenoxy herbicides
Agri-1	51.28995 12.15237	2,060	15.4	8.08	11.5	0.09	-2.65	Thiacloprid	Neonicotinoids
Agri-2	51.46098 11.47198	1,033	15.7	8.5	11.8	0.34	-3.63	Thiacloprid, clothianidin	Neonicotinoids
Agri-3	52.27735 10.75138	1,839	15.9	8.27	14.7	0.37	-2.79	Thiacloprid, clothianidin	Neonicotinoids

**Table 2.1**. Pesticide exposure and physico-chemical properties of the study sites.

# 2.3.3 Sampling of macroinvertebrates and test organisms

Macroinvertebrates were collected from 20 subsamples along a 50 m stream section, following the German nationalguidelines for the biological monitoring of streams (Gellert et al., 2014). In short, we collected organisms using a kick-sampler (25 x 25 cm) with a mesh size of 500 $\mu$ m, sorted specimens in a white tray and preserved them in 70 % EtOH for subsequent taxonomic identification in the laboratory. Individuals of *Gammarus pulex* were collected using a spoon or pipette and transported to the laboratory under constant aeration in a cooling box. Every week, a highly polluted and a lowly polluted population were sampled and tested to avoid a potential bias that may result from temporal variation in pesticide tolerance.

# 2.3.4 Quantification of pesticide exposure

Water samples from all sites were collected under the KgM project using two different techniques. The number of samples from each site varied from 1 to 6, depending on rainfall events. Briefly, computer triggered event samplers (Liess et al., 1999) and water level triggered event samplers (Liess and von der Ohe, 2005) were installed at each site. Water samples were collected within 24h following rainfall events, kept in a cool box at 4 °C and transported to the laboratory. Afterwards, 1 mL aliquots were transferred into 2 mL autosampler vials and stored at -20 °C for analysis. A total of 108 chemicals, including insecticides, fungicides and herbicides were analysed in water samples collected from selected streams. Targeted substances were analyzed using LC-HRMS (Ultimate 3000 LC system coupled to a QExactive Plus MS equipped with a heated electrospray ionisation (ESI) source, all from Thermo Scientific).

To quantify toxicity, mean concentrations of pesticides detected in streams were converted into toxic units (TU) by relating the measured concentration of a pesticide to its median lethal concentration for a sensitive referece species (Sprague, 1970). Existing field studies in small freshwater streams show that pesticide effects on macroinvertebrate communities are mainly related to the maximum toxic unit ( $TU_{max}$ ) exerted by the single most toxic compound. The summed up toxic units of all compounds ( $TU_{sum}$ , based on the assumption of additivity) does typically not increase the explained variance of biological effects significantly (Liess and von der Ohe, 2005; Orlinskiy et al., 2015; Schäfer et al., 2012). Therefore, we calculated the maximum toxic unit ( $TU_{max}$ ) following the equation given below (Liess and von der Ohe, 2005; Tomlin, 2009) and used for further calculations.

$$TU_{max} = \operatorname{Max}_{i=1}^{n} \left[ \log \left( \frac{Ci}{LC_{50i}} \right) \right]$$
(1)

where TUmax is the highest value of *n* pesticides at each sampling site,  $C_i$  is the concentration (µg L<sup>-1</sup>) of pesticide *i*, and  $LC_{50i}$  is the median lethal concentration (48 h, µg L<sup>-1</sup>) of that pesticide for the reference organism. Here, we used LC<sub>50</sub> values for *Daphnia magna*, *Chironomus riparius*, *Chironomus tentans*, *Hyalella azteca* obtained from the Ecotoxicology Database System (USEPA) and Pesticide Properties Database (PPDB), and the most sensitive species was selected as reference.

## 2.3.5 Effects of pesticide exposure on macroinvertebrate community

The SPEAR<sub>pesticides</sub> (SPEcies At Risk) bioindicator quantifies the toxic pressure of pesticides based on the proportion of macroinvertebrates classified as highly vulnerable to pesticides ("SPEcies At Risk") to the

total number of macroinvertebrates (Liess and Ohe, 2005). We calcuated SPEAR<sub>pesticides</sub> values using the software INDICATE (V 2019.11) that contains latest version of SPEAR index recently upgraded according to (Knillmann et al., 2018). A low proportion of vulnerable taxa (low SPEAR value) indicates high effects of pesticides and thus high pesticide exposure in a stream.

## 2.3.6 Acute toxicity tests for pesticide tolerance

The acute sensitivity of Gammarus pulex to neonicotinoid insecticide clothianidin was tested based on the OECD guidelines for the testing of chemicals (OECD 2004) and the guidelines for rapid tests for community-level risk assessment (Kefford, 2013). We selected the neonicotinoid insecticide clothianidin as test substance because it represents one of the most commonly applied classes of insectides in agriculture and has been frequently detected in surface waters (Knillmann et al., 2018). Test organisms were acclimatized to the test conditions in the laboratory for seven days before exposure. A 40 mg/L stock solution of clothianidin was prepared in distilled water using DANTOP (500g/kg, Spiess-Urania Chemical GmbH, Germany) and stirred overnight on magnetic stirrer. Required test concentrations i.e., 0, 5, 19, 72.2, 274.4, and 1042.6 µg/L were prepared by diluting the stock solution in ADAM (Artificial Daphnia medium) (Klüttgen et al., 1994). Random samples of the test solutions were analyzed for control; the average and maximum measured concentration of each nominal concentration ranged within acceptable boundaries ( $\pm$  10%). Briefly, 16 individuals from each population were exposed to each test concentration of clothianidin for a period of 96 h to determine the effect of the toxicant. After every 24 h, the immobility and the mortality of the individuals were recorded as end points. Individuals were considered to be immobile if they did not move their bodies within 30 s of undisturbed observation or after probing with a rod. The fanning of gills and antenna was not counted as body movement.

# 2.3.7 Culture of Gammarus pulex

The long-term effects of field exposure were analysed by culturing Gammarus pulex under standardized pesticide-free conditions in the laboratory. In general, maintenance and culturing of organisms followed the descriptions given by (McCahon and Pascoe, 1988a, b) with Approximately 100 individuals from each modifications as follows: population including medium-sized gammarids were cultured in 5L glass tanks with a 3L aerated artificial stream water (ADaM) (Klüttgen et al., 1994) was used as culture medium. Organisms were fed with Alder leaves pre-conditioned in stream water for at least two to three weeks before use. Pre-conditioned stones of different size were added to increase the water quality of the culture medium and to provide juveniles with the opportunity to hide from omnivorous adults. Continuous aeration was provided using potable air pumps to avoid stress during experiments and cultures. Aeration and food availability was checked regularly. To maintain the quality of the medium, 500 mL of old culture medium was replaced by fresh medium after 14 days. Additionally, 1,500 mL of old medium was replaced with fresh medium after 30 days and dead organisms were removed. The culture was maintained at 16°C, with 60% humidity and artificial light (12 h light:12h dark) in a climate chamber. To analyze the long-term effects of local pesticide contamination in streams on respective populations, the survival, per capita growth and the proportion of mating adults were monitored every four weeks for three months.

#### 2.3.8 Data analysis

All statistical analyses were carried out using R Studio for Windows (V 1.2.1) and R for Windows (V 3.5.1). For each acute sensitivity test and each observation time, the concentration that affected 75% of the exposed population (EC<sub>75</sub>) was calculated using 5-parameter non-linear regression available with the package drc (V 3.0-1) (Ritz et al., 2015). We used a binomial error distribution in the models and set the lower and upper boundary to 0 and 1, respectively. EC<sub>75</sub> was used instead of EC<sub>50</sub> to quantify pesticide tolerance because we observed that the increase in tolerance with pesticide pollution was more pronounced at higher effective

concentrations. This is in accordance with the finding of Becker et al. (in preparation). To make use of all data, we then performed linear regression of all log-transformed EC75 values from the same test vs. the logtransformed observation time and interpolated the EC<sub>75</sub> after the mean test duration (60h). This 60h EC<sub>75</sub> was used as a measure of pesticide tolerance for further analyses. The long-term end points for the cultured populations after three months were derived from the introduced adults and their (preadult) offspring which could be differentiated based on size. Survival was calculated by simply dividing the number of adult individuals by the initial number of individuals at the start of the culture. For per capita growth, the total number of offspring was divided by the initial number of individuals. The proportion of mating adults ("reproduction") was calculated as 2 x the number of couples, divided by the overall number of adults in the culture. Simple linear regression was applied to analyze the correlation of pesticide pollution in the field (TU<sub>max</sub>) with pesticide tolerance (logtransformed EC<sub>75</sub>) and with the SPEAR<sub>pesticides</sub> bioindicator. The effects of of pesticide pollution and of pesticide tolerance on survival and reproduction after three months culture in the laboratory was analyzed using a binomial generalized linear model with a logit link function. The effects of pesticide pollution and of pesticide tolerance on the (logtransformed) per capita growth were analyzed using simple linear regression. The assumptions of homoscedasticity and of normally residuals were confirmed by visual inspection, plotting distributed residuals vs. fitted values residuals vs. leverage, and Q-Q plots.

# 2.4 Results

#### 2.4.1 Pesticide contamination and community structure

Among investigated sites, the maximum toxic unit (TU<sub>max</sub>) ranged from -5.8 to -2.6. In agricultural streams, most toxic compounds were neonicotinoids (clothianidin; n = 1, TU<sub>max</sub> = -3.6 and thiacloprid; n = 2, mean TU<sub>max</sub> = -2.7). In contrast, the forested streams that served as controls were only slightly contaminated. The maximum toxic unit ranged from -5.8 to -3.7 which is considered to be of lower ecotoxicological

relevance. In all forested sites, a herbicide (2, 4–Dichlorophenoxyacetic acid) was responsible for maximum toxicity (n=3, mean  $TU_{max}$ = -4.96).

The toxic pressure exerted by pesticides on the macroinvertebrate community structure was quantified using the SPEAR<sub>pesticides</sub> indicator. The change in SPEAR<sub>pesticides</sub> was strongly correlated to the TU<sub>max</sub> of respective streams (linear regression, F = 23.9, residual df = 4, adjusted R<sup>2</sup> = 0.82, *p*-value = 0.008; Figure 2.1). Agricultural streams characterized by higher TU<sub>max</sub> showed significantly lower SPEAR<sub>pesticides</sub> values (0.08 – 0.37) in comparison to the forested reference streams with lower pesticide contamination (0.7 – 1.0) (Welch two sample t-test, *p*-value < 0.01). These effects were observed even at concentrations in the range of 1/1000 to 1/100 of the acute LC<sub>50</sub> of the most sensitive standard test organism that is generally considered to be safe by governmental risk assessment frameworks (European Commission, 2011).



Figure 2.1. Correlation between the macro-invertebrate community structure indicated as  $SPEAR_{pesticide}$  and the stream contamination expressed as maximum toxic unit  $(TU_{max})$ . The grey area corresponds to 95% confidence interval.

#### 2.4.2 Increased tolerance to clothianidin in Gammarus pulex

The median effective concentration of the insecticide clothianidin after 96 h exposure (96h LC<sub>50</sub>) was on average 33.28 µg/L across all populations. This was comparable to the 96h LC<sub>50</sub> of clothianidin reported for the most sensitive standard test species used for the calculation of TU<sub>max</sub> (*C. riparius*, 29 µg/L). Therefore, we consider pesticide effects in *G. pulex* as representative also for other sensitive macroinvertebrates. We observed pesticide adaptation already at low contamination in the range of TU<sub>max</sub> = -3. *G. pulex* from agricultural streams was 2–fold more tolerant (mean effective concentration that immobilized 75 % of test individuals after 60h, EC<sub>75</sub> = 158 µg/L) to clothianidin compared to populations from reference streams (mean EC<sub>75</sub> = 71 µg/L; *t* = -3.03, residual df = 4, *p*-value = 0.038).



**Figure 2.2.** Correlation between pesticide tolerance in *G. pulex* (quantified as  $EC_{75}$  of the insecticide clothianidin after 60h constant exposure, log-transformed) and the level of pesticide pollution in the field (quantified as maximum toxic units,  $TU_{max}$ ). Means  $\pm$  95 % confidence intervals are shown.

The tolerance to clothianidin was significantly correlated with the stream contamination expressed as  $TU_{max}$  (linear regression; F = 8.6, residual df = 4, adjusted  $R^2 = 0.61$ , *p*-value = 0.042, Figure 2.2). Further, clothianidin tolerance also showed a correlation with the macroinvertebrate community structure expressed as SPEAR<sub>pesticide</sub> (linear regression; adjusted F = 5.67, residual df = 4,  $R^2 = 0.48$ , *p*-value = 0.075) that also provides information about the local pesticide contamination.

#### 2.4.3 Consequences of increased tolerance in G. pulex

We observed that the increased tolerance to clothianidin (60h EC<sub>75</sub>) had consequences on the general fitness and long-term viability of *G. pulex*. Populations from agricultural streams with increased clothianidin tolerance showed reduced survival in culture after three months, as compared to populations from less contaminated reference streams (generalized linear regression;  $Chi^2 = 7.87$ , residual df = 4, Zavoina's R<sup>2</sup> = 0.23, *p*-value = 0.005, Figure 2.3a). Similarly, the per capita growth of gammarid populations significantly decreased with increasing clothianidin tolerance expressed as EC<sub>75</sub> (linear regression; F = 13.72, residual df = 4, adjusted R<sup>2</sup> = 0.72, *p*-value = 0.021, Figure 2.3b). Furthermore, increased pesticide tolerance (EC<sub>75</sub>) was significantly associated with a reduced proportion of mating adults in the populations (generalized linear regression;  $Chi^2$  = 6.12, residual df = 4, Zavoina's Pseudo R<sup>2</sup> = 0.32, p-value = 0.013, Figure 2.3c).



**Figure 2.3.** Effect of pesticide tolerance (60h EC<sub>75</sub> of the insecticide clothianidin) on (a) survival, (b) per capita growth, and (c) reproduction (proportion of mating adults) of *G. pulex* populations. The grey area corresponds to 95% confidence interval. Performance in the cultured populations correlated also with the pesticide pollution observed in the field:

Increasing pesticide contamination  $(TU_{max})$  was associated with reduced survial (generalized linear regression,  $Chi^2 = 2.33$ , residual df = 4, Zavoina's Pseudo  $R^2 = 0.084$ , *p*-value = 0.12), per capita growth (linear regression, F = 5.11,  $R^2 = 0.45$ , residual df = 4, *p*-value = 0.086) and a lower proportion of mating adults (generalized linear regression,  $Chi^2 = 2.14$ , residual df = 4, Zavoina's Pseudo  $R^2 = 0.11$ , *p*-value = 0.14, Table A.1).

# 2.5 Discussion

#### 2.5.1 Quantification of pesticide effects on macroinvetebrates

In the present study, the pesticide contamination  $(TU_{max})$  of agricultural streams ranged from -5.8 to -2.6. According to the most conservative first tier evaluation of European regulations for agricultural pesticides (EFSA, 2013), generally no effects should occur at concentrations 100 times below the LC<sub>50</sub> of reference organisms ( $TU_{max} = -2$ ). However, we found strong effects of pesticide pollution on the macroinvertebrate community composition at considerably lower  $TU_{max}$  levels. These ecological effects (quantified with the SPEAR index) are consistant with previous studies (Beketov et al., 2009; Bereswill et al., 2013; Hunt et al., 2017; Liess et al., 2008; Liess and von der Ohe, 2005; Münze et al., 2015; Orlinskiy et al., 2015). In the present study, neonicotinoid insecticides dominated the toxicity in agricultural streams. This is in accordance with several recent studies that reported effects of neonicotinoids on aquatic communities in agricultural streams (Becker and Liess, 2017; Münze et al., 2017; Shahid et al., 2018).

#### 2.5.2 Adaptation to pesticides and consequences on the fitness

Our findings reveal that populations of *G. pulex* in agricultural streams have aquired increased tolerance to the neonicotinoid insecticide clothianidin. Even low insecticide concentrations (TU  $\leq -3$ ) were sufficient to produce more tolerant populations in the field. Similar results were reported by Shahid et al. (2018).

Populations from agricultural streams with increased insecticide tolerance showed decreased survival, per capita growth and mating. The observed effects were not only based on initial decrease in performance but they were persistent for at least four months (Table A.1). However, the observed effects became more pronounced and significant after three months of culture at pesticides free conditions. Persistent reduced performance observed in the present study may result in accumulative effects that get stronger until most individuals have died or stopped to reproduce. Persistent effects are an indicator for fitness costs from long-term adaptation rather than for delayed pesticide effects. Further, the persistent decrease in performance is of more concern than transient effects because it hinders population recovery and explains changes in the community composition over longer time scales at low concentrations. Our results indicate that in the field, even very low pesticide concentrations can considerably impair the performance of *G. pulex*, both directly through chronic effects and indirectly through fitness costs of genetic or physiological adaptation.

There are several investigations that report fitness costs of adaptation / increased tolerance to certain pesticides and metals in different organisms (Bach and Dahllof, 2012; Ffrench-Constant and Bass, 2017; Heim et al., 2018; Kliot and Ghanim, 2012; Xie and Klerks, 2004). It is suggested that molecular and physiological processes involved in tolerance development, and therefore also the associated fitness costs, depend on the intensity and duration of exposure (Amiard-Triquet et al., 2011). However, fitness costs of moderately increased tolerance caused by very low pesticide concentrations commonly observed in agricultural streams have never been investigated. Interference with energy allocation in an organism may impair life history traits such as survival, growth and reproduction (Novais et al., 2013). Therefore, the long-term negative effects investigated in *Gammarus pulex* might be due to their adaptation to pesticides and could potentially impact the performance of *G. pulex* in natural ecosystems.

Additionally, delayed (chronic) effects from field exposure may have contributed to the decreased performance of populations from agricultural streams. Several studies have investigated long term effects after pulsed exposure to pesticides on macroinvertebrates under laboratory conditions (Abel and Garner, 1986; Barros et al., 2017; Rasmussen et al., 2017). For example, Cold and Forbes (2004) observed effects on survival, mating

behavior, and reproductive output in *G. pulex* exposed to  $0.1-0.6 \mu g/L$  of esfenvalerate for 1 h. These effects were even observed even after 2 weeks of pulse exposure, but much higher toxicity. Similarly, Liess and Schulz (1996) reported reduced survival and delays in emergence in the caddisfly, *Limnephilus lunatus*, during several weeks following 1h pulse exposure to fenvalerate. In another study, increase in the number of aborted broods and a decrease in viable offspring size in *G. pulex* females were observed in response to zinc exposure (Maltby and Naylor, 1990).

However, all these effects were observed after pulse exposure to high pesticide concentrations that are known to cause acute effects after constant exposure. The present study suggests that long-term effects can be observed also after pulse exposure to much lower concentrations during run-off events. These effects might be attributed to resource allocation for different metabolic processes in response to pesticide exposure (Baas et al., 2010; Jager et al., 2006). Resources used in detoxification processes significantly reduce the energy budget required for growth, fecundity, survival and reproduction.

# 2.6 Conclusions

*Gammarus pulex* shows moderate adaptation to pesticide pollution but also reduced long-term viability even at concentrations generally considered safe according to the European pesticide legislation. Long-term effects such as reduced survival, per capita growth, and reproduction may potentially impact the performance and ecosystem function of *G. pulex*, such as leaf litter degradation, in the field. Therefore, these long-term impairments need to be considered in deriving save concentrations.

# 2.7 Acknowledgments

We acknowledge the German Academic Exchange Service (Deutscher Akademischer Austauschdienst, DAAD) for financially supporting A.S through doctoral fellowship. Data on the macroinvertebrate community structure (SPEAR<sub>pesticide</sub>) and  $TU_{max}$  was obtained from the KgM "Kleingewässer Monitoring" project including support by the Helmholtz

long-range strategic research funding (POF III), the Helmholtz MOSES project (Modular Observation Solutions for Earth Systems) and the KgM project of the Umweltbundesamt (Federal Environment Agency), funding number UBA 3717 63 403 0).

# 2.8 Funding

See above

# 2.9 Conflict of interest statement

The authors that they have no conflict of interest.

# 3

# Multi-stress reduces the advantage of pesticide adaptation

# 3.1 Abstract

Permanent exposure to a single stressor induces the development of genetic adaptation. However, adapted individuals are less tolerant to other stressors. Under global change scenarios, multi-stress conditions are expected to occur regularly. For predicting their ecological consequences, the question is how individuals that are genetically adapted to a single stressor respond to multiple stressors. Here we investigated the effect of multiple stress on the crustacean G. pulex from agricultural streams that are genetically adapted to pesticides compared with conspecifics from forested streams not genetically adapted to pesticides. We show that G. pulex from agricultural streams only have a survival advantage under pesticide stress in the absence of other environmental stressors. As expected under an optimum temperature, the genetically adapted agricultural populations were considerably more tolerant to pesticide as compared to the forest populations. Temperature stress alone only increased mortality in agricultural populations. In contrast, a combined stress of pesticides and warming revealed a similar tolerance of

agricultural and forested populations. Both stressors acted synergistically and these combined effects could be predicted with SAM (Stressor Addition Model). We conclude that under multi-stress conditions typical for global change scenarios, genetic adaption to pesticides loses its advantage.

# **3.2 Introduction**

Pesticides affect macroinvertebrates in agricultural streams already below the regulatory acceptable concentrations, resulting in a considerable loss of vulnerable species, (Liess and von der Ohe, 2005; Shahid et al., 2018), Liess et al., 2021(Under review). However, surviving individuals may acquire pesticide tolerance through physiological acclimation (Sparks and Nauen, 2015) and genetic adaptation (Sun et al., 2014). When populations experience occasional exposure, inducible traits are maintained as they facilitate the expression of adaptive phenotypes in response to variable environmental conditions (Weston et al., 2013). For example, physiological induction of tolerance after low insecticide exposure in mosquitoes and wood frogs from less contaminated sites (Hua et al., 2013; Poupardin et al., 2008). In contrast, when populations experience continuous exposure over multiple generations, a plastic response eventually becomes constitutively expressed, resulting in genetic adaptation (Fournier-Level et al., 2019; Lopes et al., 2008; Rivero et al., 2011). Examples include high tolerance to a pyrethroid insecticide (53-fold) in H. azteca (Weston et al., 2013) and moderate neonicotinoid insecticide tolerance (3 to 4-fold) in G. pulex from contaminated sites (Becker and Liess, 2017; Shahid et al., 2018; Siddique et al., 2020).

However, the development of genetic adaptation is often associated with reduced fitness (Siddique et al., 2020). Fitness costs in the absence of a primary stressor have already been observed (Bach and Dahllof, 2012; Fournier-Level et al., 2019). Under global change scenarios, organisms are exposed to multiple stressors such as exposure to agricultural pesticides and elevated temperatures (Meehl and Tebaldi, 2004; Russo et al., 2018). In the presence of one dominant stressor, organisms may adapt to it; however, the response of single-stressor adapted populations under

multiple stress conditions is rarely addressed. Only a few studies have investigated the combined effects of toxicants and temperature on populations adapted to thermal stress (Zhang et al., 2020; Zhang et al., 2018). Authors reported reduction in combined effect of temperature and toxicant in populations adapted to thermal stress. However, the multi-stress effects of pesticides and warming on populations adapted to pesticides have never been addressed. Unraveling these effects may provide insight on the consequences of pesticide adaptation under global change scenarios.

The present study was therefore designed to quantify the ecological consequences of different mechanisms of pesticide tolerance and the associated fitness costs. We performed our investigations with the crustacean G. pulex, one of the most common freshwater macroinvertebrate species in central European streams with a high ecological relevance for leaf litter degradation (Schäfer et al., 2012). Stressors investigated were the combined effect of the neonicotinoid insecticide clothianidin and elevated temperatures on agricultural and reference populations from forested areas. Further, we aimed at identifying the type of interaction between clothianidin and temperature, predicting results with concentration addition (CA, (Loewe and Muischnek, 1926b)), effect addition (EA, (Bliss, 1939b)), and stress addition (SA, (Liess et al., 2016a).

# 3.3 Methods

## 3.3.1 Description of study sites

In the present study, we investigated organisms from 17 sites in Germany (Supplementary Information, Figure B.1), each in spring and autumn 2019. Among them, 11 sites were contaminated with various levels of pesticides, whereas 6 were considered as forested reference streams. All sites covered a wide range of stream habitats including various types of sediments, plants, and stones and a variety of organic matter. As the study mainly focused on pesticide contamination, it was made sure that no other relevant sources of contamination such as wastewater treatment plants or industrial facilities were located upstream of the sampling sites. In contrast to streams considered as polluted, reference sites were usually located within or at the edge of forests, at least with either non-agricultural landscape between the spring of the stream and the sampling site (description of sites, see SI and data repository at DOI: 10.1594/PANGAEA.924688).

## 3.3.2 Collection of macroinvertebrates and test organisms

The test organisms, G. pulex, were sampled in spring from March to April 2019 before the peak insecticide application period and in autumn from October to November 2019 after the main pesticide application period. Approximately 600 G. pulex individuals were collected from each site using a pipette and transported to the laboratory under constant aeration in a cooling box. Every week, two to three sites were visited, including a highly polluted and a lowly polluted population, and tested to avoid a potential bias that may result from temporal variation in the tolerance to pesticides. During sampling, the physicochemical parameters such as electrical conductivity (EC), temperature, pH, and dissolved oxygen (DO) were also measured showing that these environmental parameters were well in the range of normal conditions for gammarids (Table B.1). The test organisms were kept overnight at 16°C, 60% humidity, and constant aeration before pesticide exposure.

## 3.3.3 Quantification of pesticide contamination

The toxic pressure of pesticide contamination was quantified by applying water samples from the investigated sites collected within the Kleingewässermonitoring (KgM) project (https://www.ufz.de/kgm/) using computer triggered event samplers (Liess et al., 1999) and water level triggered event samplers (Liess and von der Ohe, 2005). During the sampling process, approx. 5 mL aliquots were pumped every 5 min from the stream at approx. 10-20 cm depth for 3 h 20 min, yielding unfiltered, cooled composite water samples of about 200 mL. The number of water samples from each site varied from one to six, depending on rainfall events. A total of 108 chemicals, including insecticides, fungicides, and herbicides were analyzed in the water samples. Targeted substances were analyzed using LC-HRMS (Ultimate 3000 LC system coupled to a Q Exactive Plus

MS equipped with a heated electrospray ionization (ESI) source, all from Thermo Scientific). The toxic units (TU) were calculated to determine the pesticide-induced water toxicity at each site. Existing field studies in small freshwater streams show that pesticide effects on macroinvertebrate communities are significantly related to the most toxic pesticide concentrations (maximum toxic unit –  $TU_{max}$ ) (Liess and von der Ohe, 2005; Orlinskiy et al., 2015; Schäfer et al., 2012). Therefore, the maximum toxic unit ( $TU_{max}$ ) was calculated as suggested by (Liess and von der Ohe, 2005) and used for further calculations. Invertebrate effects of pesticides were quantified by using the SPEAR<sub>pesticides</sub> (SPEcies At Risk) bioindicator, which quantifies the toxic pressure of pesticides based on the proportion of macroinvertebrates classified as highly vulnerable to pesticides ("SPEcies At Risk") to the total number of macroinvertebrates. A low proportion of vulnerable taxa (low SPEAR value) indicates high effects of pesticides and thus high pesticide exposure in a stream.

# 3.3.4 Selection of insecticide and temperature

In the present study, we used neonicotinoid insecticide clothianidin as a chemical stressor as it represents one of the most commonly applied classes of insecticides in agriculture and has been frequently detected in surface waters of the study area (Knillmann et al., 2018), Liess et al., 2021 (Under review). To identify the ecological relevance of an additional environmental stressor, we used 20°C and 24°C as temperature stress, in addition to the control temperature of 16°C. According to KgM data, the water temperature of approx. 34% of the sites reaches more than 18°C and among them, 10% range from 20°C to 23°C in June and July (data repository, DOI: 10.1594/PANGAEA.924688). However, none of the 17 sites investigated in the present study reached more than 18°C throughout the last two years, ruling out the possibility of co-tolerance in the field.

## 3.3.5 Acute sensitivity tests

The acute sensitivity of *G. pulex* to the neonicotinoid insecticide clothianidin was tested following the OECD guidelines for chemical testing with 100 individuals per 5 L beaker (OECD, 2004) and the rapid

tests for community-level risk assessment (Kefford, 2013). A 40mg/L stock solution was prepared in distilled water using DANTOP (500g/kg, Spiess-Urania Chemical GmbH, Germany) and stirred overnight on a magnetic stirrer. Organisms from each population were divided into two groups. In the first group, organisms were exposed to a sub-lethal clothianidin concentration (0.08µg/L) for 3 days (later described as preexposure). The pre-exposure concentration, i.e., 0.08 µg/L, was prepared by diluting the stock solution in ADaM (artificial stream water) (Klüttgen et al., 1994) for each population separately. 100 individuals of G. pulex for each treatment were added to clothianidin sub-lethal concentration and fed with ~6 g wet weight of pre-conditioned leaves (Siddique et al., 2020). The test vessels were kept in a climate chamber pre-set at 16°C, 60% humidity, a 12:12 light-dark cycle, and constant aeration. After pre-exposure, the organisms were removed from the contaminated medium and transferred to an uncontaminated fresh medium for recovery period and acclimation of 7 days. The organisms were kept again at 16°C in a climate chamber. After pre-exposure, 100 organisms from each population were also acclimatized at 20°C and 24°C to analyze the effect of temperature on physiological acclimation. The effect of temperature stress on pre-exposed populations was only investigated in autumn samples. In the second group, organisms were acclimated to test conditions for 10 days. To analyze the acute sensitivity to clothianidin, 100 organisms from each population were acclimatized at 16°C; to analyze the effect of temperature stress on clothianidin tolerance, 100 organisms from each population were acclimatized at 20°C and 24°C. After 10 days, both groups (pre-exposed and non-pre-exposed) were exposed to sub-lethal to lethal clothianidin concentrations. Five clothianidin concentrations (i.e., 0, 8, 40, 200 and 1000µg/L) were prepared by diluting the stock solution in ADaM. Briefly, 16 individuals from each population were exposed to each test concentration of clothianidin for a period of 96 h to determine the effect of the toxicant. The test vessels were placed in climate chambers at 16°C, 20°C and 24°C with 60% moisture, a 12:12 light-dark cycle, and constant aeration. After every 24 h, the immobility and mortality of the individuals were recorded as end points. Individuals were considered immobile if they did not move their bodies within 30 s of undisturbed observation or after

probing with a glass rod. All the experiments were performed with both spring and autumn populations unless otherwise mentioned.

# 3.3.6 Insecticide Testing

To determine the actual concentrations of insecticides used in this study, we collected 1000-mL samples of stock and working solutions. Samples were analyzed by Wessling GmbH, Landsberg OT, Oppin, Germany, using a Thermo Fisher Scientific TSQ 8000 Evo Triple Quadrupole GC–MS/MS. The detection limit of the instrument was 5.7 ng/L. The analytical column used was a TG-5HT guard column with a 0.53 mm ID and a 0.15  $\mu$ m film thickness (Thermo Fisher Scientific, USA). The software TraceFinder 3.2 (Thermo Fisher Scientific) was applied for data processing. Actual concentrations recovered from the samples were in acceptable boundaries (±10%) to the nominal concentrations.

# 3.3.7 Data analysis

All statistical analyses were carried out using RStudio for Windows (V 1.2.1335) and R for Windows (V 3.5.1). For each acute sensitivity test and each observation time (24, 48h), the concentration that affected 50% of the exposed population ( $EC_{50}$ ) was calculated using a generalized linear model with a quasi-binomial error distribution and a logit link function. (V 3.0-1) (Ritz et al., 2015). Pesticide tolerance was quantified using the 48 h EC<sub>50</sub>. For the comparison of EC<sub>50</sub> values among both seasons (winter vs. summer), t- test was applied. The TU<sub>max</sub> values were derived from summer samples as the water samples for pesticide analysis were collected only in summer. However, as the TU<sub>max</sub> data was available for 2018 and 2019 for most of the sites, average TU<sub>max</sub> was used to derive the correlation between stream toxicity and the  $EC_{50}$  of *G. pulex* from spring and autumn populations. Similarly, for the quantification of ecological effects, the SPEAR was calculated only in summer. Linear regression was applied to analyze the correlation of pesticide pollution in the field (TU<sub>max</sub>) with pesticide tolerance (log-transformed EC<sub>50</sub>) and with the SPEAR<sub>pesticides</sub> bioindicator on spring populations. The dataset from spring and autumn populations for 48 h acute EC<sub>50</sub> at 16°C, 20°C and 24°C, and pre-exposure at 16°C were combined for further analysis. Whereas the pre-exposure at 20°C and 24°C was only performed with autumn populations, two sample t-tests (when the assumption of equal variances was fulfilled) and Welch's t-test (in case of non-equal variances) were applied to compare the different  $EC_{50}$  among reference and agricultural populations and to compare them among different temperature treatments. In case the data were not normally distributed, Wilcoxon's rank sum test was used. In case of three-group comparison, one-way ANOVA was applied. A p-value of < 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

We predicted the combined effects of insecticide clothianidin and temperature by applying different additive approaches (CA-concentration addition and EA-effect addition) and a synergistic approach (SA-stress addition model (SAM)). Both the EA (Bliss, 1939b) and CA (Loewe and Muischnek, 1926b) models are commonly applied to predict mixture effects and assume the additivity of concentrations or of effects. In contrast, the SA was developed to predict synergistic effects of independent stressors, such as a toxicant and an environmental stressor (Liess et al., 2016a). This approach allocates environmental stress and toxicant stress into general stress levels, which serve as the common currency to add various stressors (Liess et al., 2016a). We applied CA, EA, and the SA to predict LC<sub>50</sub> using the software Indicate (Version 1.1.1; https://www.systemecology.de/indicate/). To quantify the predictive accuracy of the models, a model deviation ratio (MDR) was calculated for the CA, EA, and SA models by dividing the predicted LC<sub>50</sub> values by the observed LC<sub>50</sub> values. Belden (Belden et al., 2007) suggested the MDR as a simple measure of model accuracy and suggested the range of 0.5 < MDR< 2 as a benchmark for the accuracy of CA or EA models. For an MDR >2, interactions between stressors are interpreted as synergistic (Cedergreen, 2014). In the present study, we used CA as the null model and the combined effects were considered synergistic if the MDR values were >2. For the comparison of MDR values in agricultural and reference groups, bootstrapping was done to obtain 10 values for each group. After that, a t-test was applied to obtain statistical significance. For comparison of MDR values of SA and CA, a t-test was applied. Except for the

determination of observed and predicted LC<sub>50</sub> values, we generated all figures and statistical analyses using the software RStudio.

# 3.4 Results

## 3.4.1 Pesticide contamination and the effects on macroinvertebrates

In the present study, the toxic pressure of pesticides in agricultural streams measured as a maximum toxic unit (TU<sub>max</sub>) amounted up to -1.51. Neonicotinoids and carbamate insecticides were the most toxic compounds with  $TU_{max}$  ranging from -3.07 to -1.51. In contrast, forested streams were characterized by a much lower toxic pressure with TU<sub>max</sub> ranging from -5.8 to -3.3. The ecological impact of the measured pesticide concentrations was identified by the effect on the invertebrate community structure. The macroinvertebrate-based indicator for pesticide pressure (SPEAR<sub>pesticides</sub>) was significantly correlated to the pesticide contamination of respective streams (linear regression, F = 8.1, df = 1, residual df = 13, adjusted  $R^2 = 0.34$ , p-value = 0.013; Figure 3.1a). In addition, the pesticide tolerance of a dominant crustacean, G. pulex, increased with increasing pesticide pressure. The 48 h  $EC_{50}$  of G. pulex to insecticide clothianidin correlated with the TU<sub>max</sub> (linear regression, adjusted  $R^2 = 0.29$ , F = 13.40, df = 1 and 30, and p-value < 0.001, Figure 3.1b). No seasonal variation (i.e., spring vs. autumn) in the clothianidin tolerance was observed among agricultural (Welch two-sample t-test, t = -0.098, df = 17.59, p-value = 0.92) or reference populations (t-test, t = -0.21, df = 7.16, p-value = 0.84).



**Figure 3.1.** Correlation of toxic pressure  $(TU_{max})$  with (a) macroinvertebrate community composition expressed as SPEAR<sub>pesticides</sub> and (b) pesticide tolerance in *G. pulex* (quantified as EC<sub>50</sub> of the insecticide clothianidin after 48 h constant exposure, log-transformed) collected in spring and autumn. Means ±95% confidence intervals are shown.

#### 3.4.2 Differential tolerance

Dose response curve analysis revealed that the gammarid populations from agricultural streams were significantly more tolerant to insecticide clothianidin as compared to reference populations at optimum temperature (Figure 3.2a, one-way ANOVA;  $X^2 = 6.84$ , df = 1, p-value = 0.0089). After pre-exposure to low clothianidin concentration (3 orders of magnitude below the acute EC<sub>50</sub>), the reference populations showed increased tolerance (habituation) (Supplementary Information, Figure B.2a). In contrast, the tolerance of agricultural populations did not vary before and after pre-exposure (Supplementary Information, Figure B.2b). Therefore, after pre-exposure, the average tolerance of agricultural and reference populations was similar (Figure 3.2b).

# 3.4.3 Fitness costs of pesticide tolerance under non-contaminated conditions

We investigated the fitness costs of adaptation under elevated temperatures (20°C and 24°C) in the absence of pesticides.



**Figure 3.2.** Dose response curves for *G. pulex* exposed to insecticide clothianidin for 48 h in laboratory. Figure (a) represents clothianidin tolerance without pre-exposure and (b) represents clothianidin tolerance after pre-exposure. In both figures, red curves denote the response of organisms from agricultural streams, whereas green curves show the response of organisms from reference streams. Shaded areas correspond to the 95% confidence intervals.



**Figure 3.3.** Comparison of the percent mortality of *G. pulex* collected from agricultural and reference streams after 48 h exposure to the neonicotinoid insecticide clothianidin in the laboratory at 16°C, 20°C and 24°C using one-way ANOVA. The grey dots represent data points.

We observed that the agricultural populations genetically adapted to pesticides (with and without pre-exposure) showed increased mortality with increasing temperature (Figure 3.3, without pre-exposure, ANOVA; F = 8.66, df = 1, residual df = 55, p-value = 0.0047; with pre-exposure, ANOVA; F = 12.24, df = 1, residual df = 25, p-value = 0.0017). In contrast, reference populations, with and without pre-exposure did not show temperature dependent mortality (Figure 3.3).

# 3.4.4 Clothianidin tolerance under multi-stress.

Under an optimum temperature (16°C), the agricultural populations were on average 2.2-fold more tolerant to clothianidin as compared to reference populations (t = -3.85, df = 29.35, p-value < 0.001, Figure 3.4a). Under combined stress of clothianidin and temperature (20°C and 24°C), both agricultural and reference populations showed increased sensitivity with increasing temperature. As a result, the clothianidin tolerance of both populations was similar under temperature stress (Figure 3.4a). Clothianidin tolerance was reduced up to 5-fold in reference populations (t = 7.62, df = 19, p-value < 0.001), whereas 8.5-fold in agricultural populations (t = 10.13, df = 32.69, p-value < 0.001).

#### 3.4.5 Clothianidin tolerance under multi-stress after pre-exposure.

We compared the multi-stress effect on habituated reference populations and genetically adapted agricultural populations (Supplementary Information, Figure B.2), observing that both populations showed sensitivity to temperature and similar clothianidin tolerance (Figure 3.4b). The clothianidin tolerance reduced up to 16.7-fold in habituated reference populations (t = 5.86, df = 4.34, p-value = 0.0032) and 15-fold in genetically adapted agricultural populations (t = 7.38, df = 8.4, p-value <0.001).



**Figure 3.4.** Comparison of the median effective concentrations  $(EC_{50})$  of *G. pulex* collected from agricultural and reference streams after 48 h exposure to the neonicotinoid insecticide clothianidin in the laboratory at 16°C, 20°C and 24°C. The effect of temperature on the clothianidin tolerance of field-exposed populations is shown in (a), whereas the effect of temperature on increased clothianidin after pre-exposure is shown in (b). Grey dots represent data points.

#### 3.4.6 Prediction of combined effect of clothianidin and temperature.

We used concentration addition (CA), effect addition (EA) and stress addition (SA) to predict the interactive effect between insecticide clothianidin and temperature. For CA and EA, the MDR values all above 2 indicated that the combined effect of the two stressors were greater than predicted and even pointed to synergistic effects of clothianidin and temperature in all the cases (Figure 3.5a, b and Table 3.1). We revealed that the CA and EA substantially underestimated the combined effect up to one order of magnitude for both reference and agricultural populations (Table 1). On average, the underestimation by EA and CA of the observed effect was 5.15 and 5.68 times, respectively. In contrast we observed that the SA model more accurately predicted the combined effect of clothianidin and temperature (Supplementary Information, Figure B.3), indicated by an average MDR value of 1.32 (Figure 3.5c, d and Table 3.1). Accordingly, predictions by SAM differed significantly from CA except for agricultural populations at 20°C (Table 3.1).



Figure 3.5. Comparison of the prediction and synergistic effects of clothianidin and temperature are presented in (a) CA-based MDR (model deviation ratio) values without pre-exposure and (b) after pre-exposure, and (c) SA-based MDR values without pre-exposure and (d) after pre-exposure. The grey dots represent data points. The grey background represents MDR > 2 and hence synergistic interaction between clothianidin and temperature in relation to CA as a null model. The blue line shows MDR of 1 - representing an optimal fit between observation and prediction.

**Table 3.1.** Experimental observations and predictions of *G. pulex* from agricultural and reference streams exposed to clothianidin at  $20^{\circ}$ C and  $24^{\circ}$ C with and without pre-exposure<sup>*a*</sup>.

Sites	Pre- exposure	Temp (°C)	Observed LC <sub>50</sub> <sup>b</sup> (µg/L)	Predicted LC <sub>50</sub> <sup>c</sup> (μg/L)	MDR		Statistical difference between SAM and CA <sup>d</sup>	
					SA	CA	EA	p-value
Reference	No	20 24	43.53	124.14	1.58	2.83	2.86	***
Agricultural			71.37	237.51	2.26	3.35	3.68	0.093
Reference			33.54	124.89	0.92	3.76	3.74	***
Agricultural			47.30	287.35	0.73	6.48	5.72	***
Reference	Yes	20 24	74.07	167.03	0.86	2.29	2.25	***
Agricultural			87.90	264.68	1.33	2.98	2.95	***
Reference			16.25	183.19	1.42	11.31	10.1	***
Agricultural			26.64	290.09	1.45	11.17	9.86	***

<sup>*a*</sup> Values are based on the data from 48 h pesticide exposure. <sup>*b*</sup> The observed LC<sub>50</sub> was calculated using the mean survival of all reference and agricultural populations separately. <sup>*c*</sup> The predicted LC<sub>50</sub> was calculated by a CA model using the mean survival of all populations with respective conditions. Synergism was considered significant when the MDR value for CA was more than 2. <sup>*d*</sup> The statistical difference between predictions of SA and CA.
#### 3.5 Discussion

#### 3.5.1 Effects of pesticides on macroinvertebrates.

The pesticides toxicity  $(TU_{max})$  of the investigated streams ranged from -5.8 to -1.5. According to the European regulations for pesticides (EFSA, 2013), generally no effects should occur at concentrations 100 times below the LC<sub>50</sub> of reference organisms ( $TU_{max} = -2$ ). Contrary to this, we observed altered a macroinvertebrate community structure at considerably lower  $TU_{max}$  levels ( $TU_{max} = -3$ ). These ecological effects (quantified with the SPEAR index) are consistent with previous studies (Hunt et al., 2017; Liess et al., 2008; Münze et al., 2015) and also with the studies from same area (Becker and Liess, 2017; Shahid et al., 2018; Siddique et al., 2020).

#### 3.5.2 Adaptation to pesticides and multi-stress.

Our findings revealed that the G. pulex crustaceans from agricultural streams were up to 5-fold more tolerant to insecticide clothianidin as compared to reference populations. However, only the reference populations could induce up to a 3-fold increased tolerance when preexposed to low pesticide concentration, suggesting that exposure to such low concentrations of pesticide (3 orders of magnitude below  $EC_{50}$ ) can induce tolerance in non-adapted forest populations (Hua et al., 2013; Poupardin et al., 2008). These results are supported by plasticity theory (Debat and David, 2001) and previous findings that suggested the development of pesticide adaptation in regularly exposed populations (Becker and Liess, 2017; Shahid et al., 2018; Siddique et al., 2020) and a physiological response upon occasional exposure (Li et al., 2018; Schlichting and Pigliucci, 1998). Further, we observed that the pesticide tolerance acquired through genetic adaptation in agricultural populations is only slightly higher as compared to the tolerance acquired through habituation in reference populations under an optimum temperature. However, the downside of genetic adaptation is the decreased plasticity and fitness costs due to pleotropic effects of resistance conferring genes (Heim et al., 2018; Jansen et al., 2011a; Lagator et al., 2014; Siddique et al., 2020). In contrast, habituated populations maintain their plasticity to respond under fluctuating environmental conditions. This was supported by the observed fitness costs in agricultural populations genetically adapted to pesticides as these populations that were more sensitive to increasing temperature under non-contaminated conditions and mortality of organisms increased with increasing temperature, whereas the reference populations (with and without pre-exposure) did not show any fitness costs. In a rapidly changing climate, organisms are often exposed to multiple stressors with different modes of action that may interact synergistically. Although a few studies have reported synergism between multiple stressors (Chen et al., 2015; Russo et al., 2018; Shahid et al., 2019), there are some cases where only few synergistic stressor combinations were reported (Birk et al., 2020). In contrast to the EA/CA approach, the SA model could predict the synergistic multiple stress effect of temperature and clothianidin, including the increasing strength of synergism at high temperature. Recently, Zhang et al. (2018) revealed that the synergistic interaction between a toxicant and temperature is reduced in populations adapted to thermal stress. Contrary to this, we found that the combined effect was stronger on agricultural populations genetically adapted to pesticides as compared to reference populations that are not genetically adapted and, hence, multi-stress resulted in similar pesticide tolerance in both populations. This indicates that the genetic adaptation is beneficial only under pesticide stress and that this advantage is offset under multi-stress conditions. The reduction in pesticide tolerance under thermal stress may be attributed to an energy trade-off as a result of multiple stress, thus revealing the costs of physiological adaptation (Rivero et al., 2011). The reduction in tolerance in genetically adapted populations could be due to extreme stress, which leads to the exhaustion of organisms since the additional stress may trigger strong effects even in adapted organisms (Verheyen and Stoks, 2019).

## 3.6 Conclusions

In rapidly changing climates, organisms are increasingly exposed to a multitude of stressors. The adaptation to stressors is beneficial under a single-stressor environment, such as adaptation to pesticides in agricultural streams. In contrast, under multiple stress of pesticides and elevated temperatures, the adaptation (either genetic or physiological) loses its advantage. The general fitness of genetically adapted populations is compromised and the populations that exhibit a plastic response may perform better under fluctuating environmental conditions.

# 3.7 Acknowledgments

We acknowledge the German Academic Exchange Service (Deutscher Akademischer Austauschdienst, DAAD) for financially supporting A.S through a doctoral fellowship. Data on the macroinvertebrate community structure (SPEAR<sub>pesticide</sub>) and  $TU_{max}$  was obtained from the KgM "Kleingewässermonitoring" project, including support by the Helmholtz long-range strategic research funding (POF III), the Helmholtz MOSES project (Modular Observation Solutions for Earth Systems) and the KgM project of the Umweltbundesamt (Federal Environment Agency), funding number UBA 3717 63 403 0.

# 3.8 Author contributions

A.S., N.S., and M.L. conceptualized the study, A.S. conducted the field collection of test organisms and experimental investigations, A.S. provided the data, A.S., N.S., and M.L. conducted formal analysis, A.S. wrote the first draft of the manuscript, N.S. and M.L. reviewed the manuscript and provided the necessary amendments, and M.L. provided supervision. All authors contributed to the final version of the manuscript.

# 3.9 Competing interests

The authors declare no competing interests

# 4

# Pesticide selection reduces genetic diversity

#### 4.1 Abstract

Low levels of pesticide contamination, already below the acceptable concentrations, affect vulnerable species. Insensitive species, on the other hand, can adapt to pesticide pressure. Although numerous studies have identified fitness costs in adapted individuals, the potential propagation of effects from individual genetic composition to community composition at the landscape level is unknown. Here we show for 38 small streams that pesticide exposure at the sub-individual level resulted in a reduced genetic diversity and altered genetic composition in adapted individuals of the dominant crustacean Gammarus pulex. Specifically, with increasing contamination, an AFLP-assay identified for 451 loci in 1035 individuals an increased frequency of "high contamination alleles" and a decrease of "low contamination alleles". This altered genetic structure was not explained by geographical distance between the sites but by pesticide exposure. At the individual level, this genetic adaptation of G. pulex from contaminated sites was linked to a lower per capita growth rate. Nevertheless, at community level, G. pulex contributed nearly one half to the total macroinvertebrate abundance at sites with high contamination. At

the same time, however, we have also observed a decline in competing vulnerable species. We conclude that pesticide contamination at already very low toxic pressure select for tolerant genotypes with less performant individuals, and further hypothesize that dominant species may nevertheless persist due to reduced interspecific competition with declining vulnerable species.

Key words: Pesticides, local adaptation, fitness, population genetics, macroinvertebrates

# 4.2 Introduction

The decline of vulnerable species in agricultural streams is mainly due to pesticide contamination, even below regulatory acceptable concentrations (Beketov et al., 2013; Galic et al., 2017; M Liess et al., 2021b). Very low toxic pressure may thus determine evolutionary and -ecological processes responsible for the current loss in biodiversity (Jaureguiberry et al., 2022) and leading to an adapted community as quantified by the SPEARpesticides (Matthias Liess & Ohe, 2005) and PICT concept (Rotter et al., 2015). These community changes are determined by direct effects of low concentrations on vulnerable species(Matthias Liess & Beketov, 2011), in conjunction with a comparative tolerance of insensitive species (Matthias Liess & Ohe, 2005), and altered competition between sensitive and insensitive species (Matthias Liess & Beketov, 2011; Matthias Liess et al., 2013) as well as sub-populations with contrasting pesticide sensitivity (Becker & Liess, 2017).

Individual tolerance is determined by physiological acclimation, epigenetic modifications (Wolf & Wade, 2009) and/or genetic adaptation (Medina et al., 2007; Ribeiro & Lopes, 2013). Physiological acclimation often provides a short-term solution to cope with stress (Ghalambor et al., 2007; Pigliucci, 2005) and is limited through resource allocation(Auld et al., 2010). In contrast, a long-term exposure requires evolutionary adaptation (Major et al., 2018). Among other mechanisms (Gaines et al., 2020), genetic adaptation involves evolution of tolerance at the population level with selection of the most tolerant genotypes (Lopes et al., 2004; Orr et al., 2022) that may initially lead to reduced genetic variability (Coors et al., 2009; Jansen et al., 2011) and/or changes in allele frequency in case of

specific alleles based adaptation (Gouin et al., 2019). Consequently, populations may suffer from inbreeding due to increased levels of homozygosity of deleterious alleles, potentially resulting in local extinctions (Frankham, 2005; Keller & Waller, 2002). Therefore, understanding whether tolerance to contaminants is transient or, instead, has a genetic basis, is crucial as genetic adaptive responses may carry substantial fitness costs that lower the performance of populations under fluctuating conditions (Convey & Peck, 2019; Heim et al., 2018). These adaptive responses might also be influenced by distance to nearby refuge sections. For example, adaptation to pesticide was reduced when distance to nearby refuge sections was low, allowing migration of individuals (J. M. Becker et al., 2020; Shahid et al., 2018). Furthermore, pesticide tolerance development in G. pulex was also reduced by the presence of competing species (Becker & Liess, 2017).

Although there are numerous investigations on contamination induced genetic adaptations, understanding their ecological consequences in natural populations is still in its infancy. This is because the potential propagation of effects from the individual trade-offs up to the community composition at the landscape level are unknown. To identify these processes, we quantified the ecologically relevant short-term peak exposure of agricultural pesticides in 38 small streams with a wide range of contamination. As biological endpoints, we determined the whole invertebrate community in streams, and for G. pulex, a common benthic shredder in European streams(Jażdżewski, 1980) we analyzed the genetic structure applying AFLP (Amplified Fragment Length Polymorphism) technique developed by Vos et al., (Vos et al., 1995) as the genome of G. pulex is not sequenced yet. Furthermore, we quantified the per capita growth rate of G. pulex populations in streams with different pesticide loads. We hypothesized that: (i) Increasing pesticide exposure leads to increased tolerance of G. pulex, (ii) populations with increased pesticide tolerance are characterized by lower genetic diversity, (iii) the distribution of alleles in populations differs according to the level of contamination, (iv) genetic adaptation negatively impact individual fitness, (v) tolerance development, genetic diversity and allele frequency of G. pulex populations from contaminated sites is influenced by exchange with nonadapted population from nearby refuge areas, and (vi) the dominant crustacean G. pulex may compensate the negative consequences of adaptation through a reduced interspecific competition with vulnerable species.

#### 4.3 Materials and Methods

#### 4.3.1 Study sites and sample collection

In the present study, we collected G. pulex from 38 streams in Germany during 2018–2019 (Sites details Figure C.1 and Table C.1, (Matthias Liess et al., 2021)). Among these sites, 25 were contaminated with environmentally relevant levels of pesticides (log TU<sub>max</sub>  $\geq$  -3.0) (M Liess et al., 2021b), while 13 were contaminated with considerably low concentrations and thus considered as reference streams. The sites covered a variety of stream habitats such as numerous types of sediments, plants, organic matter and morphology (Matthias Liess et al., 2021). Since the present study focused on effects of pesticide contamination, therefore it was made sure there is no input from wastewater treatment plants or industrial facilities. Contrary to contaminated streams, the reference sites were located within or at the edge of forest (Matthias Liess et al., 2021). The test organism, G. pulex, were sampled using kick-nets (0.5 mm) in, (i) Summer 2018 (April-June): during the peak pesticide application period conforming high pesticide exposure, (ii) Spring 2019 (March-April): before the beginning of main pesticide application, and (iii) Autumn 2019 (October-November): 3 - 4 months after main pesticide application (Matthias Liess et al., 2021) both conforming to "low pesticide exposure" in the field. To avoid the possibility of pseudo-replicates, we correlated the pesticide toxicity of the year 2018 and 2019, where the contamination between the years differed by 41%. For acute sensitivity tests, approximately 100 individuals were collected from each site only in 2019 and transported to the laboratory under constant aeration and cool boxes. For genetic analysis, 30 individuals were collected from 38 sites and stored in absolute ethanol. Additionally, the physicochemical parameters such as temperature, pH, and dissolved oxygen (DO) were also measured to make sure that these environmental parameters were normal for gammarids (Table C.1). The organisms for acute tests were kept overnight at 16°C under continuous aeration before exposure to pesticide. For genetic analysis, samples were frozen at  $-20^{\circ}$ C in absolute ethanol until further analysis. A detailed description of pesticide sampling and analytics is provided in Liess et al. (2021) (M Liess et al., 2021b). A complete list of pesticide contamination and site description is also provided at the public data repository (Matthias Liess et al., 2021). In addition, forested stream sections were identified that may serve as potential refuge areas. The distance to the closest refuge sections was measured using Google Maps. We considered refuge sections both upstream and downstream as *G. pulex* can migrate in both directions.

#### 4.3.2 Quantification of pesticide contamination

The pesticide contamination in the streams was measured by collecting rain-event-triggered water samples (Liess et al., 1999) under the Kleingewassermonitoring (KgM) project (https:// www.ufz.de/kgm/) (Liess et al., 2021b). During sampling, 5 mL aliquots were pumped every 5 min from the stream at 10-20 cm depth for 3 h 20 min, yielding unfiltered, cooled (4 °C) composite water samples of about 200 ml. The number of samples for each site varied from one to six, depending on the rainfall events. A total of 108 chemicals comprised of insecticides, fungicides, and herbicides, were analyzed in the water samples. Targeted substances were analyzed using liquid chromatography-high-resolution mass spectrometry [LC-HRMS, Ultimate 3000 LC system coupled to a Q Exactive Plus MS equipped with a heated electrospray ionization (ESI) source, all from Thermo Scientific]. The maximum toxic unit (TU<sub>max</sub>) was calculated as suggested by Liess and Ohe (Liess and von der Ohe, 2005) since several field studies conducted in small streams show that pesticide effects on macroinvertebrate communities are best explained by TU<sub>max</sub> (Liess et al., 2021b; Liess and von der Ohe, 2005; Schäfer et al., 2012). Effects of pesticides on macroinvertebrates were quantified using the SPEAR<sub>Pesticides</sub> (SPEcies At Risk) bioindicator, which quantifies the toxic pressure of pesticides based on the proportion of macroinvertebrates classified as highly vulnerable to pesticides ("SPEcies At Risk") to the total number of macroinvertebrates (Liess and von der Ohe, 2005). A low SPEAR value indicates high effects of pesticides and hence high pesticide exposure. A detailed description of the approach is provided in Liess et al. (Liess et al., 2021b).

#### 4.3.3 Selection of Insecticide and Acute Toxicity Tests

In order to analyze pesticide sensitivity of populations, we used clothianidin, a neonicotinoid insecticide commonly applied in agriculture and has often been detected in small streams of the study area (Knillmann et al., 2018; Liess et al., 2021b). The acute sensitivity of G. pulex to the neonicotinoid was tested following the OECD guidelines for chemical testing (OECD, 2004) and the rapid tests for community level risk assessment (Kefford, 2013). A 40 mg/L stock solution was prepared in distilled water using DANTOP (500 g/kg, Spiess-Urania Chemical GmbH, Germany) and stirred overnight on a magnetic stirrer. Individuals of G. pulex were acclimatized for 10 days in a climate chamber preset at 16 °C, a 16:8 light–dark cycle under constant aeration and fed with  $\sim 6$  g of wet weight of preconditioned leaves (Siddique et al., 2020). After acclimation to lab conditions, organisms were exposed to a range of sublethal to lethal concentrations of clothianidin. Five clothianidin concentrations (i.e., 0, 8, 40, 200, and 1000 µg/L) were prepared by diluting the stock solution in ADaM. Briefly, 16 individuals from each population were exposed to each test concentration of clothianidin for 96 h and kept in climate chambers at 16°C with a 16:8 light-dark cycle and continuous aeration. Immobility was considered as endpoint and recorded after every 24 h. Individuals were considered as immobile when they did not show body movement within 30 s after probing with a glass rod. Acute toxicity experiments were only performed with populations collected in 2019.

To determine the actual concentrations of insecticides used for acute test, we collected 1000 mL samples of stock and working solutions. Samples were analyzed by Wessling GmbH, Landsberg OT, Oppin, Germany, using a Thermo Fisher Scientific TSQ 8000 Evo Triple Quadrupole gas chromatography–mass spectrometry (GC–MS/MS). The detection limit of the instrument was 5.7 ng/L. The analytical column used was a TG–5HT guard column with a 0.53 mm ID and a 0.15  $\mu$ m film thickness (Thermo Fisher Scientific, USA). The software TraceFinder 3.2 (Thermo Fisher Scientific) was applied for data processing. Actual concentrations

recovered from the samples were in acceptable boundaries ( $\pm 10\%$ ) to the nominal concentrations.

#### 4.3.4 Population genetic diversity assessment

Genetic structure and diversity parameters of *G. pulex* populations were analyzed using amplified fragment length polymorphisms (AFLP) in a total of 1035 individuals from 38 sites (25–30 individuals per sites) during 2018 and 2019. AFLP is highly reproducible and larger numbers of amplified products can be generated in a single reaction(Villalobos-Barrantes et al., 2015), and have successfully been applied for the detection of genetic loci influenced by contamination showing potential for understanding the evolution deriving forces(Bach and Dahllof, 2012; Costa et al., 2012; Markert et al., 2010). Initially, we tested two primer combinations AAC/CTT and ACC/CTG (EcoRI/MseI) followed by Bach et al., (Bach and Dahllof, 2012) and selected one primer combination AAC/CTT for final analysis, Table C.2. A total of 451 polymorphic bands were obtained and used for further analysis.

#### 4.3.5 DNA extraction and AFLP assay

Genomic DNA was extracted from each individual *G. pulex* using Dneasy Blood and tissue kit (Qiagen, Germany) following manufacturer's guidelines with minor modifications to increase the concentration of DNA required for AFLP. DNA integrity was checked on 1.5 % agarose gel, and DNA concentration was quantified using a NanoDrop spectrophotometer (NanoDrop Technologies Inc.).

AFLP assay used in the present study is a modified version of (Vos et al., 1995) and (Paun and Schönswetter, 2012). We performed DNA restriction and adaptor ligation in a single step. Briefly, for each individual 400 - 500 ng of DNA was double–digested with 5 U EcoRI (Invitrogen) and 1 U MseI (New England Biolabs) and ligated in 10 µl total volume including 0.6 U T4 DNA ligase (Invitrogen),  $10 \times T4$  Ligase buffer (Invitrogen), 0.5 M NaCl, 1mg/ml BSA, 5 µM MseI adaptor pair (Invitrogen), 5 µM EcoRI adaptor pair (Invitrogen) for 3 h at 37 °C followed by 3 h at 17 °C. MseI

and EcoRI adapter pairs were heated at 95 °C for 5 minutes separately and cooled down at room temperature before adding to Restriction-Ligation reaction. The efficiency of the restriction reaction was checked on 1.5 % agarose gel in 1 × TBE buffer. The Restriction-Ligation products were diluted 10-fold with 0.1  $\times$  TE buffer and stored at -20°C until further processing. Pre-selective amplifications were then performed on 5  $\mu$ l of diluted RL products in 10 µl volumes containing 10 mM dNTP-mix, 1 µM each of EcoRI and MseI preselective primers (premixed) (Invitrogen), 1 U Hotstart Taq polymerase (Invitrogen) all in  $10 \times PCR$  buffer (Invitrogen) and ddH<sub>2</sub>O. The PCR conditions for the preselective amplification were: one hold of 72°C for 2 min, 20 cycles of (94 °C for 1 sec; 56 °C for 30 s, 72 °C for 2 minutes), and finish with a hold of 60 °C for 30 minutes. Preselective products were diluted 10-fold with  $1 \times 0.1M$  TE buffer. Selective amplifications were performed on 5  $\mu$ l of diluted preselective products in 10 µl volumes containing 10 mM dNTP-mix, 1 µM of EcoRI and 5 µM MseI selective primers (Invitrogen), 1 U Hotstart Taq polymerase (Invitrogen) all in  $10 \times PCR$  buffer (Invitrogen) and ddH<sub>2</sub>O. The cycling conditions for selective PCR were as follows: one hold of 94 °C for 2 minutes, 9 cycles of (94 °C for 1 sec, 65 °C; decreasing 1 °C every cycle for 30 sec and 72 °C for 2 minutes), followed by 23 cycles of (94 °C for 1 sec, 56 °C for 30 sec and 72 °C for 2 min) and finish with a hold of 60 °C for 30 minutes. Table C.4 provides information on choice of adaptor and primer constructions. Negative controls (TE buffer used as template) were processed in parallel. The final products were sequenced on the ABI Prism 3130XL Genetic Analyzer (Applied Biosystems) with Red 500 DNA size standard and analyzed in GeneMapper 5.0.

#### 4.3.6 Genetic analysis

GeneMapper 5.0 (Applied Biosystems) was used to score AFLP alleles. DNA fragments less than 50 base pairs in length were excluded from the analysis to minimize the probability of including homoplastic AFLP bands. Among 451 loci, a maximum of 200 AFLP alleles were found in individuals. Peak data were converted to create a binary matrix by scoring for presence (1) or absence (0) of a DNA fragment. A data qualification selection was performed by which AFLP markers with less than 5% abundance in total dataset (Bonin et al., 2005), and individuals with less than 140 AFLP markers were excluded. GenAlex v. 6.51 was used to calculate basic genetic statistics including private alleles (np), average number of alleles per locus (Na), percentage of polymorphic loci (PLP), unbiased expected heterozygosity (uHe), and expected heterozygosity (He). The Nei's genetic distances and genetic differentiation (PhiPT) were also calculated in GenAlEx v. 6.501(R Peakall & Smouse, 2020; ROD Peakall & Smouse, 2006). Population differentiation was further quantified by analysis of molecular variance (AMOVA). The program I4A, inbreeding for AFLPs, (Chybicki et al., 2011) was used to estimate the inbreeding coefficient (Fis) for each population. Estimates were calculated at three different values (0.1, 1, and 5) for each parameter, alpha and beta (Oleksa et al., 2013), using 10,000 rejected steps and 20,000 sampling steps. By computing different values of alpha and beta, we assess how much the inbreeding coefficients change when the shape parameters change. The accuracy of this estimate is determined by comparing the similarities between the loglikelihood values among the different Bdistribution parameters. High similarity implies high accuracy.

The program Past 3.25 (Hammer et al., 2001) was used to access genetic diversity by applying Bray–Curtis similarity index on individuals within and between populations at each sampling site, thus creating a similarity matrix between all individuals. A Bray–Curtis similarity matrix was used as input for ANOSIM. To test whether the geographic distance accounted for eventual differences observed in genetic diversity between populations, the geographic distances between each pair of sites were measured based on the waterway GPS positions and correlated to the pairwise genetic dissimilarity based on ANOSIM computed by SIMPER.

#### 4.3.7 Populations' per capita growth assessment

The long-term effects of pesticide exposure in field and adaptation were analyzed by culturing *G. pulex* under pesticide-free conditions in the laboratory(Siddique et al., 2020). In general, maintenance of culture followed the descriptions given by (McCahon and Pascoe, 1988a, b) with certain modifications. Briefly, 100 medium-sized individuals from each population were cultured in a 5 L covered glass tank filled with 3 L aerated artificial stream water (ADaM) (Klüttgen et al., 1994). Organisms were

fed ad libitum with pre–conditioned– alder leaves and stones (Siddique et al., 2020). Continuous aeration was provided in order to avoid oxygen shortage during experiments and cultures. To maintain the quality of the culture medium, 500 mL of medium was replaced by fresh medium every 14 days and 1500 mL of old medium was replaced with fresh medium every 30 days, and dead organisms were removed. The culture was maintained at 16 °C, with 60% humidity and artificial light (12 h light:12 h dark) in a climate chamber. Adults and offspring were counted every month until four months. For population growth, expressed as the per capita growth rate, the total number of individuals was divided by the initial number of individuals.

#### 4.3.8 Macroinvertebrate abundance and population size

Under KgM project, macroinvertebrate from each site were collected from 20 sub-samples from each stream considering different types of habitat. The samples were stored in ethanol and were determined under microscope. Each individual of species in a sample was counted to determine abundance and population size.

#### 4.3.9 Data analysis

All the statistical analyses were carried out using RStudio (V 1.2.1335) and R (V 3.5.1) for Windows, unless otherwise mentioned. For the acute sensitivity, the concentration that affected 50% of the exposed population (EC50) was calculated using a generalized linear model with a quasibinomial error distribution and a logit link function (V 3.0–1)(Ritz et al., 2015). For the comparison of EC<sub>50</sub> values (spring vs autumn), t–test was applied. The local contamination was based on TU<sub>max</sub> values derived from water samples collected in summer 2018 and 2019. Similarly, for the quantification of ecological effects, the SPEAR was calculated based on invertebrate data collected in June for both years. Two sample t–tests (when the assumption of equal variances) were applied to compare genetic parameters among reference and agricultural populations. In case the data were not normally distributed, Wilcoxon's rank sum test was used.

Populations were divided into three groups based on TUmax range from -6 to -4.1, -4 to -2.1 and -2 to 0 and named as "Low Contamination", "Medium contamination" and "High contamination" respectively and compared using t-tests. The "low contamination alleles" were quantified based on the allele frequency significantly higher in the low contamination populations as compared to contaminated populations, and average frequency of these alleles for each population was used for further analysis. Similarly, the "high contamination alleles" were quantified based on the allele frequency significantly higher in the high contamination populations as compared to reference populations, and average frequency of these alleles for each populations, and average frequency significantly higher in the high contamination populations as compared to reference populations, and average frequency of these alleles for each populations, and average frequency of these alleles for each populations.

For the population growth, expressed as the per capita growth rate, the total number of individuals was divided by the initial number of individuals. To analyze the association between different variables, linear regression was applied. The assumptions of homoscedasticity and of normally distributed residuals were confirmed by visual inspection, plotting residuals vs. fitted values, residuals vs. leverage, and Q–Q plots.

## 4.4 Results

# 4.4.1 Pesticide Exposure, invertebrate community structure and adaptation of G. pulex

The sites studied were characterized by pesticide concentrations resulting in a toxic pressure ranging from severe effects on macroinvertebrate communities to no effects (log TU<sub>max</sub> –0.13 to –6.0). Neonicotinoids and carbamate insecticides exerted the highest toxic pressure. Their ecological effects were identified with the bio indicator SPEAR<sub>pesticides</sub> (proportion of vulnerable species), which negatively correlated to the in-stream pesticide contamination (adj.  $R^2 = 0.24$ , p < 0.001; Figure 4.1a). Also, pesticide tolerance of *G. pulex* increased with increasing toxic pressure. The 48 h  $EC_{50}$  of *G. pulex* to insecticide clothianidin positively correlated with the  $TU_{max}$  (adj.  $R^2 = 0.51$ , p < 0.005, Figure 4.1b). Other field parameters potentially affecting the pesticides tolerance are shown in correlation plot Figure C.2.



**Figure 4.1. Effect of pesticide exposure.** Relationship between site specific pesticide contamination (TU<sub>max</sub>) and (a) macroinvertebrate community structure quantified as SPEAR<sub>pesticides</sub> and (b) pesticide tolerance of *G. pulex* (quantified as EC<sub>50</sub> of the insecticide clothianidin after 48h constant exposure, log–transformed). Means  $\pm$  95% confidence intervals are shown.

#### 4.4.2 Genetic diversity and genetic structure of G. pulex

The primer combinations selected in the present study yielded 451 polymorphic loci across 1035 individuals from 38 populations. Non-metric Multi-Dimensional Scaling (NMDS) showed organisms from agricultural and reference populations as two slightly overlapping clusters (Figure C.3). The organisms are designated to green and red group based on pesticide contamination with a cut-of value TU<sub>max</sub> -3.2. Two agricultural sites were located within 20m to the refuge sections, therefore have high genetic diversity and similarity to reference sites. The overall within population genetic diversity based on Bray-Curtis index was significantly lower in contaminated populations as compared to reference populations (5.2% vs 17.4%, Table C.3). Also, the average between populations (34% vs. 50%, p < 0.001). Percentage of polymorphic loci (PLP), average

number of alleles per locus (Na), expected heterozygosity (He), and unbiased heterozygosity (uHe) was higher in reference populations (details; Table C.1). A significant, albeit weak relationship was observed between the pairwise genetic dissimilarity and geographic distance between populations (adj.  $R^2 = 0.039$ , p < 0.001, Figure C.4). Detailed pairwise genetic dissimilarity and geographic distance is provided in Table C.4. Although in general, populations were significantly differentiated from each other (overall PhiPT = 0.45, p < 0.001), the contaminated populations were more differentiated from each other (average PhiPT = 0.51) as compared to reference populations (average PhiPT = 0.33, pairwise PhiPT Table C.5). The AMOVA analysis revealed that in reference streams, on overage 67% of the variation was observed within population and 33% among populations. Whereas, in contaminated streams, 49% variation was observed within populations and 51% among populations.

#### 4.4.3 Genetic diversity and adaptation of G. pulex

We observed a significant negative association between pesticide contamination in streams (TU<sub>max</sub>) and population genetic diversity of *G. pulex* (adj.  $R^2 = 0.63$ , p < 0.001, Figure 4.2a). Based on the toxic pressure exerted by pesticides (TU<sub>max</sub>), we divided the populations into three groups, i.e., low (TU<sub>max</sub> –6 to –4.1), moderate (TU<sub>max</sub> –4 to –2.1), and high contamination (TU<sub>max</sub>; –2.0 to 0). We revealed a higher genetic diversity in populations from low contamination sites (mean 17.57%) followed by moderate (mean 9.45%, p < 0.005) and high contamination sites (mean 5.18%, p = 0.015, Figure 4.2a). Furthermore, adapted populations were characterized by the reduced genetic variability (adj.  $R^2 = 0.504$ , p < 0.005, Figure 4.2b), which also showed association with SPEARpesticides, shannon index, total number of insect taxa, and % EPT species (Figure C.5). Furthermore, correlation plot for additional





Figure 4.2. Pesticide exposure, genetic diversity and adaptation of *G. pulex*. Relationship between site specific pesticide contamination  $(TU_{max})$  and within population genetic diversity in *G. pulex* (a). Total pesticide contamination: The green box represents populations with field exposure from  $TU_{max}$  –6 to –4.1, the yellow box represents populations from  $TU_{max}$  –4 to –2.1, and the green box represent populations from  $TU_{max}$  –2 to 0. Asterisks show significant differences between the groups. (b) Clothianidin tolerance (log EC<sub>50</sub>) and within population genetic diversity in *G. pulex* populations. Grey area represents ± 95% confidence interval and dots represent data points.

#### 4.4.4 Contamination specific alleles in G. pulex

The reference and contaminated populations showed different distribution of alleles over 451 loci. We observed that the average frequency of 52 alleles termed "low contamination alleles" was significantly higher in populations at sites with low pesticide contamination (0.54 vs. 0.34, p <0.05), and also associated with site-specific pesticide contamination (adj.  $R^2 = 0.43$ , p < 0.001,). Accordingly, the average frequency of these alleles was significantly different among populations from low, moderate and high contamination sites revealing a toxic pressure dependent decline in allele frequency (Figure 4.3a).



Figure 4.3. Pesticide exposure and contamination-specific alleles of *G. pulex*. Relationship between site specific pesticide contamination  $(TU_{max})$  and (a) average allele frequency of "low contamination alleles" in *G. pulex* populations based on alleles significantly higher in streams with low toxic pressure  $(TU_{max} \text{ range from } -6 \text{ to } -4)$ , (b) average allele frequency of "high contamination alleles" in *G. pulex* populations based on alleles significantly higher in streams with low toxic pressure  $(TU_{max} \text{ range from } -6 \text{ to } -4)$ , (b) average allele frequency of "high contamination alleles" in *G. pulex* populations based on alleles significantly higher in streams with high toxic pressure  $(TU_{max} \text{ range from } -2 \text{ to } -0)$ . The green box represents populations with field exposure from  $TU_{max} -6 \text{ to } -4.1$ , the yellow box represents populations with field exposure from  $TU_{max} -4 \text{ to } -2.1$ , and the red box represents populations with field exposure from  $TU_{max} -2 \text{ to } 0$ . Grey area represents  $\pm 95\%$  confidence interval and dots represent data points.

For populations occurring in highly pesticide contaminated sites we observed that the average frequency of 14 alleles termed "high contamination alleles" was significantly higher (0.54 vs. 0.34, p < 0.05), and positively correlated with site-specific pesticide contamination (adj.

 $R^2 = 0.55$ , p < 0.001, Figure 4.3b). Accordingly, the average frequency of these alleles was significantly different among populations from low, moderate and high contamination sites revealing toxic pressure dependent increase in allele frequency. Additionally, the ratio of high to low contamination alleles increased with increasing toxic pressure at sites (adjusted  $R^2 = 0.55$ , p < 0.001, Figure C.7).

#### 4.4.5 Fitness trade-offs in genetically adapted populations

Pesticide adapted populations of *G. pulex* were characterized by a reduced per capita growth when cultured under non–contaminated conditions (adj.  $R^2 = 0.92$ , p < 0.005, Figure 4.4a). Furthermore, average per capita growth was associated with within population genetic diversity (adj.  $R^2 = 0.64$ , p < 0.05, Figure 4.4b).



Figure 4.4. Fitness costs of exposure to pesticides in *G. pulex*. (a) Relationship between site specific pesticide contamination  $(TU_{max})$  and per capita growth of gammarid populations cultured under non–contaminated conditions (average per capita growth in cultures from month 2 to 4), (b) Linear regression between genetic diversity and average per capita growth of gammarid populations cultured under non–contaminated conditions. Grey area represents  $\pm$  95 % confidence interval and dots represent data points.

#### 4.4.6 Distance to refuge and genetic composition of G. pulex

*G. pulex* acquired a further increased tolerance when distance to nearby refuge area was high presumably decreasing the exchange rate between adapted and non-adapted populations (adj.  $R^2 = 0.22$ , p = 0.06, Figure 4.5a). Additionally, increasing distance to refuge sections reduced the genetic diversity (adj.  $R^2 = 0.36$ , p < 0.001, Figure 4.5b) and frequency of "low contamination alleles" (adj.  $R^2 = 0.42$ , p < 0.001, Figure 4.5c).



Figure 4.5. The effect of nearby refuge areas. Relationship between distance to refuge and (a) Clothianidin tolerance (48h  $EC_{50}$ ) in *G. pulex*, (b) Within population genetic diversity and (c) Frequency of low contamination alleles in the studied populations of *G. pulex*. Grey area represents  $\pm$  95% confidence interval and dots represent data points.

#### 4.4.7 Inbreeding in G. pulex and relation to vulnerable competitors

With increasing abundance of *G. pulex*, inbreeding coefficient of respective populations slightly decreased ( $R^2 = 0.12$ , p < 0.05, Figure C.8). In contrast, the inbreeding coefficient was not associated with pesticide contamination or genetic diversity (p > 0.1, Figure C.9). Also, abundance of populations was not affected by pesticide exposure (Figure C.10). However, *G. pulex* population density decreased with the increasing occurrence of vulnerable competitors. Such a relationship was established for EPT species (Ephemeroptera, Plecoptera, Trichoptera; adj.  $R^2 = 0.21$ , p < 0.01) and also for the proportion of vulnerable species (SPEARpesticides; adj.  $R^2 = 0.13$ , p < 0.01) Figure 4.6a and b. Correlation plot of abundance of macroinvertebrates groups is given in Figure C.11.



**Figure 4.6.** Abundance of *G. pulex*. Relationship between Abundance of *G. pulex* and (a) SPEAR<sub>Pesticides</sub>, and (b) Percentage of vulnerable species. Grey area represents  $\pm$  95% confidence interval and dots represent data points.

#### 4.5 Discussion

Pesticide exposure triggers evolutionary processes in natural populations (Medina et al., 2007), and also alters the macroinvertebrate community composition (M Liess et al., 2021b; Rumschlag et al., 2020; Stehle & Schulz, 2015). There are numerous investigations on contamination induced genetic adaptations, however, understanding their ecological consequences in natural populations is still in its infancy. This is because the potential propagation of effects from the individual genetic composition up to the community composition at the landscape level are unknown. In detail, relevant biological effects include: (i) increased tolerance and a reduction in genetic diversity as an outcome of contamination (Bach & Dahllof, 2012), (ii) toxic pressure dependent distribution of alleles at ecological relevant ultra-low exposure concentrations, (iii) fitness trade-offs associated with genetic adaptation (Heim et al., 2018), (iv) impact of geographical distance to the noncontaminated refuge populations (J. M. Becker et al., 2020; Shahid et al., 2018) and (v) the interspecific competition with vulnerable species. A few of these processes have been investigated to some extent. However, to the best of our knowledge, this is the first study that integrates the processes linked to pesticide exposure on all these levels of biological organization.

At community level, we observed a decline in vulnerable species already below the regulatory compliant concentrations (TU<sub>max</sub>  $\geq -3$ ), mostly contributed by neonicotinoids and carbamate insecticides. These results are comparable with other investigations that identified strong impacts of nonpoint-source pesticide pollution on streams in Australia (Beketov et al., 2013), Europe (Beketov et al., 2013; M Liess et al., 2021b; Matthias Liess & Ohe, 2005), North America (Chiu et al., 2016) and South America (Hunt et al., 2017). A situation that is in contrast to the aims of the regulatory authorization of pesticides that is supposed to prevent unacceptable effects in the environment (Australian Environment Agency, 2009; EFSA (2013); US Government, 2004).

At individual level, we observed up to 4.5-fold (average 2.2-fold) increased pesticide tolerance in comparatively less sensitive specie G. pulex collected from contaminated streams. Such a development of pesticide tolerance in different aquatic species such as G. pulex(Siddique et al., 2021) and Daphnia magna(Almeida et al., 2021) have been observed. Similarly, local adaptation to ore mine effluents have also been observed in Dugesia gonocephala (Weigand et al., 2018). The acquisition of increased tolerance in a natural population may occur through environmentally induced physiological adjustments (acclimation)(Maxwell et al., 2014; Siddique et al., 2021), epigenetic modifications (Wolf & Wade, 2009), loss of sensitive individuals, and selection of more tolerant genotypes which may reduce the genetic diversity (Forbes & Calow, 1996; Van Straalen et al., 2011). The latter could be the reason for reduced genetic diversity in the current study. Furthermore, reduced genetic diversity explained by toxic pressure reveal that even such low concentrations may significantly shape genetic metrics of populations and may describe the loss of sensitive species under longterm exposure that have so far not been studied.

In general, genetic erosion is widely accepted as a potential evolutionary outcome of long-term exposure to contaminants(Nowak et al., 2009; Ribeiro & Lopes, 2013; Ungherese et al., 2010). For example, low genetic diversity in >700 aquatic species from extensive cropland(Crossley et al., 2022), and reduction in allelic richness was observed in *G. pulex* from

wastewater contaminated rivers(Švara et al., 2022). However, in these cases, investigations only focused on high exposures and did not investigate the effect of low exposure and possibility of local adaptation. Furthermore, tolerance acquired through genetic adaptation based on specific alleles may change allele frequency as a result of increased number of tolerant individuals in a population (Gouin et al., 2019). Likewise, in the present study, we observed a decrease in average alleles frequency of "low contamination alleles" with increasing toxic pressure. This change in frequency was significantly different among populations from low, moderate and high pesticide exposure indicating loss of alleles already at concentrations 3 to 4 orders of magnitude below the EC<sub>50</sub>. Reduction in frequency of some alleles could be attributed to long-term consequence of contamination that selects for tolerant genotypes as mentioned earlier(Ribeiro & Lopes, 2013). On the other hand, an increasing average frequency of "high contamination alleles" with pesticide contamination observed in the present study indicates effects on allelic distribution on such a low range of pesticide contamination. Further, this suggests that the "high contamination alleles" might be functionally associated with tolerance conferring mechanisms required to cope with pesticide stress. For instance, the allele frequency of two outlier SNP loci involved in insect cuticle resistance in natural populations of mayfly Andesiops torrens were significantly correlated with high pesticide exposure (Gouin et al., 2019).

Although pesticide exposure was mainly responsible for the observed effects in the investigated streams (M Liess et al., 2021b), several other environmental factors may affect the genetic diversity of populations. For example, geographic distance between sites partially explained the pairwise genetic dissimilarity. Other studies also reported genetic structure of populations partially or completely explained by geographic distance(Svara et al., 2022; Whitehead et al., 2003). Furthermore, historical colonization events in *Gammarus fossarum* (Weiss & Leese, 2016) and barrier effects in *Ancylus fluviatilis* and *D. gonocephala* (Weiss et al., 2022) have been associated with populations genetic structure and differentiation. In addition, abundance of sensitive species may also impact the evolutionary process as tolerance development can be affected by

species diversity (Becker & Liess, 2017). Likewise, we observed a higher genetic diversity in *G. pulex* populations with species richness in the respective streams indicating that the conditions that promotes species diversity may also preserve genetic diversity within species. Such a positive association between genetic– and species diversity has also been reported by Manel et al. (Manel et al., 2020).

Fitness costs are often associated with increased tolerance due to energy trade-offs (Fournier-Level et al., 2019; Siddique et al., 2021). However, it has rarely been reported in natural populations (Jansen et al., 2011; Siddique et al., 2020). We observed that pesticide exposure and genetic adaptation to pesticides were associated with reduced per capita growth in natural populations of G. pulex revealed under non-contaminated conditions. This finding suggests that survival in contaminated streams infers energetic costs reducing the energy available for vital functions and reduces plasticity for survival under slightly different conditions(Marchand et al., 2004). Also other studies revealed that pyrethroid resistant Hyalella azteca exhibited reduced thermal tolerance(Heim et al., 2018), and lower survival and lipid levels(Fulton et al., 2021). However, these trade-offs were revealed in the presence of stressors, unlike our study where the fitness costs were observed under non-contaminated conditions.

Migration of organisms from nearby refuge area often support recovery for pesticide affected individuals (Jeremias Martin Becker et al., 2020; Shahid et al., 2018) and populations (Matthias Liess & von der Ohe, 2005). Likewise, we observed that the increase in clothianidin tolerance was reduced with increasing distance to the nearby refuge area. However, genetic diversity and frequency of "low contamination alleles" increased with decreasing distance to refuge sections, suggesting that migration events from nearby refuge sections supports populations to retain genetic diversity.

Inbreeding coefficient of *G. pulex* populations increased with decreasing abundance. However, nor local pesticide contamination neither reduced genetic diversity did induce inbreeding depression. Similarly, Svara et al. (Svara et al., 2022) reported higher inbreeding coefficient in *G. pulex* from

wastewater contaminated sites as compared to pristine sites, which could also be due to a smaller and thus genetically impoverished population.

On the ecosystem level, we observed that the abundance of G. *pulex* was independent of pesticide contamination (Fig C.10) despite their apparent fitness trade-offs. We hypothesize that this non-existent association of G. *pulex* abundance and pesticide exposure is due to the exposure-induced decline in competing pesticide-vulnerable SPEAR and EPT species. In contrast, species with low or even declining dominance may not be able to compensate individual trade-offs from pesticide effects at the community level (Matthias Liess & Beketov, 2011).

Thus, pesticide exposure at already low toxic pressure causes decline in vulnerable species, while on the other hand, selects tolerant genotypes and individuals with reduced per capita growth in dominant species. We hypothesize that dominant species, however, benefits from reduced interspecific competition with declining vulnerable species. This, we suggest, is a relevant process of species selection to site-specific environmental conditions. Unravelling these underlying mechanisms enables to link effects from genes towards the ecosystem-level.

# 4.6 Acknowledgements

We acknowledge the German Academic Exchange Service (Deutscher Akademischer Austauschdienst, DAAD) for financially supporting A.S. through a doctoral fellowship. We also acknowledge Nicole Schweiger, Ute Lohse, Sabine Kleinsteuber, Kai Winter and Matthias Beck for helping in laboratory work. Data on the macroinvertebrate community structure (SPEAR<sub>pesticide</sub>) and TU<sub>max</sub> obtained from the KgM was "Kleingewässermonitoring" project, including support by the Helmholtz long-range strategic research funding (POF III), the Helmholtz MOSES project (Modular Observation Solutions for Earth Systems), and the KgM project of the Umweltbundesamt (Federal Environment Agency), funding number UBA 3717 63 403 0.

### 4.7 Authors contributions

A.S., N.S., and M.L. conceptualized the study; A.S. conducted the field collection of test organisms, experimental investigations and genetic analyses; A.S. performed the initial analysis; M.L. guided the analytical cognition process; A.S. wrote the first draft of the manuscript, extended by M.L; All authors contributed to the final version of the manuscript.

# 4.8 Competing interests

The authors declare no competing interests

# 5

# Predicting the combined effects of multiple stressors

# 5.1 Abstract

Global change confronts aquatic organisms with multiple stressors causing synergistic effects. Persistent stress, however, leads to adaptation and related trade-offs. The question arises: How can the combined effects of these apparently contradictory processes be predicted? Here we show that pesticide adapted *Gammarus pulex* from agricultural streams were more tolerant to pesticides (clothianidin, prochloraz) as compared to nonadapted populations. However, joint exposure to both pesticides and temperature stress resulted in acute synergistic interactions, and the combined effects were stronger in adapted populations. We hypothesize that the pesticide adaptation reduces general stress capacity of individuals and trade-off process increases sensitivity to the combined stress. The general stress exerted by each of the individual factors was quantified using the Stress Addition Model (SAM). Both pesticides, warming and the reduced stress capacity of adapted populations acted synergistically. We conclude that acute effects of multiple stressors including trade-offs are synergistic and can be predicted by SAM.

### 5.2 Introduction

Planetary Boundaries for climate change, chemical pollution, land use change, and nutrients are transgressing safe limits for maintaining biodiversity (Persson et al., 2022; Rockström et al., 2009). However, these boundaries do not explicitly consider the interactions between different stressors, instead, it focuses on individual stressors in isolation. This is mainly because the interactions between different stressors are complex, the interaction cannot be predicted as no general framework is existing to calculate these interactions. Accordingly, the Planetary Boundaries framework will increase its usefulness for understanding the global risks when stress interactions are predictable.

The combined effects of multiple stressors are generally shaped by their magnitude, modes of action, exposure sequence, and overlap duration, and can be additive (equal to the sum of individual stressors calculated with the respective null model), antagonistic (less than additive), or synergistic (more than additive). Concentration addition is generally observed when two or more chemicals affect the same mode of action or target the same biological pathway (Folt et al., 1999). If organisms are adapted at population and community level (Liess et al., 2013a; Liess et al., 2021c), or show co-variability to stressors, antagonistic interactions can be observed (D. Vinebrooke et al., 2004; Folt et al., 1999). Several investigations have already showed antagonistic effects of multiple stressors at population and community level (Chara-Serna et al., 2019; Cornejo et al., 2019; Mehler et al., 2011). In contrast, synergistic interactions are more likely to be prevalent when the stressors are independent, act on different biological pathways or physiological systems (Darling and Côté, 2008). Acute synergistic interactions have been reported by several investigations (Raby et al., 2019; Shahid et al., 2019; Walker et al., 2022).

Several common pesticides with different modes of action are often applied together as tank mixtures or sequential applications, and hence, cooccur in the environment. A plethora of chemicals can be found in freshwaters, especially after rainfall events (Liess et al., 2021c; Riise et al., 2004; Werner et al., 2004). In the last decade, neonicotinoids were the most commonly applied class of insecticides in the study area and worldwide (Jeschke et al., 2011; Sánchez-Bayo et al., 2016; Simon-Delso et al., 2015b). Azole fungicide prochloraz has also been detected frequently in European surface waters (Kreuger et al., 2010; Liess et al., 2021c; Munze et al., 2017) and are known to interact synergistically with different insecticides such as neonicotinoids (Iwasa et al., 2004), pyrethroids (Kretschmann et al., 2015; Wieczorek et al., 2018) and organophosphates (Sejerøe, 2011). These pesticide mixtures have frequently been detected in small streams located in agricultural landscapes (Liess et al., 2021c; Munze et al., 2017; Shahid et al., 2018). Further, organisms in the field experience sub- or supra-optimal conditions and are forced to cope with complex environmental stress (Holmstrup et al., 2010). Under climate change scenario, extreme temperature is one of the most relevant stressors that can further enhance the effects of pesticides (Piggott et al., 2015; Russo et al., 2018). Increased temperature may pose physiological stress to aquatic organisms by increasing metabolic rate associated with the mechanisms of thermal tolerance (Cherkasov et al., 2006; Feder and Hofmann, 1999). Even though several studies have shown that environmental stress may act synergistically on the biological effects of single toxicants (Liess et al., 2013a; Macaulay et al., 2021a; Meng et al., 2022), it is not clear how adaptation to pesticides influences the interaction between pesticide mixtures and environmental stressors. Adaptation depends on trade-offs between the benefits of immediate stress responses and their long-term fitness costs. Therefore, predicting the combined effects of stressors is not possible without understanding the relevant factors such as mixture toxicity, environmental stress, adaptation, and associated fitness costs. To enable an effective ecosystem management, we need to determine the ecological relevance of each of these factors.

Accordingly, we aim to reveal complex interactions of a frequently detected insecticide clothianidin, and an azole fungicide prochloraz in combination with warming – a most relevant environmental stressor under climate change. Further, we aim to investigate how pesticide adaptation

shapes multiple stress–response relationships. For this purpose, we investigated populations of the widespread crustacean *G. pulex* from contaminated and reference streams and exposed them to a mixture of pesticides and temperature stress. Furthermore, we predicted combined impacts using traditional models for toxicant mixtures (i.e., concentration addition (CA) (Bliss, 1939a) and effect addition (EA) (Loewe and Muischnek, 1926a)) and stress addition model (SAM (Liess et al., 2016b)) designed to predict synergistic interactions between independent stressors. To our best knowledge, this is the initial study to reveal complex interactions of pesticide mixtures, environmental stress, and the fitness cost of pesticide adaptation which may act as a stressor under multi-stress conditions. Due to its high topical relevance, we expect that the approach presented here will be the starting point for a fundamental expansion of our understanding of the effect of multiple stressors.

# 5.3 Materials and Methods

# 5.3.1 Sampling of test organisms and characterization of pesticide pollution

Individuals of *G. pulex* were collected from 12 sites, 8 from pesticide contaminated agricultural streams, and 4 from un-contaminated forested stream sections (considered as the reference group; Supporting Information, Figure D.1). During sampling of test organisms, physicochemical parameters such as dissolved oxygen (DO), pH, electrical conductivity (EC), water temperature (°C), and water level (cm) were measured.

This investigation was conducted as part of the nationwide small stream monitoring (KgM) project(Liess et al., 2021c), and data pertaining to community structure and pesticide pollution were obtained from this dataset. The toxic pressure of pesticide pollution was quantified by analyzing the event-driven runoff samples and grab samples in 2018, 2019, and 2021 during the peak application of pesticides (April – July). Rainevent-triggered water samples were collected using automated (MAXX TP5, Rangendingen, Germany) and bottle samplers (EDS) (Liess and Von

der Ohe, 2005b) to capture run-off-induced peak exposures after rainfall (Liess et al., 1999). Run-off events raise the water level of streams that trigger the samplers to capture peak concentrations. Automated samplers take 5 mL water every 5 min from the stream for 3.3 h, yielding 200 mL of water samples. Collected samples were kept at 4°C in samplers until they were transported to the laboratory within 48 h. Grab samples were collected regularly after every three weeks which is similar to the monitoring practices suggested by the Water Framework Directive (WFD).

A wide range of pesticides (108) and urban toxicants (257) was analyzed. All pesticides were quantified using liquid chromatography MS/MS, whereas, urban toxicants using liquid chromatography – high-resolution mass spectrometry – LC–HRMS as mentioned earlier (Liess et al., 2021c) (for details, see (Reemtsma et al., 2013)).

#### 5.3.2 Calculation of toxicant exposure

To estimate pesticide-induced water toxicity, measured concentrations were transformed into toxic units (TUs) by dividing them with their respective acute  $LC_{50}$  for the standard reference organisms (Sprague, 1970). To further quantify the highest toxic pressure per site, we calculated the maximum toxic unit (TU<sub>max</sub>) (Eq. 5.1, Liess and Ohe (2005)).

$$TU_{max} = \operatorname{Max}_{i=1}^{n} \left[ \log_{10} \left( \frac{Ci}{LC_{50i}} \right) \right]$$
(5.1)

where  $TU_{max}$  is the highest value of the toxic unit, *Ci* is the detected concentration of the pesticide ( $\mu g L^{-1}$ ), and the *LC*<sub>50i</sub> is the respective acute median lethal concentration ( $\mu g L^{-1}$ ) for the most sensitive reference organism. For the calculation of  $TU_{max}$ , *LC*<sub>50</sub> values of the most sensitive species were used and obtained from the Pesticide Properties Database (PPDB) (University of Hertfordshire, 2014) and Ecotoxicology Database System (USEPA, 2014).

#### 5.3.3 Characterizing the ecological effects of pesticides

We used a bio-indicator SPEAR<sub>pesticides</sub> to quantify the long-term impact of pesticides on macroinvertebrate community structure (Liess and Ohe,

2005). The SPEAR index quantifies the toxic pressure of pesticides by classifying macroinvertebrates as vulnerable and nonvulnerable taxa based on different ecological traits. We calculated SPEAR values using the Indicate software (https://systemecology.de/indicate/).

Benthic macroinvertebrates were collected using multi-habitat sampling technique. Briefly, 20 subsamples were collected from representative microhabitats along a 50 m stretch of the stream, using a square-frame kick-net with a surface area of 625 cm<sup>2</sup> (mesh size: 500  $\mu$ m). Collected organisms were filtered through a set of sieves, and preserved in 90% ethanol. Taxa were determined to the family level in the laboratory under stereo-microscope (Zeiss Discovery V20; Oberkochen, Germany). For the calculation of SPEAR values, we used population densities (per m<sup>2</sup>) - the abundance of each family divided by the sampling area.

#### 5.3.4 Exposure to pesticide mixture and temperature stress

The acute toxicity experiments were conducted following the rapid testing and OECD guidelines for testing of chemicals (Kefford, 2013; OECD, 2004). We selected clothianidin and azole fungicide prochloraz for the pesticide mixtures. To prepare clothianidin stock solution, we used DANTOP® (Spiess-Urania Chemical GmbH, Germany) in distilled water, and mixed it overnight on a magnetic stirrer. Whereas, prochloraz stock solution was prepared using DMSO as a solvent. The maximal solvent concentration in treatments was 0.001% [vol/vol] which is far below the LOEC (Bowman et al., 1981) and the solvent limit recommended by OECD test guidelines (OECD, 2000). Stock solutions were further diluted in Artificial Daphnia medium (ADaM; (Klüttgen et al., 1994) to prepare the required test concentrations. For mixture toxicity and multiple stress, we set up a full factorial design with nine clothianidin concentrations (0, 0.01, 0.1, 1, 10, 100, 215, 465 and 1000  $\mu$ g/L) × three prochloraz treatments (0, 1, 10  $\mu$ g/L) × three temperatures (16, 19 and 22°C). Before pesticide exposure, 350 individuals from each population were acclimatized to three different temperatures (16, 19, and 22 °C) for 10 days. Organisms were exposed to the stressors for 48 h, and the immobility was recorded an end point. If organisms did not move their bodies within 20 seconds, they were considered immobile.

To find out the exposure concentrations of clothianidin and prochloraz, we collected 250 mL of the stock and test concentrations using GC–MS/MS by SGS GmbH. Actual concentrations recovered from the samples were within acceptable boundaries ( $\pm 10\%$ ) to the nominal concentrations.

#### 5.3.5 Data analyses and prediction of combined effects

For the data analyses and figures, we used RStudio version 2022.2.3.492 for Windows (RStudio, 2022) and the basic R version 4.2.1 for Windows (R Core Team, 2022). To compare clothianidin tolerance of gammarid populations under different stress conditions, we calculated  $EC_{50}$  (median effective concentration) from the toxicity experiments using fiveparameter log-logistic model (Ritz and Streibig, 2005). Further, we compared clothianidin tolerance ( $EC_{50}$ ), toxic pressure (TU), and ecological status (SPEAR index) of agricultural and reference streams using two-sample t-test (data with equal variances) and Welch's t-test (data with non-equal variances). For the association between different factors such as toxic pressure ( $TU_{max}$ ) and the change in macroinvertebrate community composition or the clothianidin tolerance, we applied linear regressions. Before analyses, we confirmed normal distribution and homoscedasticity of residuals, and ln(x) transformed  $EC_{50}$  values to obtain normal distribution.

For the mixture toxicity and multiple stress, survival per treatment was averaged for agricultural and reference groups. First, we investigated interactions between clothianidin and prochloraz under different temperature regimes. For this, we compared the EC<sub>50</sub> of clothianidin for two prochloraz concentrations (i.e., 1 and 10  $\mu$ g/L) at 16, 19, and 22°C with the respective controls (i.e., agriculture and reference control at 0  $\mu$ g/L prochloraz). Second, we investigated the joint toxicity of both toxicants and sub-optimal temperatures. For this, we compared all treatments of prochloraz under higher temperature regimes (i.e., 19 and 22 °C) with respective control of agricultural and reference populations at 16 °C and without prochloraz (best case). The individual stress of prochloraz

and elevated temperature was determined based on the mortality of agricultural and reference populations observed in respective treatments. To determine the stress due to the fitness cost of pesticide adaptation, we used the difference in mortality caused by additional stressors (i.e.,  $22^{\circ}C$  with 10 µg/L of prochloraz) in adapted and non-adapted populations.

To predict cumulative response to mixture toxicity and multiple stressors, two additive approaches for mixture toxicity such as concentration addition (CA; Loewe and Muischnek (1926a)) and effect addition (EA; Bliss (1939a)), and the stress addition model (SAM; Liess et al. (2016b)) was employed. In comparison to CA and EA, the SAM model is designed to predict the cumulative impacts of toxicants and environmental stressors (Liess et al., 2016b). These models were further compared for their predictive accuracy.

According to the EA model, the combined effect was predicted by the following mathematical equation (Eq. 1).

$$E(c_{mix}) = 1 - \prod_{i=1}^{n} (1 - E(c_i))$$
(1)

where E(cmix) is the joint effect of E(ci) stressors.

For the concentration addition model (CA), the sum of the toxic units corresponding to mixture components was calculated by the following equation (Eq. 2).

$$ECx_{mix} = \left(\sum_{i=1}^{n} \frac{p_i}{ECx_i}\right)^{-1}$$
(2)

where  $ECx_{mix}$  is the sum of concentrations of toxicants present in the mixture, *pi* represents the relative fraction of toxicant *i*, and *ECxi* is the concentration of the toxicant *i* posing × % effect.

For the prediction of combined effects (i.e.,  $EC_{50}$ ), we applied EA, CA, and SAM models using a web-based application (Indicate, version 2.2.1; <u>http://www.systemecology.eu/indicate/</u>). For the predictive accuracy of these models, we divided predicted  $EC_{50}$  values by the observed  $EC_{50}$  values and calculated the model deviation ratios (MDR). We used EA as a

null model for the combined effects. MDR values < 0.5 indicated antagonistic response from exposure to a toxicant mixture and values > 2 indicated synergism (Cedergreen, 2014).

### 5.4 Results

#### 5.4.1 Pesticide exposure and ecological effects

In total, 365 targeted substances were analyzed in the water samples collected from selected streams 5. In terms of toxic units (log TU<sub>max</sub>, see methods), pesticide contamination ranged from -3.0 to -1.4 TU in agricultural streams, with a mean of -2.5 TU which is known to cause ecological effects. In contrast, reference streams were contaminated only to a minor extent (log TU<sub>max</sub>: -5 to -3.6, mean: -4.2) which is considered safe for the ecosystem. Pesticides causing the highest toxic pressure (TU<sub>max</sub>) include neonicotinoids (7 sites), fungicides dimoxystrobin, fludioxonil and azoxystrobin (one site each), and fipronil (one site).

We quantified the ecological impacts of pesticide contamination by the change in macroinvertebrate community composition using the SPEAR pesticides bioindicator, and observed lower SPEAR values (i.e., 0.2 to 0.8; median 0.5) in agricultural streams, indicating a reduced proportion of species vulnerable to pesticides. In contrast, reference streams showed higher SPEAR values indicating an increased proportion of species vulnerable to pesticides (i.e., 0.8 to 1.7; and median 1.21). Accordingly, the macroinvertebrate community structure significantly depended on local pesticide contamination (TU<sub>max</sub>; adjusted R<sup>2</sup> = 0.84, p < 0.001, F-statistic: 59.05 on 1 and 10 DF; Figure 5.1). Non-contaminated reference streams (log TU<sub>max</sub> < -3.5) were characterized by significantly higher SPEAR values in comparison to pesticide contaminated agricultural streams (Wilcoxon's rank sum test, W = 30, p < 0.01).



Local Contamination (TUmax)

Figure 5.1. Effects of pesticide contamination on macroinvertebrate community structure: Local pesticide contamination changes the macroinvertebrate community structure (linear regression, adjusted  $R^2 = 0.83$ , F = 54.06, residual d.f. = 11, p < 0.001). Shaded areas represent 95% confidence intervals.

*G. pulex* from agricultural streams showed higher tolerance to pesticides as compared to those from non-contaminated reference streams. Laboratory investigations revealed that under optimal temperature (16°C), agricultural populations were 2.2-fold more tolerant to clothianidin as compared to reference populations (reference = 67 µg/L, agricultural = 150 µg/L, t = -4.7547, df = 8.8442, and p < 0.001, Figure 5.2). The tolerance of both, the adapted- and the non-adapted populations, significantly decreased with increasing temperature. Agricultural populations exposed at 19°C and 22°C were respectively 1.9- (EC<sub>50</sub>: 79 µg/L) and 3.0-fold (EC<sub>50</sub>: 50 µg/L) less tolerant to clothianidin as compared to the optimal temperature of 16°C (150 µg/L). However, the reference populations showed less decrease in tolerance with increasing temperature. The average EC<sub>50</sub> decreased by 1.5-fold (EC<sub>50</sub>: 45 µg/L) at 19°C and 1.7-fold (EC<sub>50</sub>: 39 µg/L) at 22°C. Thus, the difference in tolerance between the two groups also decreased with increasing temperature. - from 2.2-fold at 16°C
(p < 0.001) to 1.7-fold at 19°C; p < 0.05) and finally 1.2-fold at 22°C which was not significantly different anymore (p > 0.5) (Figure 5.2).



Figure 5.2. Pesticide tolerance of populations from contaminated and noncontaminated streams quantified with their Clothianidin tolerance (EC50) under different warming conditions: EC50 of G. pulex collected from control (green) and agricultural streams (red) after exposure (48-h) to clothianidin under different temperature regimes (16, 19, and 22°C). The lower and upper boundaries of the box represent 25th and 75th percentile, the horizontal line denotes the median, and the whiskers correspond to the lowest and highest values. Dashed lines represent fitted regressions with confidence intervals displayed by shaded areas. The significance level is displayed as: "\*" for p < 0.05, "\*\*" for p < 0.01, and "\*\*\*" for p < 0.001.

Increasing local pesticide contamination showed a significant adaptation related to the sensitivity of gammarid populations to clothianidin. Among all environmental factors measured, the increased clothianidin tolerance was best explained by the toxic pressure calculated as toxic unit (TU<sub>max</sub>, Figure D.2). However, the association between toxic pressure and clothianidin tolerance was reduced by an additional toxicant (prochloraz) and temperature stress. Under optimal temperature (16°C), the pesticide tolerance of *G. pulex* individuals exposed to clothianidin alone was better explained by the toxic pressure (adjusted R<sup>2</sup>=0.66, p < 0.001) as compared to those exposed at 19 and 22°C (19°C: R<sup>2</sup>=0.26, p < 0.05; 22°C: R<sup>2</sup>=0.21, p = 0.07), especially in the presence of multiple stress (high prochloraz concentration and temperature), this association was further decreased.

Both indicators of pesticide effects, ecological impact of pesticide at ecosystem level (SPEAR), and clothianidin tolerance of *G. pulex* in the

laboratory were significantly correlated. However, this correlation decreased with increasing multiple stress (Supporting information, Figure D.3).

#### 5.4.2 Interaction between clothianidin and prochloraz

Overall, prochloraz slightly increased the sensitivity of *G. pulex* to clothianidin (Figure D.4,  $R^2=0.1$ , p < 0.001). To identify the joint toxicity of the pesticide mixture, we compared the toxicity of clothianidin at 0, 1, and 10 µg/L of prochloraz under three temperature regimes (16, 19, and 22°C). All treatments were compared with their respective controls. In both populations, prochloraz showed weak synergistic interaction (i.e., MDR < 2) with clothianidin even at the highest concentration (10 µg/L; Figure 5.2, Table 5.1). However, the combined effects of this pesticide mixture were significantly stronger in reference populations (paired sample t-test; p < 0.05).

#### 5.4.3 Interaction between multiple stress

For the combined effect of multiple stressors, we performed similar analyses as in the previous chapter "Interaction between clothianidin and prochloraz". However, here we compared all treatments of prochloraz under higher temperature regimes (i.e., 19 and 22 °C) with respective controls of agricultural and reference populations at 16 °C and without prochloraz (best case).

In reference populations, temperature stress caused weak synergistic interaction (MDR < 2) with clothianidin. However, in agricultural populations, elevated temperature increased the sensitivity of individuals to clothianidin strongly synergistic which is shown by MDR values of 2.0 and 3.0 at 19 and 22°C respectively. Further, the combination of prochloraz and temperature stress notably increased clothianidin sensitivity of individuals from both agricultural and reference populations (Table 5.1). Pesticide adaptation acted as an additional stress factor for adapted organisms. The interaction of multiple stress was significantly stronger in agricultural populations (paired sample t-test; p < 0.05) and

	Temp	Prochlora	Observed	Predicted		MDR					
	°C	z (μg/L)	$EC_{50}^{a}$	EC50 <sup>b</sup>	CA	EA	SAM				
			Reference po	pulations							
	16	0	66.8								
	16	1	58.2	66.8	1.1	1.1	1.1				
	16	10	46.3	66.8	1.4	1.4	1.4				
Mi	19	0	45.7								
x-to	19	1	34.4	45.7	1.3	1.3	1.2				
γ, XC	19	10	24.1	45.7	1.9	1.9	1.8				
	22	0	39.2								
	22	1	31.7	39.2	1.2	1.2	1.2				
	22	10	25.9	39.2	1.5	1.5	1.5				
	Control	of 16 °C	66.8								
7	19	0	45.7	65.8	1.4	1.5	0.3				
Iult	19	1	34.4	66.4	1.9	1.9	0.8				
ti-stres	19	10	24.1	66.3	2.8	2.8	1.0				
	22	0	39.2	66.2	1.7	1.7	0.5				
$b_{\mathrm{S}}^{\mathrm{S}}$	22	1	31.7	66.2	2.1	2.1	0.7				
	22	10	25.9	66.4	2.6	2.6	1.1				
			Agricultural p	opulations							
	16	0	146.4								
	16	1	175.1	149.3	0.9	0.8	0.3				
	16	10	117.4	149.3	1.3	1.2	0.4				
$\mathbb{M}$	19	0	75.9								
ix-t	19	1	67.2	75.9	1.1	1.1	1.1				
XO	19	10	60.7 78.6		1.3	1.2	0.3				
	22	0	50.6								
	22	1	36.7	53.9	1.5	1.4	0.2				
	22	10	36.9	50.6	1.4	1.4	1.4				
	Control	of 16 °C									
7	19	0	75.9	149.3	2.0	1.9	0.6				
√lul	19	1	67.2	147.5	2.2	2.2	1.0				
ti-s	19	10	60.7	152.9	2.5	2.4	0.4				
tres	22	0	50.6	150.1	3.0	2.9	0.8				
S	22	1 36.7		154.2	4.2	4.0	0.6				
	22	10	36.9	150.1	4.1	4.0	1.0				
Ave	rage predi	ction of the co	nbined effects of	of Mix-tox (two	1.0	1.0	1.0				
		v	00	toxicants)	1.3	1.3	1.0				
Ave	Average prediction of the combined effects of Multi-stress 2.5 2.5 0.73										

**Table 5.1.** Prediction of joint effects of neonicotinoid clothianidin alone and in combination with a fungicide prochloraz under different temperature regimes.

<sup>*a*</sup>The observed LC<sub>50s</sub> for clothianidin are based on the average survival of the respective populations (i.e., agricultural and reference) and calculated using five-parameter log-logistic model, whereas, the <sup>*b*</sup>predicted LC<sub>50</sub> values are calculated by the CA model. <sup>*c*</sup>Under mixture toxicity, we compared the EC<sub>50</sub> of clothianidin for prochloraz concentrations (i.e., 1 and  $\mu$ g/L) at 16, 19, and 22°C in relation to their respective controls without prochloraz. For <sup>*d*</sup>Multi-stress, we compared all treatments of prochloraz under higher temperature regimes (i.e., 19 and 22 °C) with respective control of agricultural and reference populations at 16 °C and without prochloraz (best case).

caused up to 2-fold higher synergism of multiple stressors (using CA as a null model) in agricultural populations (Table 5.1). To identify the association between synergism and general stress, we used general distribution of stress in the SAM framework to calculate the individual stress posed by different stressors including clothianidin, prochloraz, elevated temperature, and fitness cost of pesticide adaptation, and added them according to SAM to quantify the total general stress. Overall, synergism compared to the both null models (i.e., CA and EA), increased with increasing total stress of all the stressors (Null model CA: Figure 5.3,  $R^2 = 0.64$ , p < 0.001; Null model EA:  $R^2 = 0.52$ , p < 0.001).

#### 5.4.4 Prediction of Multi-stress Effects

We used concentration addition (CA), effect addition (EA), and stress addition model (SAM) to predict the combined effects of pesticide mixture and multiple stress including elevated temperature. Among these models, SAM predicted best in terms of an average MDR values of 1.0 and 0.73 (Table 5.1), and the modeled curves (Supporting Information, Figure D.5, D.6). Whereas, CA and EA considerably underestimated the combined effects of all multiple stressors by up to 4-fold (Table 5.1, Figure D.5, D.6).



Figure 5.3. Relationship between total general stress and strength of synergistic effects: Combined stress of multiple stressors including prochloraz, sub-optimal temperature and fitness cost of pesticide adaptation significantly increased the clothianidin sensitivity expressed by acute synergism (linear regression, adjusted  $R^2 = 0.64$ , F = 56.76, residual d.f. = 30, *p* < 0.001). Shaded areas represent 95% confidence intervals.

#### 5.5 Discussion

Here we found that pesticide adaptation costs act as a stressor under multiple stress conditions. Moreover, all the stressors with different modes of action, including clothianidin, prochloraz, sub-optimal temperature and fitness cost of pesticide adaptation, can be added to calculate the overall general stress and predict their synergistic effects. This is substantially extending on most studies on multiple stressors that focus on binary stressors (as reviewed by Jackson et al. (2016)). It is also contrasting the approach that the stronger stressor overrides the effect of weaker stressors (Morris et al., 2022; van Dijk et al., 1994).

Our results show that the agricultural populations were significantly more tolerant to the pesticide mixture as compared to the reference populations. This higher tolerance develops due to pesticide adaptation resulting from prior exposure in the field (Shahid et al., 2018; Siddique et al., 2021). However, both the agricultural and reference populations showed acute synergistic responses to the joint stress of pesticides and temperature (Figure 5.2). Synergism was up to 2-fold stronger in agricultural populations adapted to pesticide pollution (Table 5.1). In general, environmental stressors are expected to interact synergistically with chemical stressors (Heugens et al., 2006; Liess et al., 2016b; Meng et al., 2022). For example, Delnat et al. (2019) observed synergistic interaction of high variation in daily temperature with a mixture of chlorpyrifos and Bacillus thuringiensis towards Culex pipiens. Similarly, Macaulay et al. (2021b) reported synergistic combined effects of the heatwave and a neonicotinoid insecticide imidacloprid on mayfly nymphs. However, these investigations did not focus on stress adaptation. Recently, Siddique et al. (Siddique et al., 2021) and Heim et al. (Heim et al., 2018) reported increased sensitivity of pesticide resistant populations to the temperature stress. It is suggested that the mechanisms of tolerance development cause energetic constraints which may result in trade-offs between different fitness related functions. Therefore, the stronger synergistic response of pesticide adapted populations might be attributed to the lack of a plastic response, suggesting higher costs to maintain pesticide tolerance (Callahan et al., 2008).

A critical challenge in predicting the combined effects of multiple stresses is to establish a "common currency" to quantify and integrate different stressors (Segner et al., 2014). The Stress Addition Model (SAM) assumes that each organism has a "general stress capacity" towards all types of specific stressors (Liess et al., 2016b). This concept enables us to transform different stressors into general stress levels. Accordingly, here we calculated the individual stress posed by different stressors including clothianidin, prochloraz, elevated temperature, and fitness cost of pesticide adaptation, and added them to quantify total general stress. Each stressor reduced the common stress capacity of individuals. Thus, the acute synergism of multiple stressors was getting stronger with increasing total general stress (Figure 5.3). So far, SAM has been employed to assess the interaction between toxicants and environmental stressors (Liess et al., 2016b; Shahid et al., 2019), and toxicant mixtures (Shahid et al., 2019). This is the first study where the fitness-cost of pesticide adaptation is included as an additional stressor and predicted the combined effects of four stressors.

Overall, traditional models (CA and EA) underestimated the combined impacts of clothianidin and prochloraz under higher temperature regimes (multiple-stress conditions; Table 5.1, Figure D.5, D.6). These results are not surprising for the interacting multiple stressors because CA and EA assume additive effects (Bliss, 1939a; Loewe and Muischnek, 1926a). Whereas, SAM predicted the cumulative impacts better than CA and EA even in pesticide adapted populations (Table 5.1, Figure D.5, D.6). SAM presumes that the combined impact of stressors with different modes of action can be calculated by adding up individual effects transformed to general stress and then compared with the general stress capacity of the individuals within a population (Liess et al., 2016b). Obviously, this approach is comparably successful to predict combined effects of different stressors.

#### **5.6 Conclusions**

The current study is an important step toward ecological realism in risk assessment by revealing complex interactions of pesticide mixtures, environmental stress, and the fitness costs of pesticide adaptation. Our results show that multiple stressors such as clothianidin, prochloraz, elevated temperature and pesticide adaptation can interact synergistically, and therefore, pesticide adapted populations become more vulnerable to global warming. Although predicting the combined impacts of multiple stressors was a great challenge so far, we successfully used the stress addition model (SAM) to calculate total general stress, and showed that the synergism increases with increasing total stress of the interacting stressors.

#### 5.7 Author Contributions

Conceptualization: All; Study design: All; Investigation: NS and AS; Statistical analysis: NS; Interpretation of results: All; Writing Original Draft: NS; Review & Editing: All.

#### 5.8 Acknowledgements

We thank Klaus Seyfarth from the Department of System-Ecotoxicology, Helmholtz Centre for Environmental Research GmbH – UFZ, Leipzig Germany, for his support in the collection of test organisms.

# 6

#### **Discussion and outlook**

In freshwater ecosystems, organisms are frequently exposed to a range of stressors that result in decline of vulnerable species even at very low pesticide concentrations (Liess and Ohe, 2005; Schäfer et al., 2012). At the same time, some less vulnerable species may develop increased pesticide tolerance. Effects at such low concentrations confirms that the current environmental risk assessment of pesticides are not protective enough in determining the risk. This could be attributed to the fact that the possible adaptation to stressors and associated trade-offs are not considered in risk assessment. Therefore, in this dissertation, important factors that may shape the response of organisms to pesticide such as adaptation to pesticides, fitness costs in terms of compromised performance, exposure to mixtures and multiple stress, and population genetic diversity were studied.

#### 6.1 Pesticide adaptation and compromised fitness

The effects of local pesticide contamination on dominant crustacean were quantified in terms of acute  $EC_{50}$  of Clothianidin. *G. pulex* from

agricultural streams were up to 2.5-fold more tolerant as compared to conspecifics from reference streams. The magnitude of tolerance increased with increasing toxic pressure of the pesticides. Furthermore, fitness costs were associated with increased pesticide tolerance and pesticide exposure. The populations from agricultural streams had compromised general fitness in terms of reduced survival, per capita growth and mating when cultured under pesticide free conditions in the laboratory for three months.

Generally, depending on the extent and intensity of exposure, individuals may acquire pesticide tolerance through physiological acclimation (Sparks and Nauen, 2015), maternal effects, and/or genetic adaptation (Sun et al., 2014). When populations experience occasional exposure, inducible traits are maintained as they facilitate the expression of adaptive phenotypes in response to variable environmental conditions (Weston et al., 2013). In contrast, when populations experience longterm exposure over multiple generations, maternal effects result in increased tolerance, but a plastic response eventually becomes constitutively expressed, resulting in genetic adaptation (Lopes et al., 2008). However, fitness costs are often associated with increased tolerance.

The fitness costs of adaptation observed as adverse population effects were not based on an initial decrease in performance that diminished over time, but were persistent and built up for at least four months under noncontaminated conditions. This persistence in the observed effects suggests that the decrease in performance results rather from fitness costs associated with the adaptation to pesticide exposure, than from delayed effects of the pesticides themselves. Delayed adverse effects of pulsed exposure to pyrethroid have been observed to last at least for 15 d in *G. pulex* (Cold and Forbes, 2004), and even for three months in insects (Liess and Schulz, 1996). In contrast, pulse exposure to a neonicotinoid insecticide decreased survival and per capita growth of the crustaceans *G. pulex, Daphnia magna* and *Asellus aquaticus* only for 14–21 d (Beketov and Liess, 2008). There are several investigations that report fitness costs of adaptation to certain pesticides and metals in different organisms (Bach and Dahllof, 2012; Heim et al., 2018). For example, Gammarus fossarum developed increased tolerance to cadmium following exposure to low concentrations in the field, but showed decreased feeding in laboratory conditions (Vigneron et al., 2015). Similarly, (Piola and Johnston, 2006) detected differential tolerance to copper in laboratory-grown populations that resulted in reduced growth rates of a colonial bryozoan, and D. magna that evolved insecticide resistance in the laboratory showed higher susceptibility to parasites (Jansen et al., 2011b). However, fitness costs of moderately increased tolerance caused by very low pesticide concentrations commonly observed in agricultural streams have never been investigated. These results suggest that in the field, even very low pesticide concentrations can considerably impair the performance of G. pulex through fitness costs of genetic or physiological adaptation. These longterm impairments need to be considered in deriving safe concentrations under risk assessment.

#### 6.2 Pesticide adaptation under multiple stress

As multi-stress conditions may occur regularly under global change scenarios, the ecological consequences of pesticide adaptation were quantified under multiple stress. Under optimum temperature, *G. pulex* from agricultural streams were significantly more tolerant to pesticides as compared to the reference populations. The increased pesticide tolerance in agricultural populations could be due to acclimation, epigenetic changes, and genetic evolution. Further, reference populations showed increased pesticide tolerance upon lab pre-exposure to very low concentration (LC<sub>50</sub>/ 1000). The induction of tolerance upon such a low toxic pressure of a pesticide in non-adapted reference populations is also observed in other species by several studies (Hua et al., 2013; Poupardin et al., 2008).

The increased tolerance after pre-exposure to neonicotinoid insecticide clothianidin can be due to the upregulation of detoxification mechanisms that may neutralize the effect of irreversible binding and cumulative effect of neonicotinoid insecticide clothianidin (Hua et al., 2013). In contrast, no further increase in tolerance in the agricultural populations might be due to evolved pesticide resistance (Lopes et al., 2008). In general, inducible traits are maintained under variable environmental conditions as they facilitate the expression of adaptive phenotypes (Li et al., 2018; Schlichting and Pigliucci, 1998). However, consistent exposure over multiple generations results in evolution of genetic resistance (Debat and David, 2001; Lopes et al., 2008) and is often associated with fitness costs (Heim et al., 2018; Jansen et al., 2011a; Lagator et al., 2014; Siddique et al., 2020). Similarly, in the present study, we observed that agricultural populations showed increased sensitivity to increasing temperature under noncontaminated conditions due to the hypothesized fitness costs of adaptation to pesticides and other potential stressors. In contrast, the reference populations (with and without preexposure) did not show fitness costs in terms of decreased survival at elevated temperature under noncontaminated conditions.

Organisms in the field are often exposed to multiple stressors that may interact synergistically. Several studies have reported synergism between multiple stressors, (Shahid et al., 2019; Shahid et al., 2021) including a meta-analysis study(Liess et al., 2016a). However, under some "multistress" conditions, stressors did not interact as the populations were already adapted to one stressor at low fitness costs (Chen et al., 2015; Dinh Van et al., 2013; Zhang et al., 2018). Both reference and agricultural populations showed a similar tolerance to the combined stress of pesticides and warming due to stronger synergistic effects in adapted populations. The combined effect was further increased after pre-exposure in both agricultural and reference populations. The energetic costs of pesticide tolerance in genetically adapted populations can be the consequence of hyperactivation of the nervous system rather than resource-based trade-off (Bourguet et al., 1997; Djogbénou et al., 2010; Rivero et al., 2011; Verheyen and Stoks, 2019). In contrast, the overproduction of detoxifying enzymes (up to 50 times more in some cases) in physiologically acclimated populations is widely assumed to deplete the energetic stores of insects, generating energetic trade-offs between insecticide resistance and key life history traits(Roush and McKenzie, 1987).Therefore, adaptation to pesticides increased the synergistic effect of pesticides and warming. This offset the advantage of adaptation to stressors and increases sensitivity under changing environmental conditions. As the trade-off processes are mathematically well-represented in the SAM approach, the interaction between chemical and environmental stressors was predicted well using the SAM as compared to CA and EA.

#### 6.3 Pesticide adaptation and reduced genetic diversity

Pesticide exposure triggers evolutionary processes in natural populations (Medina et al., 2007), and also alters the macroinvertebrate community composition (M Liess et al., 2021b; Rumschlag et al., 2020; Stehle & Schulz, 2015). There are numerous investigations on contamination induced genetic adaptations, however, understanding their ecological consequences in natural populations is still in its infancy. This is because the potential propagation of effects from the individual genetic composition up to the community composition at the landscape level are unknown. In detail, relevant biological effects include: (i) increased tolerance and a reduction in genetic diversity as an outcome of contamination (Bach & Dahllof, 2012), (ii) toxic pressure dependent distribution of alleles at ecological relevant ultra-low exposure concentrations, (iii) fitness trade-offs associated with genetic adaptation (Heim et al., 2018), (iv) impact of geographical distance to the noncontaminated refuge populations (J. M. Becker et al., 2020; Shahid et al., 2018) and (v) the interspecific competition with vulnerable species. A few of these processes have been investigated to some extent. However, to the

best of our knowledge, this is the first study that integrates the processes linked to pesticide exposure on all these levels of biological organization.

At community level, we observed a decline in vulnerable species already below the regulatory compliant concentrations (TU<sub>max</sub>  $\geq$  -3), mostly contributed by neonicotinoids and carbamate insecticides. These results are comparable with other investigations that identified strong impacts of nonpoint-source pesticide pollution on streams in Australia (Beketov et al., 2013), Europe (Beketov et al., 2013; M Liess et al., 2021b; Matthias Liess & Ohe, 2005), North America (Chiu et al., 2016) and South America (Hunt et al., 2017). A situation that is in contrast to the aims of the regulatory authorization of pesticides that is supposed to prevent unacceptable effects in the environment (Australian Environment Agency, 2009; EFSA (2013); US Government, 2004).

At individual level, we observed up to 4.5-fold (average 2.2-fold) increased pesticide tolerance in comparatively less sensitive specie G. pulex collected from contaminated streams. Such a development of pesticide tolerance in different aquatic species such as G. pulex (Siddique et al., 2021) and Daphnia magna(Almeida et al., 2021) have been observed. Similarly, local adaptation to ore mine effluents have also been observed in Dugesia gonocephala (Weigand et al., 2018). The acquisition of increased tolerance in a natural population may occur through environmentally induced physiological adjustments (acclimation)(Maxwell et al., 2014; Siddique et al., 2021), epigenetic modifications (Wolf & Wade, 2009), loss of sensitive individuals, and selection of more tolerant genotypes which may reduce the genetic diversity (Forbes & Calow, 1996; Van Straalen et al., 2011). The latter could be the reason for reduced genetic diversity in the current study. Furthermore, reduced genetic diversity explained by toxic pressure reveal that even such low concentrations may significantly shape genetic metrics of populations and may describe the loss of sensitive species under longterm exposure that have so far not been studied.

In general, genetic erosion is widely accepted as a potential evolutionary outcome of long-term exposure to contaminants(Nowak et al., 2009; Ribeiro & Lopes, 2013; Ungherese et al., 2010). For example, low genetic

diversity in >700 aquatic species from extensive cropland(Crossley et al., 2022), and reduction in allelic richness was observed in G. pulex from wastewater contaminated rivers(Švara et al., 2022). However, in these cases, investigations only focused on high exposures and did not investigate the effect of low exposure and possibility of local adaptation. Furthermore, tolerance acquired through genetic adaptation based on specific alleles may change allele frequency as a result of increased number of tolerant individuals in a population (Gouin et al., 2019). Likewise, in the present study, we observed a decrease in average alleles frequency of "low contamination alleles" with increasing toxic pressure. This change in frequency was significantly different among populations from low, moderate and high pesticide exposure indicating loss of alleles already at concentrations 3 to 4 orders of magnitude below the  $EC_{50}$ . Reduction in frequency of some alleles could be attributed to long-term consequence of contamination that selects for tolerant genotypes as mentioned earlier(Ribeiro & Lopes, 2013). On the other hand, an increasing average frequency of "high contamination alleles" with pesticide contamination observed in the present study indicates effects on allelic distribution on such a low range of pesticide contamination. Further, this suggests that the "high contamination alleles" might be functionally associated with tolerance conferring mechanisms required to cope with pesticide stress. For instance, the allele frequency of two outlier SNP loci involved in insect cuticle resistance in natural populations of mayfly Andesiops torrens were significantly correlated with high pesticide exposure (Gouin et al., 2019).

Although pesticide exposure was mainly responsible for the observed effects in the investigated streams (M Liess et al., 2021b), several other environmental factors may affect the genetic diversity of populations. For example, geographic distance between sites partially explained the pairwise genetic dissimilarity. Other studies also reported genetic structure of populations partially or completely explained by geographic distance(Svara et al., 2022; Whitehead et al., 2003). Furthermore, historical colonization events in *Gammarus fossarum* (Weiss & Leese, 2016) and barrier effects in *Ancylus fluviatilis* and *D. gonocephala* (Weiss et al., 2022) have been associated with populations genetic structure and

differentiation. In addition, abundance of sensitive species may also impact the evolutionary process as tolerance development can be affected by species diversity (Becker & Liess, 2017). Likewise, we observed a higher genetic diversity in *G. pulex* populations with species richness in the respective streams indicating that the conditions that promotes species diversity may also preserve genetic diversity within species. Such a positive association between genetic– and species diversity has also been reported by Manel et al. (Manel et al., 2020).

Fitness costs are often associated with increased tolerance due to energy trade-offs (Fournier-Level et al., 2019; Siddique et al., 2021). However, it has rarely been reported in natural populations (Jansen et al., 2011; Siddique et al., 2020). We observed that pesticide exposure and genetic adaptation to pesticides were associated with reduced per capita growth in natural populations of G. pulex revealed under non-contaminated conditions. This finding suggests that survival in contaminated streams infers energetic costs reducing the energy available for vital functions and survival reduces plasticity for under slightly different conditions(Marchand et al., 2004). Also other studies revealed that pyrethroid resistant Hyalella azteca exhibited reduced thermal tolerance(Heim et al., 2018), and lower survival and lipid levels(Fulton et al., 2021). However, these trade-offs were revealed in the presence of stressors, unlike our study where the fitness costs were observed under non-contaminated conditions.

Migration of organisms from nearby refuge area often support recovery for pesticide affected individuals (Jeremias Martin Becker et al., 2020; Shahid et al., 2018) and populations (Matthias Liess & von der Ohe, 2005). Likewise, we observed that the increase in clothianidin tolerance was reduced with increasing distance to the nearby refuge area. However, genetic diversity and frequency of "low contamination alleles" increased with decreasing distance to refuge sections, suggesting that migration events from nearby refuge sections supports populations to retain genetic diversity.

Inbreeding coefficient of *G. pulex* populations increased with decreasing abundance. However, nor local pesticide contamination neither reduced

genetic diversity did induce inbreeding depression. Similarly, Svara et al. (Svara et al., 2022) reported higher inbreeding coefficient in *G. pulex* from wastewater contaminated sites as compared to pristine sites, which could also be due to a smaller and thus genetically impoverished population.

On the ecosystem level, we observed that the abundance of *G. pulex* was independent of pesticide contamination despite their apparent fitness tradeoffs. We hypothesize that this non-existent association of *G. pulex* abundance and pesticide exposure is due to the exposure-induced decline in competing pesticide-vulnerable SPEAR and EPT species. In contrast, species with low or even declining dominance may not be able to compensate individual trade-offs from pesticide effects at the community level (Matthias Liess & Beketov, 2011).

### 6.4 Pesticide adaptation under mixture toxicity and multiple stress

Here we found that pesticide adaptation costs act as a stressor under multiple stress conditions. Moreover, all the stressors with different modes of action, including clothianidin, prochloraz, sub-optimal temperature and fitness cost of pesticide adaptation, can be added to calculate the overall general stress and predict their synergistic effects. This is substantially extending on most studies on multiple stressors that focus on binary stressors (as reviewed by Jackson et al. (2016)). It is also contrasting the approach that the stronger stressor overrides the effect of weaker stressors (Morris et al., 2022; van Dijk et al., 1994).

Our results show that the agricultural populations were significantly more tolerant to the pesticide mixture as compared to the reference populations. This higher tolerance develops due to pesticide adaptation resulting from prior exposure in the field (Shahid et al., 2018; Siddique et al., 2021). However, both the agricultural and reference populations showed acute synergistic responses to the joint stress of pesticides and temperature (Figure 5.2). Synergism was up to 2-fold stronger in agricultural populations adapted to pesticide pollution (Table 5.1). In general, environmental stressors are expected to interact synergistically with

chemical stressors (Heugens et al., 2006; Liess et al., 2016b; Meng et al., 2022). For example, Delnat et al. (2019) observed synergistic interaction of high variation in daily temperature with a mixture of chlorpyrifos and *Bacillus thuringiensis* towards *Culex pipiens*. Similarly, Macaulay et al. (2021b) reported synergistic combined effects of the heatwave and a neonicotinoid insecticide imidacloprid on mayfly nymphs. However, these investigations did not focus on stress adaptation. Recently, Siddique et al. (Siddique et al., 2021) and Heim et al. (Heim et al., 2018) reported increased sensitivity of pesticide resistant populations to the temperature stress. It is suggested that the mechanisms of tolerance development cause energetic constraints which may result in trade-offs between different fitness related functions. Therefore, the stronger synergistic response of pesticide adapted populations might be attributed to the lack of a plastic response, suggesting higher costs to maintain pesticide tolerance (Callahan et al., 2008).

A critical challenge in predicting the combined effects of multiple stresses is to establish a "common currency" to quantify and integrate different stressors (Segner et al., 2014). The Stress Addition Model (SAM) assumes that each organism has a "general stress capacity" towards all types of specific stressors (Liess et al., 2016b). This concept enables us to transform different stressors into general stress levels. Accordingly, here we calculated the individual stress posed by different stressors including clothianidin, prochloraz, elevated temperature, and fitness cost of pesticide adaptation, and added them to quantify total general stress. Each stressor reduced the common stress capacity of individuals. Thus, the acute synergism of multiple stressors was getting stronger with increasing total general stress (Figure 5.3). So far, SAM has been employed to assess the interaction between toxicants and environmental stressors (Liess et al., 2016b; Shahid et al., 2019), and toxicant mixtures (Shahid et al., 2019). This is the first study where the fitness-cost of pesticide adaptation is included as an additional stressor and predicted the combined effects of four stressors.

Overall, traditional models (CA and EA) underestimated the combined impacts of clothianidin and prochloraz under higher temperature regimes (multiple-stress conditions; Table 5.1, Figure D.5, D.6). These results are not surprising for the interacting multiple stressors because CA and EA assume additive effects (Bliss, 1939a; Loewe and Muischnek, 1926a). Whereas, SAM predicted the cumulative impacts better than CA and EA even in pesticide adapted populations (Table 5.1, Figure D.5, D.6). SAM presumes that the combined impact of stressors with different modes of action can be calculated by adding up individual effects transformed to general stress and then compared with the general stress capacity of the individuals within a population (Liess et al., 2016b). Obviously, this approach is comparably successful to predict combined effects of different stressors.

#### 6.5 Implications and outlook

Under climate change, organisms are increasingly exposed to multitude of stressors, and adaptation to one stressor may shape the response to another stressor. Hence, risk assessment based on single toxicant might not be protective enough without considering the adaptation to stressors. In this dissertation, adaptation to pesticides was studied from individual genetic composition to macroinvertebrate community at the landscape level under different stress scenarios. Therefore, the obtained results may have several implications for the ecological risk assessment of pesticides.

#### 6.5.1 Adaptation to pesticides and compromised fitness

Adaptation to pesticides in non-target species may have consequences for the local biodiversity. Especially, it is imperative for key species that are often used for biomonitoring and risk assessment. The current study shows the magnitude of adaptation in a dominant crustacean from pesticide contaminated agricultural streams, and associated fitness costs characterized by reduced survival, per capita growth and mating adults under non-contaminated conditions. The persistent decrease in performance is potentially of more concern it may hinder population recovery and explain changes in the community composition over longer time scales at low concentrations. Unraveling the fitness costs of moderate pesticide exposure and adaptation has several implications for ecological risk assessment and biodiversity conservation. Depending on the mechanisms of adaptation, the consequence could be short term or long term. It is suggested that when populations experience occasional exposure, inducible traits are maintained as they facilitate the expression of adaptive phenotypes in response to variable environmental conditions. In contrast, when populations experience longterm exposure over multiple generations, maternal effects result in increased tolerance, but a plastic response eventually becomes constitutively expressed, resulting in genetic adaptation. Hence, it is imperative to understand how species with reduced performance to due associated trade-offs of adaptation compete with other species. Further, it would be interesting to monitor such adapted species over longer period to understand the consequence of adaptation in species fully evolved under pesticide stress.

#### 6.5.2 Adaptation to pesticides under multiple stress

Under global change scenarios, multi-stress conditions are likely to occur more frequently, and it could have severe consequence for populations adapted to pesticides. Present study reveals different mechanisms of pesticide tolerance in agricultural and reference populations of non-target species, and further shows increased sensitivity to increasing temperature. Under climate change, organisms may be exposed to several stressors such as elevated pesticide pressure, sedimentation, and low dissolved oxygen. Additionally, under global warming, exposure to elevated temperatures may be a key stressor. The combined effect of toxicants and warming are often investigated by space for time substitution where temperature did not act as a stressor because the populations were already adapted to the respective thermal conditions. If, on the other hand, a directional change in temperature is assumed, temperature-induced stress is to be expected through adaptation processes at the level of individuals and communities. Hence, the fitness costs of pesticide adaptation in terms of increased sensitivity to elevated temperature reveals trade-offs of pesticide adaptation. Unraveling the costs of adaptation under single and multiple stress scenarios is imperative in understanding the fate of adapted species under global warming. Hence, the sensitivity of pesticide adapted population under multiple stress has several implications for ecological

risk assessment of chemicals as populations adapted toxicant could be more sensitive to another chemical or non-chemical stressors. An extension of this study could be analyzing the effect of pesticides with different modes of action in pesticide adapted populations.

#### 6.5.3 Adaptation to pesticides and genetic diversity

Altered genetic composition in a species under contamination pressure may have substantial consequences for the species' ecological performance and survival. Reduced genetic diversity in the populations can impact the species' key life traits, hence its abundance, ecological function, interspecific competition, and the ability to recover from disturbance. In the current study, pesticide concentrations even below regulatory thresholds affected the tolerance, genetic diversity and allelic distribution in a dominant crustacean G. pulex. The populations showed increased frequency of high contamination alleles and a low frequency of low contamination alleles with increasing pesticide contamination. This genetic structure was not explained by geographic distance but by pesticide contamination. The tolerance and genetic diversity and low contamination alleles were further affected by distance to refuge sections as noncontaminated refuge sections often act as recovery. Furthermore, Individuals characterized by reduced genetic diversity showed reduced per capita growth under non-contaminated conditions. Nevertheless, G. pulex contributes nearly one half to the total macroinvertebrate abundance in highly contaminated streams. While, on the other hand, we observed a decline in vulnerable species. Hence, G. pulex even with negative consequences of adaptation in terms of reduced genetic diversity and performance seems to benefit from reduced competition from declining vulnerable species in its ecological niche. Furthermore, unravelling these underpinning processes reveal that the costs of pesticide adaptation at individual level are compensated at the community level due to reduced interspecific competition and enables to link the effects from genes to ecosystem level.

#### 6.5.4 Pesticide adaptation under mixture toxicity and multiple stress

Understanding and predicting the combined impacts of multiple stressors in the field is a great challenge. The current study is an important step toward ecological realism in risk assessment by revealing complex interactions of pesticide mixtures, environmental stress, and the fitness costs of adaptation. Our results show that the agricultural populations were significantly more tolerant to the pesticide mixture. This higher tolerance might be due to pesticide adaptation resulting from prior exposure in the field. Although toxicants with different modes of action are expected to act synergistically, in the present study, we observed additive effects. Such additive interactions may occur especially when individual effect sizes of both toxicants are highly asymmetric (e.g. (Loewen et al., 2020)). Our results show that heat stress can synergistically interact with pesticide mixtures, and populations that are already adapted to pesticides are more vulnerable to global warming. The synergistic response of adapted populations implies that global warming will jeopardize freshwater biodiversity, especially in agricultural streams, and therefore, we cannot overlook additional impacts of agrochemicals under climate change.



#### **Supporting Information for chapter 2**

**Ayesha Siddique**, Matthias Liess, Naeem Shahid, Jeremias Becker 2020. Insecticides in agricultural streams exert pressure for adaptation but impair performance in *Gammarus pulex* at regulatory acceptable concentrations. Published in "Science of the Total Environment".

A. Supporting Information for chapter 2

#### Table A.1: Survival and long-term traits of G. pulex

Population		Initial <i>n</i> individuals		TU <sub>max</sub>		EC <sub>75</sub> [μg/L]		Survival [%]					Mating [%]				Per-capita growth [offspring / ind.]			
Month	of cu	ilture						1	2	3	4		1	2	3	4	1	2	3	4
Ref-1		57		-5.34		48.9		78.9	68.4	54.4	31.6		40.0	15.4	25.8	11.1	0.18	1.40	1.83	1.65
Ref-2		100		-5.83		77.6		100.0	41.0	27.0	7.0		34.0	24.4	44.4	28.6	1.00	2.00	2.77	1.67
Ref-3		100		-3.69		88.4		100.0	20.0	17.0	22.0		31.4	30.0	23.5	18.2	1.50	0.40	0.68	0.58
Agri-1		100		-2.65		134.9		40.0	5.0	3.0	13.0		20.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	2.50	0.40	0.74	0.83
Agri-2		100		-3.63		119.4		78.0	63.0	22.0	15.0		20.5	28.6	27.3	26.7	0.80	0.90	1.24	1.36
Agri-3		100		-2.78		219.7		50.0	10.0	7.0	3.0		24.0	20.0	0.0	0.0	1.80	0.20	0.19	0.10
	Effect of EC <sub>75</sub>																			
Intercept								11.75	7.05	7.93	3.86		1.15	-0.05	4.58	-2.51	-1.19	0.94	6.84	1.52
Slope								-2.23	-1.68	-2.04	-1.23		-0.37	-0.16	-1.18	-0.77	0.01	-0.01	-1.49	0.015
$X^2/F$								3.09	2.28	13.94	4.88		7.12	0.15	4.13	1.65	2.94	7.64	8.32	13.52
df								1 and 4	1 and 4	1 and 4	1 and 4		1 and 4	1 and 4	1 and 4	1 and 4	4	4	1 and 4	4
р								0.078	0.13	< 0.001	0.027		0.0075	0.69	0.041	0.19	0.16	0.051	0.0039	0.021
Significance								(.)		***	*		(**)		*			(*)	**	*
$R^2$								0.25	0.16	0.22	0.092		0.030	0.0061	0.23	0.11	0.27	0.58	0.59	0.71
				-						Effect	of TU <sub>max</sub>						 -		-	-
Intercept								-1.35	-1.72	-3.3	-2.24		-1.88	-1.29	-3.60	-2.92	1.46	-2.44	-2.21	-2.22
Slope								-0.65	-0.24	-0.46	-1.08		-0.22	-0.021	-0.53	-0.28	0.36	-0.51	-0.53	-0.48
$X^2/F$								1.49	0.29	2.33	0.14		7.19	0.0062	2.14	0.51	1.45	5.70	5.11	2.21
df								4	4	4	4		4	4	4	4	4	4	4	4
р								0.22	0.58	0.12	0.70		0.007	0.93	0.14	0.47	0.29	0.075	0.086	0.21
Significance													**					(*)	(*)	
$R^2$								0.16	0.025	0.084	0.0051		0.022	0.0002	0.11	0.033	0.083	0.48	0.45	0.19

For survival and mating: Binomial GLM with logit link function For per-capita growth: Normal LM with per-capita-growth log-transformed Log-transformed EC<sub>75</sub>

## B

#### **Supporting Information for chapter 3**

**Ayesha Siddique**, Naeem Shahid, Matthias Liess 2022. Multiple stress reduces the advantage of pesticide adaptation. Published in "Environmental Science and Technology".



**Figure B.1.** Location of the sampling sites that cover a range of non-contaminated to moderately contaminated streams in central Germany. Square shapes represents the sampling sites and are coloured according to the  $TU_{max}$  values ranging from -6 (low pesticide pollution; green) to 0 (high pesticide pollution; red).



**Figure B.2.** Comparison of the median effective concentrations (EC<sub>50</sub>) after 48 h exposure to the neonicotinoid insecticide clothianidin before and after pre-exposure of *G. pulex* collected from agricultural and reference streams in the laboratory at 16°C, 20°C and 24°C. The effect of temperature on the clothianidin tolerance of forest populations is shown in (a) whereas the effect of temperature on increased clothianidin of agricultural populations is shown in (b). Grey dots represent data points.



**Figure B.3.** Survival of *G. pulex* after 48h exposure to clothianidin at 20- and 24°C in reference and agricultural population with- and without pre-exposure in lab using  $16^{\circ}$ C respective reference as control. The solid lines show the fitted observed concentration–response relationships, and the dashed lines represent the modeled concentration–response relationship under additional stress using the SAM.

B. Supporting Information for chapter 3

614 ID	CDE 4 D	TU	Tempe (°	rature C)		48h EC50	Spring				48h EC5	0 Autumn		
Site ID	SPEAK	I Umax	Spring	Autumn	16 °C	20 °C	24 °C	P.E 16 °C	16 °C	20 °C	48h ECse Autumn           24 °C         P.E 16 °C         P.E 20 °C           22         77         41           26         110         54           10         259         40           NA         292         66           8         351         133           43         498         86           43.6         153         85           22         283         NA           NA         290         110           8.8         90         113           11         284         97           15.7         27         50.5           20         110         47           6         255         79           12.0         130         43	P.E 20 °C	P.E 24 °C	
S35	0.86	-2.64	9	13	395.6	85.9	40	289.9	188.67	22	22	77	41	28
S39	0.75	-2.31	9	13.5	187	129.3	58	158.5	100	26	26	110	54	21
S43	1.03	-2.69	9	12.6	439.4	183	36.8	254	88.85	10	10	259	40	18
S66	0.94	-2.93	9.8	10	456	85	41.9	778.9	225	NA	NA	292	66	NA
S73	NA	-3.59	16.2	9.3	169.4	60.7	47	209.3	214	8	8	351	133	NA
S76	0.74	-2.95	15	4	215	80.7	68.5	188.3	297	43	43	498	86	22
S78	0.61	-4.19	11	5.6	92.4	25	21.6	191.7	98.7	43.6	43.6	153	85	12
S79	0.80	-3.04	18	9.3	215	32.4	70.7	610	94	22	22	283	NA	NA
S83	0.86	-1.68	10.3	7.1	254	17.8	9.9	151.8	646	NA	NA	290	110	2
S85	0.52	-1.51	6.3	15.4	203.6	136.1	26	147	356	8.8	8.8	90	113	20
S102	0.75	-3.07	12	5.6	60.9	33.8	17.6	60.6	294	11	11	284	97	12
S105	1.63	-4.81	7.5	10	148.5	76.9	32	152	62.6	15.7	15.7	27	50.5	18
S109	0.79	-3.28	8.2	5.6	111	40.3	33.4	321	95	20	20	110	47	9
S115	1.69	-5.37	6.4	13.5	93.9	54.6	18	144.9	212	6	6	255	79	1
S116	1.22	-5.78	5.4	12	90.6	25.7	30.9	203.7	59.87	12.9	12.9	139	64	16
S118	1.61	-3.07	8.1	5.6	183	31	18.3	188.3	419	NA	NA	330	46	NA

Table B.1. Pesticide exposure and EC<sub>50</sub> of the study sites.

		Sp	oring		Autumn							
Site ID	16 °C	20 °C	24 °C	PE16 °C	16 °C	20 °C	24 °C	PE16 °C	РЕ20 °С	PE24 °C		
S35	12	0	0	10	0	6	33	0	0	0		
S39	15	7	5	6	0	0	8	12	20	0		
S43	6	0	25	0	0	0	13	0	0	16		
S66	0	13	30	0	0	6	NA	0	8	NA		
S73	0	6	6.25	0	6	6	22	0	0	NA		
S76	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	5	16		
S78	21	13	18	0	7	0	0	6	18	0		
S79	0	11	16	0	22	0	20	0	NA	NA		
S83	0	40	14	14	5	0	NA	0	6	33		
S85	0	0	27	0	0	0	0	0	0	25		
S102	15	16	21	15	6	0	14	0	8	8		
S105	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	6	0	0		
S109	0	0	0	0	0	0	7	6	6	11		
S115	6	0	18	11	0	0	22	0	5	41		
S116	14	0	12	0	6	0	20	0	0	6		
S118	0	16	0	0	0	6	NA	0	0	NA		

Table B.2. Percentage mortality in pesticide-free controls.

C. Supporting Information for chapter 4

### C

#### **Supporting Information for chapter 4**

Ayesha Siddique, Naeem Shahid, Matthias Liess 2023. Persistent pesticides effects favour single population dominance and reduces biodiversity of vulnerable species. Submitted.



**Figure C.1.** Location of the sampling sites that cover a range of non-contaminated to moderately contaminated streams in central Germany. Square shapes represents the sampling sites and are coloured according to the  $TU_{max}$  values ranging from -6 (low pesticide pollution; green) to 0 (high pesticide pollution; red).



Figure C.2. Correlation plot representing correlations for different field factors determining pesticide tolerance in G. pulex. Genetic diversity represents within population genetic diversity, area covered with forest represents forest areas around the streams, SPEAR taxa represents proportion of sensitive species calculated by SPEAR<sub>pesticide</sub>, total nitrogen represents sum of NO2, NO3, and NH4 in mg/L, total phosphorus represents PO4 in mg/L, pesticide contamination represents highest pesticide concentrations measured at each stream represent as TU<sub>max</sub> and background contamination represents pesticide concentrations measured with grab samples. Values in the boxes represent correlation power, negative values represent negative correlations, positive values represent positive correlation. White boxes represent insignificant correlations (p-value > 0.05).

C. Supporting Information for chapter 4



**Figure C.3. Non-metric multi-dimentional scaling (NMDS).** Two-dimensional ordination of populations of *G. pulex* collected from different sites in 2018, 2019 Spring and 2019 Autumn from non-metric multi-dimensional scaling (MDS) applied to a Bray-Curtis similarity matrix with 95% eclipse. Each symbol represents one individual.



**Figure C.4.** Multiple linear regression between pair-wise geographic distance (waterways) and pairwise genetic dissimilarity for all populations based on Bray–Curtis similarity index (converted to diversity index) for AFLP measurements. Grey area represents  $\pm$  95% confidence intervals and dots represent data points.



**Figure C.5.** Relationship between within population genetic diversity and (a) macroinvertebrate community structure expressed as SPEAR<sub>Pesticides</sub>, (b) Species diversity expressed as Shannon index, (c) Total number of insect taxa, and (d) Percentage of sensitive species (EPT). Grey area represents  $\pm$  95 % confidence interval and dots represent data points.



Figure C.6. Correlation plot representing correlations for different field factors affecting the genetic diversity of G. pulex. pH mean represents mean of pH measured continuously from April to July, pesticide contamination represents highest pesticide concentrations measured at each stream represent as TUmax, area covered with agriculture represents agricultural areas with pesticides around the streams, metal contamination represents maximum toxicity caused by metals represent as TU<sub>max</sub>, total nitrogen represents sum of NO2, NO3, and NH4 in mg/L, total phosphorus represents PO4 in mg/L, abundance of gammarids represent a count of G. pulex sampled from each stream alng with other macroinvertebrates, Genetic diversity represents within population genetic diversity, area covered with forest represents forest areas around the streams, SPEAR taxa represents proportion of sensitive species calculated by SPEAR<sub>pesticide</sub>, EPT species represent percentage of EPT species at each sites and total insect taxa represents total taxa found at each stream. Values in the boxes represent correlation power, negative values represent negative correlations, positive values represent positive correlation. White boxes represent insignificant correlations (p*value* > 0.05)


**Figure C.7.** Relationship between local pesticide contamination ( $TU_{max}$ ) and ratio of high to low contamination alleles. Grey area represents  $\pm$  95% confidence interval and dots represent data points.



**Figure C.8.** Relationship between abundance of *G. pulex* and inbreeding coefficient (Fis) in the studied populations. Grey area represents  $\pm$  95% confidence interval and dots represent data points.



**Figure C.9.** Relationship between Gammarid inbreeding coefficient ( $F_{is}$ ) and (a) Local pesticide contamination ( $TU_{max}$ ), and (b) Genetic diversity in *G. pulex*. Grey area represents  $\pm$  95% confidence interval and dots represent data points.



**Figure C.10.** Relationship between local pesticide contamination  $(TU_{max})$  and abundance of *G. pulex* (log-transformed) in the respective streams. Grey area represents  $\pm$  95% confidence interval and dots represent data points.



**Figure C.11.** Correlation plot for macroinvertebrates abundance represented here at the group level. Values in the boxes represent correlation power, negative values represent negative correlations, positive values represent positive correlation. White boxes represent insignificant correlations (*p*-value > 0.05).

Site ID	Coordinates	Temn	Flow	Dissolved		SPEAR			
		[°C]	velocity [m/s]	O <sub>2</sub> [mg/L]	рН		liogl		
S116.1	50.623331, 10.635981	14.6	0.27	9.58	7.3	0.75	-6		
S105.1	52.165597, 10.832033	18.6	0.12	8.85	7.8	1	-2.96		
S33	52.148642, 10.477586	17.7	0.24	7.28	8.1	0.48	-2.62		
S117	50.592508, 10.646661	21.6	0.05	7.86	7.3	0.72	-6		
S73	51.616645, 11.210976	19.3	0.17	7.9	8.1	0.78	-2.62		
S115.1	51.734614, 10.660653	20.3	0.32	9.84	7.9	1.04	-6		
S124	51.153917, 12.700556	NA	NA	NA	7.9	0.91	-1.04		
S78	52.075711, 11.31275	16	0.36	8.7	8.2	0.42	-4.21		
S82	51.892306, 10.976806	20.4	0.42	6.55	8.3	0.46	-2.55		
S32	52.228258, 10.166289	17.8	0.02	5.69	7.9	0.19	-1.47		
S74	51.289945, 12.152368	19.4	0.25	6.81	8	0.29	-1.89		
S35.1	52.175367, 10.684714	19.7	0.17	6.46	8.4	0.53	-1.83		
S98.1	51.941583, 11.158639	NA	NA	NA	NA	1.24	-0.9		
S76.1	51.460978, 11.471981	18.3	0.3	8.2	8.3	0.46	-2.55		
S77	51.635608, 11.938936	19.5	0.31	7.14	8.3	0.21	-1.42		
S68	51.492756, 12.486058	24.6	0.12	8.52	8.1	0.2	-1.53		
S69	51.335278, 12.971361	16.2	0.41	8.31	7.8	0.48	-2.1		
S71	51.211849, 12.7032	19.5	0.49	5.63	7.8	0.56	-1.04		
S79.1	51.72064, 11.296767	20.1	0.24	5.99	8.1	0.5	-2.22		
S43.1	52.277353, 10.751378	16.4	0.44	8.29	7.1	0.43	-1.58		
S85.1	51.009792, 10.89115	16.1	0.12	8.49	7.9	0.32	-0.14		
S116.2	50.623331, 10.635981	21.8	0.35	9.26	7.4	0.75	-3.86		
S118	51.409195, 10.259272	21.6	0.23	8.3	7.4	0.99	-3.47		
S115.2	51.734614, 10.660653	20.3	0.32	9.84	7.9	1.04	-6		
105.2	52.165597, 10.832033	18.6	0.12	8.85	7.8	1	-2.96		
S83.1	51.400363, 10.251626	14.4	0.34	8.77	7.5	0.53	-1.68		
S35.2	52.175367, 10.684714	19.6	0.27	8.66	8.2	0.53	-1.48		
S98.2	51.941583, 11.158639	NA	NA	NA	NA	1.24	-1.8		
S76.2	51.460978, 11.471981	17.5	0.12	8.44	8.2	0.46	-1.7		
S43.2	52.277353, 10.751378	16.4	0.44	8.29	7.1	0.43	-1.58		
S79.2	51.72064, 11.296767	20.1	0.24	5.99	8.1	0.5	-2.22		
S85.2	51.009792, 10.89115	16.1	0.12	8.49	7.9	0.32	-0.14		
S115.3	51.734614, 10.660653	20.3	0.32	9.84	7.9	1.04	-6		
S83.2	51.400363, 10.251626	14.4	0.34	8.77	7.5	0.53	-1.68		
S98.3	51.941583, 11.158639	NA	NA	NA	NA	1.24	-1.8		
S76.3	51.460978, 11.471981	17.5	0.12	8.44	8.2	0.46	-1.7		
S35.3	52.175367, 10.684714	19.6	0.27	8.66	8.2	0.53	-1.48		
S85.3	51.009792, 10.89115	16.1	0.12	8.49	7.9	0.32	-0.14		

 Table C.1. Physico-chemical parameters of the streams.

	EcoRI	MseI
Restriction site	5' GAA TTC	5' TTA A
	CTT AAG 5'	AAT T 5′
Adaptor	5' CTC GTA GAC TGC GTA CC	5' GAC GAT GAG TCC TGA G
	CAT CTG ACG CAT GGT TAA 5'	TA CTC AGG ACT CAT 5'
Pre-selective primer	5' GAC TGC GTA CCA ATT C + A	5' GAT GAG TCC TGA GTA A + C
Selective primer	5' GAC TGC GTA CCA ATT C + ACC	5' GAT GAG TCC TGA GTA A + CTG* – HEX

Table C.2. Sequences of primers and adaptors used in the AFLP procedures.

Sr. no	Site ID	No. of Bands	PLP	Within pop Genetic diversity	Between pop Genetic diversity	$\mathbf{N}_{\mathbf{a}}$	He	uHe	Avg. PhiPT	F <sub>is</sub>
1	S116.1	336	73	13.6	49	1.5	0.193	0.197	0.45	0.056
2	S105.1	378	77	20	47.1	1.6	0.229	0.235	0.30	0.032
3	S33	390	81	18.3	46.7	1.7	0.225	0.231	0.35	0.025
4	S117	362	78	15.7	44.6	1.6	0.220	0.225	0.39	0.12
5	S73	414	90	17.5	42.5	1.8	0.257	0.262	0.31	0.09
6	S115.1	337	62	12.3	40.5	1.4	0.190	0.194	0.43	0.06
7	S124	342	68	11.4	38.5	1.4	0.204	0.210	0.41	0.084
8	S78	403	85	14.4	37.7	1.7	0.229	0.236	0.31	0.07
9	S82	361	72	10.6	35.8	1.5	0.199	0.203	0.38	0.038
10	S32	306	60	5.4	32.7	1.3	0.176	0.180	0.43	0.015
11	S74	346	70	6.7	33.7	1.5	0.210	0.215	0.38	0.09
12	S35.1	257	42	4.4	34.2	1.0	0.153	0.157	0.51	0.011
13	S98.1	247	37	3.7	33.2	0.9	0.138	0.141	0.48	0.046
14	S76.1	213	35	3.5	34.4	0.8	0.132	0.135	0.49	0.02
15	S77	304	60	5.4	35.3	1.3	0.198	0.203	0.40	0.095
16	S68	309	63	6	36.7	1.3	0.212	0.219	0.39	0.096
17	S69	371	78	6.4	37.7	1.6	0.220	0.227	0.41	0.082
18	S71	303	58	4.7	36.5	1.2	0.173	0.179	0.41	0.11
19	S79.1	281	48	3.2	36.8	1.1	0.115	0.118	0.48	0.045
20	S43.1	242	41	3.8	37.7	0.9	0.156	0.160	0.45	0.025
21	S85.1	285	50	4.2	38.6	1.1	0.158	0.162	0.43	0.022
22	S116.2	341	72	22.8	68.7	1.5	0.189	0.194	0.44	0.041
23	S118	311	53	18.6	65.9	1.2	0.127	0.130	0.49	0.011
24	S115.2	350	68	22.8	61.1	1.5	0.190	0.194	0.41	0.052
25	105.2	366	72	21.8	57.6	1.5	0.186	0.189	0.42	0.027
26	S83.1	293	57	7.3	34.4	1.2	0.148	0.151	0.49	0.059
27	S35.2	289	53	6.3	34.3	1.2	0.134	0.137	0.54	0.061
28	S98.2	264	41	4.8	32.3	1.0	0.114	0.117	0.54	0.055
29	S76.2	240	38	4.9	32.9	0.9	0.111	0.114	0.55	0.041
30	S43.2	262	45	4.7	32.1	1.0	0.122	0.125	0.55	0.033
31	S79.2	298	52	5.1	31.4	1.2	0.108	0.110	0.51	0.04
32	S85.2	299	56	6.1	31.4	1.2	0.148	0.151	0.45	0.022
33	S115.3	355	69	17.1	52.44	1.5	0.179	0.183	0.43	0.072
34	S83.2	339	68	6.2	31.5	1.4	0.156	0.159	0.45	0.038
35	S98.3	275	40	3.6	30.9	1.0	0.097	0.099	0.54	0.031
36	S76.3	229	29	3.1	31.8	0.8	0.077	0.079	0.58	0.015
37	S35.3	322	58	4.3	32.3	1.3	0.121	0.123	0.54	0.06
38	S85.3	328	63	5.6	32.2	1.3	0.156	0.159	0.43	0.018

Table C.3. Populations genetic statistics based on 451 AFLP loci.

Site ID refers to sites under KgM dataset (Liess et al., 2021a). Population genetics statistics are coded as follows. Polymorphic Loci percentage (PLP), Average number of alleles per locus (N<sub>a</sub>), Expected heterozygosity (H<sub>e</sub>), Unbiased Heterozygosity (uH<sub>e</sub>), Genetic differentiation (PhiPT), Inbreeding coefficient (F<sub>is</sub>).

**Table C.4.** Pairwise geographic distance and genetic dissimilarity computed by SIMPER based on bray-curtis similarity index.

																																			<u>г</u>			
Site ID	S116.2 S	5118	S115.2 S	6105.2	S115.3 S	5116.1	\$105.1	S33 3	S117	S73 S	\$115.1 \$	5124	S78	S82	S83.1	S35.2	\$98.2	S76.2	\$43.2 \$	\$79.2	\$85.2 \$	583.2	S98.3 S	576.3	535.3	S85.3	S32 !	\$74 \$	535.1 S	<b>98.1</b>	576.1	S77	S68	S69	S71 5	579.1	\$43.1	S85.1
S116.2		600	600	600	600	0	600	600	600	600	600	600	600	600	600	600	600	600	600	600	600	600	600	600	600	600	600	600	600	600	600	600	600	600	600	600	600	600
S118	39		448	520	448	600	520	600	600	345	448	600	350	600	1	509	360	127	521	369	162	1	360	127	509	162	600	600	509	360	127	600	600	600	600	369	521	162
S115.2	43	36		393	0	600	393	600	600	155	0	600	117	600	447	382	95	366	385	100	416	447	95	366	382	416	600	600	382	95	366	600	600	600	600	100	385	416
S105.2	51	45	39		600	600	0	34	600	191	393	600	97	98	519	17	305	439	71	314	499	519	305	439	17	499	71	600	17	305	439	275	600	600	600	314	71	499
S115.3	50	43	29	35		600	393	600	600	155	0	600	117	600	447	382	95	366	385	100	416	447	95	366	382	416	600	600	382	95	366	600	600	600	600	100	385	416
S116.1	41	47	41	37	27		600	600	600	600	600	600	600	600	600	600	600	600	600	600	600	600	600	600	600	600	600	600	600	600	600	600	600	600	600	600	600	600
S105.1	56	53	45	37	32	26		34	600	191	393	600	97	98	519	17	305	439	71	314	499	519	305	439	17	499	71	600	17	305	439	275	600	600	600	314	71	499
S33	62	60	52	47	39	32	27		600	184	600	600	85	93	600	24	78	600	600	145	600	600	78	600	24	600	219	600	24	78	500	139	600	600	600	145	600	600
S117	60	60	53	48	40	31	29	26		600	600	600	600	600	600	600	600	600	600	600	600	600	600	600	600	600	600	600	600	600	600	600	600	600	600	600	600	600
S73	65	62	55	50	42	37	31	26	24		155	169	99	112	344	279	101	264	282	55	313	344	101	264	279	313	219	145	279	101	264	84	600	600	163	55	282	313
S115.1	66	62	54	52	41	39	33	30	26	21		600	117	600	447	382	95	366	385	100	416	447	95	366	382	416	600	600	382	95	366	600	600	600	600	100	385	416
S124	65	62	55	52	43	38	33	32	29	24	21		600	334	600	385	319	246	600	400	299	600	319	246	385	299	600	115	385	319	246	208	600	600	8	408	500	299
S78	68	65	57	53	45	41	36	33	30	25	22	18		43	350	301	29	269	303	69	320	350	29	269	301	320	121	600	301	29	269	89	600	600	600	69	303	320
S82	68	65	58	54	47	42	36	33	31	25	23	19	16		600	107	15	371	500	46	424	600	15	371	107	424	140	500	107	15	371	181	600	600	319	46	500	424
S83.1	68	63	59	53	48	43	40	39	35	32	29	24	22	19		508	359	126	520	367	161	0	359	126	508	161	600	600	508	359	126	600	600	600	600	367	520	161
\$35.2	71	67	63	55	52	46	43	44	39	36	33	29	26	23	16		294	428	60	303	488	508	294	428	0	488	62	293	0	294	428	166	600	600	370	303	60	488
S98.2	69	66	61	55	51	46	42	43	39	36	33	28	26	22	17	15		279	297	46	328	359	0	279	294	328	120	223	294	0	279	102	600	600	303	46	297	328
S76.2	74	69	65	58	54	50	46	45	42	38	35	31	28	25	19	16	14		430	287	95	126	279	0	428	95	600	129	428	279	264	251	600	600	246	287	430	95
S43.2	72	69	65	59	54	50	47	45	42	38	36	31	29	26	21	19	16	14		305	491	520	297	430	60	491	600	600	60	297	430	600	600	600	600	305	0	491
S79.2	73	68	65	61	55	50	49	48	44	41	38	34	31	29	22	18	17	14	12		337	367	46	287	303	337	180	185	303	46	287	130	600	600	400	0	305	337
S85.2	75	71	67	61	57	53	49	49	48	43	39	35	33	30	25	22	18	17	16	12		161	328	95	488	0	600	182	488	328	95	304	600	600	284	337	491	0
S83.2	76	72	68	63	59	54	51	51	47	44	41	37	35	32	22	25	21	19	17	14	12		359	126	508	161	600	600	508	359	126	600	600	600	600	367	520	161
S98.3	74	71	67	63	58	54	51	51	48	45	42	37	36	33	28	26	17	21	19	16	13	11		279	294	328	120	223	294	0	279	102	600	600	303	46	297	328
\$76.3	78	74	70	65	61	58	54	53	51	47	44	40	38	35	29	27	24	17	21	17	14	13	10		428	95	600	129	428	279	264	251	600	600	246	287	430	95
\$35.3	78	75	72	65	63	58	55	55	52	49	46	42	40	37	32	23	25	24	22	18	17	15	12	10		488	62	293	0	294	428	166	600	600	370	303	60	488
S85.3	78	75	72	65	63	59	56	55	52	50	46	42	40	38	32	30	26	25	24	20	15	16	13	11	10		600	182	488	328	95	304	600	600	284	337	491	0
S32	79	77	73	70	64	60	57	52	52	48	45	43	40	37	35	33	30	28	25	23	21	18	16	15	14	11		600	62	120	600	88	600	600	600	180	600	600
S74	81	79	74	71	65	62	57	54	52	48	45	44	41	37	38	36	32	31	28	26	23	21	18	18	16	13	10		600	223	129	500	600	600	102	185	600	182
\$35.1	80	80	75	72	66	62	58	54	53	49	46	45	43	39	39	37	33	32	29	27	25	22	20	19	18	15	11	10		294	428	166	600	600	370	303	60	488
S98.1	79	78	73	69	65	61	57	55	53	48	46	44	42	37	38	36	32	32	29	27	24	22	19	19	17	14	12	10	9		279	102	600	600	303	46	297	328
S76.1	81	80	75	72	67	63	60	56	54	51	48	46	43	40	40	38	35	33	30	28	25	23	21	20	19	16	13	11	10	8		251	600	600	246	287	430	95
S77	82	80	75	73	67	64	60	57	55	51	48	47	45	41	41	39	36	34	32	30	27	25	23	22	20	17	14	12	11	9	7		600	600	200	130	600	304
S68	84	82	78	74	69	66	62	58	57	52	50	49	46	43	43	41	37	36	33	31	29	27	24	23	22	19	16	13	12	11	9	8		600	600	600	600	600
S69	84	81	77	74	69	66	63	62	59	56	53	50	49	46	44	41	38	37	34	32	29	27	25	23	22	19	18	17	15	14	12	11	10		600	600	600	600
S71	82	80	76	73	68	65	62	59	57	54	51	48	47	44	42	40	37	35	33	31	29	27	24	23	22	19	17	16	14	12	11	10	10	9		400	600	284
S79.1	81	78	76	72	68	64	63	62	59	57	54	51	49	47	42	38	36	35	33	26	28	26	24	22	20	18	18	18	17	14	13	12	12	10	8		305	337
S43.1	82	81	77	74	69	66	63	59	58	54	52	49	48	44	44	43	39	38	34	33	31	28	26	25	24	21	18	17	15	13	12	11	10	11	9	9		491
COE 1		0.2	77	75	70	07	04	00	50		50	E1	40	40	45	10	40	20		24		20	07	27	25	22	10	10	10	40		12	10	10	10	10		

Genetic dissimilarity is presented in percentage (increasing from red to green) and geographic distance in Km (increasing from light to dark grey). For the streams where no water connection was possible, a maximum value of 600 Km was considered.

C. Supporting Information for chapter 4

Table C.5. Pairwise genetic differentiation and significance.

Site ID	S116.2	S118	S115.2	S105.2	\$115. <u>9</u>	S116.1	\$105.1	S33	S117	S73	\$115.1	S124	S78	S82	S83.1	S35.2	S98.2	\$76.2	S43.2	\$79.2	S85.2	S83.2	S98.3	<b>\$76.3</b>	S35.3	S85.3	S32	S74	\$35.1	S98.1	\$76.1	S77	S68	S69	S71 :	\$79.1 S	<b>\$43.1</b>	S85.1
S116.2		0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.493	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.00
S118	0.4		0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.00
S115.2	0.3	0.3		0.001	0.49	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.00
S105.2	0.4	0.4	0.4		0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.00
\$115.3	0.4	0.4	0.0	0.4		0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.00
S116.1	0.0	0.4	0.3	0.4	0.4		0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.00
\$105.1	0.3	0.3	0.2	0.2	0.3	0.3		0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.00
S33	0.4	0.4	0.38	0.4	0.4	0.4	0.2		0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.00
S117	0.3	0.5	0.38	0.4	0.4	0.3	0.2	0.3		0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.00
\$73	0.4	0.4	0.34	0.4	0.4	0.4	0.2	0.1	0.2		0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.00
\$115.1	0.5	0.5	0.37	0.5	0.4	0.5	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.2		0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.00
S124	0.4	0.5	0.4	0.4	0.4	0.4	0.2	0.3	0.3	0.2	0.4		0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.00
S78	0.3	0.4	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.1	0.2	0.2	0.1	0.2	0.2		0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.00
S82	0.4	0.5	0.4	0.4	0.4	0.4	0.2	0.2	0.3	0.1	0.3	0.3	0.1		0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.00
S83.1	0.5	0.5	0.4	0.4	0.5	0.5	0.3	0.5	0.5	0.4	0.5	0.5	0.4	0.5		0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.00
\$35.2	0.5	0.6	0.5	0.4	0.5	0.5	0.4	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.6	0.6	0.5	0.6	0.55		0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.00
S98.2	0.5	0.6	0.5	0.4	0.5	0.5	0.4	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.6	0.5	0.4	0.5	0.53	0.6		0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.00
\$76.2	0.6	0.6	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.6	0.4	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.6	0.6	0.4	0.5	0.55	0.6	0.6		0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.00
S43.2	0.6	0.6	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.6	0.4	0.5	0.5	0.4	0.6	0.5	0.4	0.5	0.57	0.6	0.7	0.6		0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.00
\$79.2	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.4	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.6	0.6	0.4	0.5	0.51	0.5	0.6	0.6	0.6		0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.45	0.001	0.00
S85.2	0.5	0.5	0.4	0.4	0.5	0.5	0.3	0.4	0.4	0.4	0.5	0.5	0.3	0.5	0.4	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.6	0.5		0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.47	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.00
S83.2	0.4	0.5	0.4	0.4	0.4	0.5	0.3	0.4	0.4	0.4	0.5	0.5	0.4	0.5	0.0	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.4		0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.00
\$98.3	0.5	0.6	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.4	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.6	0.5	0.4	0.5	0.5	0.6	0.2	0.6	0.6	0.6	0.5	0.51		0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.00
\$76.3	0.6	0.6	0.5	0.5	0.6	0.6	0.5	0.5	0.6	0.5	0.6	0.6	0.5	0.6	0.6	0.6	0.7	0.2	0.7	0.6	0.5	0.5	0.7		0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.00
S35.3	0.5	0.6	0.5	0.4	0.6	0.6	0.4	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.6	0.6	0.5	0.6	0.6	0.2	0.6	0.6	0.6	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.6	0.6		0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.00
S85.3	0.4	0.4	0.4	0.3	0.4	0.4	0.3	0.4	0.4	0.4	0.5	0.4	0.3	0.4	0.4	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.4	0.0	0.4	0.5	0.5	0.5		0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.00
S32	0.4	0.5	0.4	0.5	0.4	0.5	0.3	0.2	0.4	0.2	0.4	0.4	0.3	0.3	0.5	0.6	0.6	0.6	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.6	0.6	0.6	0.5		0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.00
S74	0.4	0.5	0.4	0.4	0.4	0.4	0.2	0.2	0.3	0.1	0.3	0.3	0.2	0.2	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.6	0.5	0.4	0.3		0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.00
\$35.1	0.5	0.6	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.6	0.4	0.3	0.4	0.3	0.4	0.5	0.3	0.4	0.6	0.7	0.6	0.7	0.6	0.6	0.6	0.6	0.6	0.7	0.7	0.6	0.44	0.3		0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.00
S98.1	0.5	0.6	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.3	0.3	0.4	0.2	0.4	0.4	0.3	0.2	0.6	0.6	0.6	0.6	0.6	0.6	0.5	0.5	0.6	0.7	0.6	0.5	0.4	0.3	0.5		0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.00
\$76.1	0.5	0.6	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.3	0.3	0.4	0.3	0.4	0.4	0.3	0.4	0.6	0.7	0.7	0.7	0.6	0.6	0.6	0.5	0.7	0.7	0.7	0.5	0.4	0.3	0.5	0.5		0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.00
S77	0.4	0.5	0.4	0.4	0.4	0.5	0.2	0.2	0.3	0.2	0.3	0.3	0.2	0.2	0.5	0.6	0.6	0.6	0.6	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.6	0.6	0.6	0.4	0.3	0.2	0.4	0.4	0.3		0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.00
S68	0.4	0.5	0.4	0.4	0.4	0.5	0.2	0.1	0.3	0.1	0.3	0.3	0.2	0.2	0.5	0.6	0.6	0.6	0.5	0.6	0.5	0.5	0.6	0.6	0.6	0.5	0.3	0.2	0.4	0.4	0.4	0.2		0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.00
S69	0.4	0.4	0.3	0.4	0.4	0.4	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.4	0.3	0.3	0.4	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.4	0.4	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.4	0.4	0.4	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.4	0.3		0.001	0.001	0.001	0.00
S71	0.4	0.5	0.4	0.4	0.4	0.4	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.2	0.4	0.3	0.2	0.3	0.5	0.5	0.6	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.4	0.5	0.6	0.6	0.6	0.4	0.3	0.3	0.5	0.4	0.4	0.3	0.3	0.4		0.001	0.001	0.00
\$79.1	0.5	0.5	0.4	0.4	0.5	0.5	0.4	0.5	0.5	0.4	0.5	0.5	0.4	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.6	0.5	0.6	0.0	0.4	0.5	0.6	0.6	0.5	0.4	0.5	0.5	0.6	0.6	0.6	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.5		0.001	0.00
\$43.1	0.5	0.6	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.3	0.2	0.4	0.2	0.4	0.4	0.2	0.3	0.6	0.6	0.6	0.6	0.6	0.6	0.5	0.5	0.6	0.7	0.6	0.5	0.4	0.3	0.4	0.4	0.4	0.3	0.3	0.4	0.4	0.6		0.00
\$85.1	0.5	0.5	0.4	0.5	0.4	0.5	0.3	0.2	0.3	0.2	0.4	0.4	0.2	0.3	0.5	0.6	0.6	0.6	0.6	0.6	0.5	0.5	0.6	0.6	0.6	0.5	0.3	0.3	0.4	0.4	0.4	0.3	0.3	0.4	0.4	0.6	0.3	

Genetic differentiation is represented as PhiPT (F<sub>st</sub> analog) below the diagnol (increasing from red to blue) and significance for each pair is presented above the diagonal.

152

## D

## **Supporting Information for chapter 5**

Naeem Shahid, **Ayesha Siddique**, Matthias Liess 2023. Predicting the combined effects of multiple stressors and individual stress adaptation (Submitted).

**Table D.1:** Information of the investigated streams including physicochemical parameters such as water temperature (°C), water level (cm), dissolved oxygen (DO) and pH, water toxicity in terms of  $TU_{max}$  values, and the composition of the macroinvertebrate community structure expressed as SPEAR<sub>pesticides</sub>.

Sites ID	Temperature [°C]	Water level (cm)	DO [mg/L]	рН	Toxic Unit (TU <sub>max</sub> )	SPEAR
Agri 1	9.3	19	13.56	8.45	-2.5	0.65
Agri 2	5.6	19	12.7	8.07	-3.0	0.89
Agri 3	7.6	34	12.82	7.75	-2.8	0.58
Agri 4	5.3	24	11.92	7.54	-2.5	0.50
Agri 5	6.8	36	14.42	7.89	-2.0	0.40
Agri 6	5.8	10	13.93	8.61	-1.5	0.24
Agri 7	7.2	25	13	8.23	-3.0	0.63
Agri 8	6.4	30	15.88	8.34	-1.5	0.52
Non-Agri 1	7.1	12	7.59	7.77	-4.7	1.63
Non-Agri 2	7.1	20	11.7	7.89	-3.7	0.80
Non-Agri 3	4.5	18	12.66	7.88	-4.9	1.69
Non-Agri 4	6.9	18	12.11	8.1	-3.7	0.79



**Figure D.1**: Location of the sampling sites in central Germany that cover a wide range from non-contaminated to highly contaminated streams. Square shapes represent sampling sites and are coloured according to the SPEAR<sub>pesticide</sub> values ranging from good (green) to bad ecological status (red).



Pesticide Contamination (log TUmax)

**Figure D.2:** Local pesticide contamination increases clothianidin tolerance of *Gammarus pulex* in small streams. Pesticide contamination is quantified as a decadic logarithm of the concentration of a compound measured in an event-driven water sample divided by its acute  $LC_{50}$  for a standard reference organism. Relationships are shown for clothianidin tolerance at different temperatures and prochloraz concentrations as additional stressors. The grey area corresponds to the 95% confidence interval.



**Figure D.3.** Relationship between the median effect concentrations (48 h  $EC_{50}$ ) of clothianidin for *G. pulex* and the community composition of macroinvertebrates expressed as SPEAR<sub>pesticides</sub>. The grey areas correspond to the 95% confidence intervals.



**Figure D.4:** Tolerance to clothianidin decreased with increasing concentration of prochloraz. The tolerance ratio was calculated by dividing  $LC_{50}$  of each population by the average  $LC_{50}$  of the respective controls without prochloraz. The lower and upper boundaries of the box represent 25<sup>th</sup> and 75<sup>th</sup> percentile, the horizontal line denotes the median, and the whiskers correspond to the lowest and highest values. Dashed lines represent fitted regression with confidence intervals displayed by shaded areas. The significance level is displayed as "\*\*" for p < 0.01.



**Figure D.5.** Survival of *Gammarus pulex* exposed to a neonicotinoid insecticide clothianidin and an azole fungicide prochloraz at 19°C. Dose-response relationships are displayed for reference (A-C) and agricultural (D-F) populations - without additional stress at 16°C (blue points, solid line) and in combination with different prochloraz concentrations (A, D;  $0\mu g/L$ , B, E;  $1\mu g/L$  and C, F;  $10\mu g/L$ ) and elevated temperature (19°C) as additional stressors (red points, solid line). Data points represent the average survival of the populations from the respective group. The red dashed line represents the modelled concentration-response relationship under additional stress using the Stress Addition Model (SAM); whereas, violet and cyan dashed lines represent the EA and CA models respectively.



**Figure D.6.** Survival of *Gammarus pulex* exposed to a neonicotinoid insecticide clothianidin and an azole fungicide prochloraz at 22°C. Dose-response relationships are displayed for reference (A-C) and agricultural (D-F) populations - without additional stress at 16°C (blue points, solid line) and in combination with different prochloraz concentrations (A, D;  $0\mu g/L$ , B, E;  $1\mu g/L$  and C, F;  $10\mu g/L$ ) and elevated temperature (22°C) as additional stressors (red points, solid line). Data points represent the average survival of the populations from the respective group. The red dashed line represents the modelled concentration-response relationship under additional stress using the Stress Addition Model (SAM); whereas, violet and cyan dashed lines represent the EA and CA models respectively.

## **Bibliography**

- 1. Abel, P., Garner, S., 1986. Comparisons of median survival times and median lethal exposure times for Gammarus pulex exposed to cadmium, permethrin and cyanide. Water Research 20, 579-582.
- 2. Abelho, M., Graça, M., 2000. Use of a flow-through system for assessing microbial respiration rates associated with decomposing leaves. Limnetica 19, 167-174.
- 3. Adeyemi, J.A., Klerks, P.L., 2013. Occurrence of copper acclimation in the least killifish Heterandria formosa, and associated biochemical and physiological mechanisms. Aquatic Toxicology 130, 51-57.
- 4. Allan, I.J., Vrana, B., Greenwood, R., Mills, G.A., Roig, B., Gonzalez, C., 2006. A "toolbox" for biological and chemical monitoring requirements for the European Union's Water Framework Directive. Talanta 69, 302-322.
- 5. Alletto, L., Coquet, Y., Benoit, P., Heddadj, D., Barriuso, E., 2011. Tillage management effects on pesticide fate in soils, Sustainable Agriculture Volume 2. Springer, pp. 787-831.
- 6. Amiard-Triquet, C., Rainbow, P.S., Romeo, M., 2011. Tolerance to environmental contaminants. CRC Press.
- 7. AREAS, P., 2003. Convention on Biological Diversity.
- 8. Assessment, M.E., 2005. Ecosystems and human well-being: wetlands and water. World Resources Institute.
- 9. Athrey, N.G., Leberg, P.L., Klerks, P.L., 2007. Laboratory culturing and selection for increased resistance to cadmium reduce genetic variation in the least killifish, Heterandria formosa. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry: An International Journal 26, 1916-1921.
- Auld, J.R., Agrawal, A.A., Relyea, R.A., 2010. Re-evaluating the costs and limits of adaptive phenotypic plasticity. Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences 277, 503-511.
- 11. Baas, J., Jager, T., Kooijman, B., 2010. A review of DEB theory in assessing toxic effects of mixtures. Science of the Total Environment 408, 3740-3745.
- 12. Bach, L., Dahllof, I., 2012. Local contamination in relation to population genetic diversity and resilience of an arctic marine amphipod. Aquatic Toxicology 114-115, 58-66.
- 13. Backhaus, T., Arrhenius, Å., Blanck, H., 2004. Toxicity of a mixture of dissimilarly acting substances to natural algal communities: predictive power and limitations of independent action and concentration addition. Environmental science & technology 38, 6363-6370.
- 14. Barbour, M.T., Gerritsen, J., Snyder, B.D., Stribling, J.B., 1999. Rapid bioassessment protocols for use in streams and wadeable rivers: periphyton, benthic macroinvertebrates and fish. US Environmental Protection Agency, Office of Water Washington, DC.

- Barnosky, A.D., Hadly, E.A., Bascompte, J., Berlow, E.L., Brown, J.H., Fortelius, M., Getz, W.M., Harte, J., Hastings, A., Marquet, P.A., 2012. Approaching a state shift in Earth's biosphere. Nature 486, 52-58.
- Barros, S., Montes, R., Quintana, J.B., Rodil, R., Oliveira, J.M.A., Santos, M.M., Neuparth, T., 2017. Chronic effects of triclocarban in the amphipod Gammarus locusta: Behavioural and biochemical impairment. Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety 135, 276-283.
- Bass, C., Field, L.M., 2018. Neonicotinoids. Current Biology 28, R772-R773.
- Beauvais, S.L., Jones, S.B., Brewer, S.K., Little, E.E., 2000. Physiological measures of neurotoxicity of diazinon and malathion to larval rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss) and their correlation with behavioral measures. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry 19, 1875-1880.
- 19. Becker, J.M., Liess, M., 2015. Biotic interactions govern genetic adaptation to toxicants, Proc. R. Soc. B. The Royal Society, p. 20150071.
- 20. Becker, J.M., Liess, M., 2017. Species Diversity Hinders Adaptation to Toxicants. Environmental Science & Technology 51, 10195-10202.
- 21. Becker, J.M., Russo, R., Shahid, N., Liess, M., 2020. Drivers of pesticide resistance in freshwater amphipods. Science of the Total Environment 735, 139264.
- 22. Beermann, A.J., Elbrecht, V., Karnatz, S., Ma, L., Matthaei, C.D., Piggott, J.J., Leese, F., 2018. Multiple-stressor effects on stream macroinvertebrate communities: A mesocosm experiment manipulating salinity, fine sediment and flow velocity. Science of the Total Environment 610-611, 961-971.
- 23. Beketov, M., Foit, K., Schäfer, R., Schriever, C., Sacchi, A., Capri, E., Biggs, J., Wells, C., Liess, M., 2009. SPEAR indicates pesticide effects in streams–comparative use of species-and family-level biomonitoring data. Environmental Pollution 157, 1841-1848.
- 24. Beketov, M.A., Kefford, B.J., SchÄfer, R.B., Liess, M., 2013. Pesticides reduce regional biodiversity of stream invertebrates. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 110, 11039-11043.
- 25. Beketov, M.A., Liess, M., 2008. Acute and delayed effects of the neonicotinoid insecticide thiacloprid on seven freshwater arthropods. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry 27, 461-470.
- 26. Belden, J.B., Gilliom, R.J., Lydy, M.J., 2007. How well can we predict the toxicity of pesticide mixtures to aquatic life? Integrated environmental assessment and management 3, 364-372.
- Bereswill, R., Streloke, M., Schulz, R., 2013. Current-use pesticides in stream water and suspended particles following runoff: Exposure, effects, and mitigation requirements. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry 32, 1254-1263.

- 28. Bickham, J.W., 2011. The four cornerstones of Evolutionary Toxicology. Ecotoxicology 20, 497-502.
- 29. Bickham, J.W., Sandhu, S., Hebert, P.D., Chikhi, L., Athwal, R., 2000. Effects of chemical contaminants on genetic diversity in natural populations: implications for biomonitoring and ecotoxicology. Mutation Research 463, 33-51.
- Birk, S., Chapman, D., Carvalho, L., Spears, B.M., Andersen, H.E., Argillier, C., Auer, S., Baattrup-Pedersen, A., Banin, L., Beklioğlu, M., 2020. Impacts of multiple stressors on freshwater biota across spatial scales and ecosystems. Nature Ecology & Evolution, 1-8.
- 31. Bliss, C., 1939a. The toxicity of poisons applied jointly 1. Annals of applied biology 26, 585-615.
- 32. Bliss, C.I., 1939b. The toxicity of poisons applied jointly 1. Annals of applied biology 26, 585-615.
- 33. Bonada, N., Prat, N., Resh, V.H., Statzner, B., 2006. Developments in aquatic insect biomonitoring: a comparative analysis of recent approaches. Annual Review of Entomology 51, 495-523.
- 34. Bondarenko, S., Gan, J., 2004. Degradation and sorption of selected organophosphate and carbamate insecticides in urban stream sediments. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry: An International Journal 23, 1809-1814.
- 35. Bourguet, D., Raymond, M., Berrada, S., Fournier, D., 1997. Interaction between acetylcholinesterase and choline acetyltransferase: an hypothesis to explain unusual toxicological responses. Pesticide Science 51, 276-282.
- 36. Bowman, M.C., Oller, W.L., Cairns, T., Gosnell, A.B., Oliver, K.H., 1981. Stressed bioassay systems for rapid screening of pesticide residues. Part I: Evaluation of bioassay systems. Archives of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology 10, 9-24.
- Butchart, S.H., Walpole, M., Collen, B., Van Strien, A., Scharlemann, J.P., Almond, R.E., Baillie, J.E., Bomhard, B., Brown, C., Bruno, J., 2010. Global biodiversity: indicators of recent declines. Science 328, 1164-1168.
- Callahan, H.S., Maughan, H., Steiner, U.K., 2008. Phenotypic Plasticity, Costs of Phenotypes, and Costs of Plasticity. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences 1133, 44-66.
- 39. Campos, D., Gravato, C., Quintaneiro, C., Soares, A.M., Pestana, J.L., 2016. Responses of the aquatic midge Chironomus riparius to DEET exposure. Aquatic Toxicology 172, 80-85.
- Carlock, L.L., Chen, W., Gordon, E.B., Killeen, J.C., Manley, A., Meyer, L.S., Mullin, L.S., Pendino, K.J., Percy, A., Sargent, D.E., 1999. Regulating and assessing risks of cholinesterase-inhibiting pesticides: divergent approaches and interpretations. Journal of Toxicology and Environmental Health Part B: Critical Reviews 2, 105-160.

- 41. Casida, J.E., 2009. Pest Toxicology: The Primary Mechanisms of Pesticide Action. Chemical Research in Toxicology 22, 609-619.
- 42. Casida, J.E., Durkin, K.A., 2013. Neuroactive insecticides: targets, selectivity, resistance, and secondary effects. Annual review of entomology 58, 99-117.
- 43. Casida, J.E., Quistad, G.B., 1998. Golden age of insecticide research: past, present, or future? Annual review of entomology 43, 1-16.
- 44. Cedergreen, N., 2014. Quantifying synergy: a systematic review of mixture toxicity studies within environmental toxicology. PloS One 9, e96580.
- 45. Chaplain, V., Mamy, L., Vieublé, L., Mougin, C., Benoit, P., Barriuso, E., Nélieu, S., 2011. Fate of pesticides in soils: Toward an integrated approach of influential factors. InTech.
- 46. Chara-Serna, A.M., Epele, L.B., Morrissey, C.A., Richardson, J.S., 2019. Nutrients and sediment modify the impacts of a neonicotinoid insecticide on freshwater community structure and ecosystem functioning. Science of the Total Environment 692, 1291-1303.
- 47. Chen, C., Wang, Y., Qian, Y., Zhao, X., Wang, Q., 2015. The synergistic toxicity of the multiple chemical mixtures: implications for risk assessment in the terrestrial environment. Environment International 77, 95-105.
- 48. Cherkasov, A.S., Biswas, P.K., Ridings, D.M., Ringwood, A.H., Sokolova, I.M., 2006. Effects of acclimation temperature and cadmium exposure on cellular energy budgets in the marine mollusk Crassostrea virginica: linking cellular and mitochondrial responses. Journal of Experimental Biology 209, 1274-1284.
- 49. Clements, W.H., Brooks, M.L., Kashian, D.R., Zuellig, R.E., 2008. Changes in dissolved organic material determine exposure of stream benthic communities to UV-B radiation and heavy metals: implications for climate change. Global Change Biology 14, 2201-2214.
- 50. Cold, A., Forbes, V.E., 2004. Consequences of a short pulse of pesticide exposure for survival and reproduction of Gammarus pulex. Aquatic Toxicology 67, 287-299.
- Cornejo, A., Tonin, A.M., Checa, B., Tunon, A.R., Perez, D., Coronado, E., Gonzalez, S., Rios, T., Macchi, P., Correa-Araneda, F., Boyero, L., 2019. Effects of multiple stressors associated with agriculture on stream macroinvertebrate communities in a tropical catchment. PloS One 14.
- 52. Costa, D., Marien, J., Janssens, T.K., van Gestel, C.A., Driessen, G., Sousa, J.P., van Straalen, N.M., Roelofs, D., 2012. Influence of adaptive evolution of cadmium tolerance on neutral and functional genetic variation in Orchesella cincta. Ecotoxicology 21, 2078-2087.
- 53. Covich, A.P., Palmer, M.A., Crowl, T.A., 1999. The Role of Benthic Invertebrate Species in Freshwater Ecosystems: Zoobenthic species influence energy flows and nutrient cycling. Bioscience 49, 119-127.

- D. Vinebrooke, R., L. Cottingham, K., Norberg, M.S., Jon, I. Dodson, S., C. Maberly, S., Sommer, U., 2004. Impacts of multiple stressors on biodiversity and ecosystem functioning: The role of species co-tolerance. Oikos 104, 451-457.
- 55. Dangles, O., Guérold, F., 1999. Impact of headwater stream acidification on the trophic structure of macroinvertebrate communities. International Review of Hydrobiology 84, 287-297.
- 56. Darling, E.S., Côté, I.M., 2008. Quantifying the evidence for ecological synergies. Ecology Letters 11, 1278-1286.
- 57. Davis, R.F., Wauchope, R.D., Johnson, A.W., Burgoa, B., Pepperman, A.B., 1996. Release of fenamiphos, atrazine, and alachlor into flowing water from granules and spray deposits of conventional and controlled-release formulations. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry 44, 2900-2907.
- 58. Debat, V., David, P., 2001. Mapping phenotypes: canalization, plasticity and developmental stability. Trends in Ecology & Evolution 16, 555-561.
- 59. Delnat, V., Janssens, L., Stoks, R., 2020. Effects of predator cues and pesticide resistance on the toxicity of a (bio)pesticide mixture. Pest Management Science 76, 1448-1455.
- 60. Delnat, V., Tran, T.T., Janssens, L., Stoks, R., 2019. Daily temperature variation magnifies the toxicity of a mixture consisting of a chemical pesticide and a biopesticide in a vector mosquito. Science of the Total Environment 659, 33-40.
- 61. Dinh, K.V., Janssens, L., Stoks, R., 2016. Exposure to a heat wave under food limitation makes an agricultural insecticide lethal: a mechanistic laboratory experiment. Global Change Biology 22, 3361-3372.
- 62. Dinh Van, K., Janssens, L., Debecker, S., De Jonge, M., Lambret, P., Nilsson-Ortman, V., Bervoets, L., Stoks, R., 2013. Susceptibility to a metal under global warming is shaped by thermal adaptation along a latitudinal gradient. Global Change Biology 19, 2625-2633.
- 63. Djogbénou, L., Noel, V., Agnew, P., 2010. Costs of insensitive acetylcholinesterase insecticide resistance for the malaria vector Anopheles gambiae homozygous for the G119S mutation. Malaria Journal 9, 1-8.
- 64. Doppler, T., Camenzuli, L., Hirzel, G., Krauss, M., Lück, A., Stamm, C., 2012. Spatial variability of herbicide mobilisation and transport at catchment scale: insights from a field experiment. Hydrology and Earth System Sciences 16, 1947-1967.
- 65. Dudgeon, D., Arthington, A.H., Gessner, M.O., Kawabata, Z., Knowler, D.J., Leveque, C., Naiman, R.J., Prieur-Richard, A.H., Soto, D., Stiassny, M.L., Sullivan, C.A., 2006. Freshwater biodiversity: importance, threats, status and conservation challenges. Biological Reviews of the Cambridge Philosophical Society 81, 163-182.

- 66. EFSA, 2013. Guidance on tiered risk assessment for plant protection products for aquatic organisms in edge-of-field surface waters. EFSA Journal 11, 3290.
- 67. European Commission, 2011. Commission Regulation (EU) No 546/2011 of 10 June 2011 implementing Regulation (EC) No 1107/2009 of the European Parliament and of the Council as regards uniform principles for evaluation and authorisation of plant protection products. Official Journal of the European Union 50, 127-175.
- 68. Farwell, M., Drouillard, K.G., Heath, D.D., Pitcher, T.E., 2012. Acclimation of life-history traits to experimental changes in environmental contaminant concentrations in brown bullhead (Ameiurus nebulosus). Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry 31, 863-869.
- 69. Fasola, E., Ribeiro, R., Lopes, I., 2015. Microevolution due to pollution in amphibians: A review on the genetic erosion hypothesis. Environmental Pollution 204, 181-190.
- 70. Faust, M., Altenburger, R., Backhaus, T., Blanck, H., Boedeker, W., Gramatica, P., Hamer, V., Scholze, M., Vighi, M., Grimme, L., 2001. Predicting the joint algal toxicity of multi-component s-triazine mixtures at low-effect concentrations of individual toxicants. Aquatic Toxicology 56, 13-32.
- 71. Feder, M.E., Hofmann, G.E., 1999. Heat-shock proteins, molecular chaperones, and the stress response: evolutionary and ecological physiology. Annual Review of Physiology 61, 243-282.
- 72. Ffrench-Constant, R.H., Bass, C., 2017. Does resistance really carry a fitness cost? Curr Opin Insect Sci 21, 39-46.
- 73. Fisher, R.A., 1958. The genetical theory of natural selection. Рипол Классик.
- 74. Folt, C.L., Chen, C.Y., Moore, M.V., Burnaford, J., 1999. Synergism and antagonism among multiple stressors. Limnology and Oceanography 44, 864-877.
- 75. Fournier-Level, A., Good, R.T., Wilcox, S.A., Rane, R.V., Schiffer, M., Chen, W., Battlay, P., Perry, T., Batterham, P., Hoffmann, A.A., 2019. The spread of resistance to imidacloprid is restricted by thermotolerance in natural populations of Drosophila melanogaster. Nature ecology & evolution 3, 647-656.
- 76. Frankham, R., 2005. Genetics and extinction. Biological conservation 126, 131-140.
- 77. Frankham, R., 2015. Genetic rescue of small inbred populations: Metaanalysis reveals large and consistent benefits of gene flow. Molecular ecology 24, 2610-2618.
- 78. Franklin, N.M., Stauber, J.L., Markich, S.J., Lim, R.P., 2000. pHdependent toxicity of copper and uranium to a tropical freshwater alga (Chlorella sp.). Aquatic Toxicology 48, 275-289.

- 79. Friberg, N., Lindstrøm, M., Kronvang, B., Larsen, S.E., 2003. Macroinvertebrate/sediment relationships along a pesticide gradient in Danish streams, The Interactions between Sediments and Water. Springer, pp. 103-110.
- Friberg, N., Skriver, J., LARSEN, S.E., Pedersen, M.L., Buffagni, A., 2010. Stream macroinvertebrate occurrence along gradients in organic pollution and eutrophication. Freshwater Biology 55, 1405-1419.
- 81. Fukuto, T.R., 1990. Mechanism of action of organophosphorus and carbamate insecticides. Environmental health perspectives 87, 245-254.
- 82. Gamfeldt, L., Hillebrand, H., Jonsson, P.R., 2008. Multiple functions increase the importance of biodiversity for overall ecosystem functioning. Ecology 89, 1223-1231.
- 83. Gellert, G., Pottgiesser, T., Euler, T., 2014. Assessment of the structural quality of streams in Germany—basic description and current status. Environmental monitoring and assessment 186, 3365-3378.
- 84. Graça, M.A., 2001. The role of invertebrates on leaf litter decomposition in streams–a review. International Review of Hydrobiology 86, 383-393.
- 85. Greenwood, R., Mills, G., Vrana, B., 2007. Passive sampling techniques in environmental monitoring. Elsevier.
- 86. Guo, L., Nordmark, C.E., Spurlock, F.C., Johnson, B.R., Li, L., Lee, J.M., Goh, K.S., 2004. Characterizing dependence of pesticide load in surface water on precipitation and pesticide use for the Sacramento River watershed. Environmental science & technology 38, 3842-3852.
- 87. Heim, J.R., Weston, D.P., Major, K., Poynton, H., Huff Hartz, K.E., Lydy, M.J., 2018. Are there fitness costs of adaptive pyrethroid resistance in the amphipod, Hyalella azteca? Environmental Pollution 235, 39-46.
- 88. Hering, D., Feld, C.K., Moog, O., Ofenböck, T., 2006. Cook book for the development of a Multimetric Index for biological condition of aquatic ecosystems: experiences from the European AQEM and STAR projects and related initiatives, The Ecological Status of European Rivers: Evaluation and Intercalibration of Assessment Methods. Springer, pp. 311-324.
- Heugens, E.H., Hendriks, A.J., Dekker, T., Straalen, N.M.v., Admiraal, W., 2001. A review of the effects of multiple stressors on aquatic organisms and analysis of uncertainty factors for use in risk assessment. Critical Reviews in Toxicology 31, 247-284.
- Heugens, E.H., Tokkie, L.T., Kraak, M.H., Hendriks, A.J., Van Straalen, N.M., Admiraal, W., 2006. Population growth of Daphnia magna under multiple stress conditions: joint effects of temperature, food, and cadmium. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry 25, 1399-1407.
- 91. Hoffmann, A.A., Willi, Y., 2008. Detecting genetic responses to environmental change. Nature Reviews Genetics 9, 421-432.
- 92. Holmstrup, M., Bindesbol, A.M., Oostingh, G.J., Duschl, A., Scheil, V., Kohler, H.R., Loureiro, S., Soares, A.M., Ferreira, A.L., Kienle, C.,

Gerhardt, A., Laskowski, R., Kramarz, P.E., Bayley, M., Svendsen, C., Spurgeon, D.J., 2010. Interactions between effects of environmental chemicals and natural stressors: a review. Science of the Total Environment 408, 3746-3762.

- 93. Hua, J., Morehouse, N.I., Relyea, R., 2013. Pesticide tolerance in amphibians: induced tolerance in susceptible populations, constitutive tolerance in tolerant populations. Evolutionary applications 6, 1028-1040.
- 94. Hunt, L., Bonetto, C., Marrochi, N., Scalise, A., Fanelli, S., Liess, M., Lydy, M.J., Chiu, M.C., Resh, V.H., 2017. Species at Risk (SPEAR) index indicates effects of insecticides on stream invertebrate communities in soy production regions of the Argentine Pampas. Science of The Total Environment 580, 699-709.
- 95. Inostroza, P.A., Vera-Escalona, I., Wicht, A.-J., Krauss, M., Brack, W., Norf, H., 2016. Anthropogenic Stressors Shape Genetic Structure: Insights from a Model Freshwater Population along a Land Use Gradient. Environmental science & technology 50, 11346-11356.
- 96. Ippolito, A., Kattwinkel, M., Rasmussen, J.J., Schäfer, R.B., Fornaroli, R., Liess, M., 2015. Modeling global distribution of agricultural insecticides in surface waters. Environmental Pollution 198, 54-60.
- 97. Iwasa, T., Motoyama, N., Ambrose, J.T., Roe, R.M., 2004. Mechanism for the differential toxicity of neonicotinoid insecticides in the honey bee, Apis mellifera. Crop Protection 23, 371-378.
- Jackson, M.C., Loewen, C.J.G., Vinebrooke, R.D., Chimimba, C.T., 2016. Net effects of multiple stressors in freshwater ecosystems: a metaanalysis. Global Change Biology 22, 180-189.
- 99. Jager, T., Heugens, E.H., Kooijman, S.A., 2006. Making sense of ecotoxicological test results: towards application of process-based models. Ecotoxicology 15, 305-314.
- 100. Jansen, M., Coors, A., Stoks, R., De Meester, L., 2011a. Evolutionary ecotoxicology of pesticide resistance: a case study in Daphnia. Ecotoxicology 20, 543-551.
- Jansen, M., Stoks, R., Coors, A., van Doorslaer, W., de Meester, L., 2011b. Collateral damage: rapid exposure-induced evolution of pesticide resistance leads to increased susceptibility to parasites. Evolution 65, 2681-2691.
- 102. Janssens, T.K., Roelofs, D., Van Straalen, N.M., 2009. Molecular mechanisms of heavy metal tolerance and evolution in invertebrates. Insect Science 16, 3-18.
- 103. Jeschke, P., Nauen, R., Schindler, M., Elbert, A., 2010. Overview of the status and global strategy for neonicotinoids. Journal of agricultural and food chemistry 59, 2897-2908.

- 104. Jeschke, P., Nauen, R., Schindler, M., Elbert, A., 2011. Overview of the status and global strategy for neonicotinoids. J Agric Food Chem 59, 2897-2908.
- 105. Karr, J.R., 1999. Defining and measuring river health. Freshwater biology 41, 221-234.
- 106. Karr, J.R., Chu, E.W., 1998. Restoring life in running waters: better biological monitoring. Island Press.
- 107. Kashian, D.R., Prusha, B.A., Clements, W.H., 2004. Influence of total organic carbon and UV-B radiation on zinc toxicity and bioaccumulation in aquatic communities. Environmental science & technology 38, 6371-6376.
- 108. Kefford, B.J., 2013. Rapid Tests for Community-Level Risk Assessments in Ecotoxicology, Encyclopedia of Aquatic Ecotoxicology. Springer, pp. 957-966.
- 109. Kliot, A., Ghanim, M., 2012. Fitness costs associated with insecticide resistance. Pest management science 68, 1431-1437.
- 110. Klüttgen, B., Dülmer, U., Engels, M., Ratte, H., 1994. ADaM, an artificial freshwater for the culture of zooplankton. Water research 28, 743-746.
- 111. Knillmann, S., Orlinskiy, P., Kaske, O., Foit, K., Liess, M., 2018. Indication of pesticide effects and recolonization in streams. Science of the Total Environment 630, 1619-1627.
- 112. Kookana, R.S., Ahmad, R., Farenhorst, A., 2014. Sorption of pesticides and its dependence on soil properties: Chemometrics approach for estimating sorption, Non-First Order Degradation and Time-Dependent Sorption of Organic Chemicals in Soil. ACS Publications, pp. 221-240.
- 113. Kretschmann, A., Gottardi, M., Dalhoff, K., Cedergreen, N., 2015. The synergistic potential of the azole fungicides prochloraz and propiconazole toward a short alpha-cypermethrin pulse increases over time in Daphnia magna. Aquatic Toxicology 162, 94-101.
- 114. Kreuger, J., 1998. Pesticides in stream water within an agricultural catchment in southern Sweden, 1990–1996. Science of the Total Environment 216, 227-251.
- 115. Kreuger, J., Graaf, S., Patring, J., Adielsson, S., 2010. Pesticides in surface water in areas with open ground and greenhouse horticultural crops in Sweden 2008.
- Kronvang, B., Strøm, H., Hoffmann, C., Laubel, A., Friberg, N., 2004. Subsurface tile drainage loss of modern pesticides: field experiment results. Water Science and Technology 49, 139-148.
- 117. Kumlu, M., Kumlu, M., Turkmen, S., 2010. Combined effects of temperature and salinity on critical thermal minima of pacific white shrimp Litopenaeus vannamei (Crustacea: Penaeidae). Journal of Thermal Biology 35, 302-304.

- 118. Laetz, C.A., Baldwin, D.H., Collier, T.K., Hebert, V., Stark, J.D., Scholz, N.L., 2009. The synergistic toxicity of pesticide mixtures: implications for risk assessment and the conservation of endangered Pacific salmon. Environmental health perspectives 117, 348-353.
- 119. Lagator, M., Colegrave, N., Neve, P., 2014. Selection history and epistatic interactions impact dynamics of adaptation to novel environmental stresses. Proceedings: Biological Sciences 281, 20141679.
- 120. Leahey, J.P., 1985. The pyrethroid insecticides. Taylor & Francis.
- 121. Leonard, R.A., 1988. Herbicides in surface waters.
- 122. Leu, C., Singer, H., Stamm, C., Müller, S.R., Schwarzenbach, R.P., 2004. Variability of herbicide losses from 13 fields to surface water within a small catchment after a controlled herbicide application. Environmental science & technology 38, 3835-3841.
- 123. Li, L., Li, A., Song, K., Meng, J., Guo, X., Li, S., Li, C., De Wit, P., Que, H., Wu, F., Wang, W., Qi, H., Xu, F., Cong, R., Huang, B., Li, Y., Wang, T., Tang, X., Liu, S., Li, B., Shi, R., Liu, Y., Bu, C., Zhang, C., He, W., Zhao, S., Li, H., Zhang, S., Zhang, L., Zhang, G., 2018. Divergence and plasticity shape adaptive potential of the Pacific oyster. Nature Ecology & Evolution 2, 1751-1760.
- 124. Liess, M., Champeau, O., Riddle, M., Schulz, R., Duquesne, S., 2001. Combined effects of ultraviolet-B radiation and food shortage on the sensitivity of the Antarctic amphipod Paramoera walkeri to copper. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry 20, 2088-2092.
- 125. Liess, M., Foit, K., Becker, A., Hassold, E., Dolciotti, I., Kattwinkel, M., Duquesne, S., 2013a. Culmination of low-dose pesticide effects. Environmental Science & Technology 47, 8862-8868.
- 126. Liess, M., Foit, K., Becker, A., Hassold, E., Dolciotti, I., Kattwinkel, M., Duquesne, S., 2013b. Culmination of low-dose pesticide effects. Environmental science & technology 47, 8862-8868.
- Liess, M., Foit, K., Knillmann, S., Schäfer, R.B., Liess, H.-D., 2016a. Predicting the synergy of multiple stress effects. Scientific Reports 6, 32965.
- Liess, M., Foit, K., Knillmann, S., Schafer, R.B., Liess, H.D., 2016b. Predicting the synergy of multiple stress effects. Scientific Reports 6, 32965.
- 129. Liess, M., Henz, S., Knillmann, S., 2019. Predicting lowconcentration effects of pesticides. Scientific Reports 9, 1-9.
- Liess, M., Liebmann, L., Vormeier, P., Weisner, O., Altenburger, R., Borchardt, D., Brack, W., Chatzinotas, A., Escher, B., Foit, K., 2021a. The Lowland Stream Monitoring Dataset (KgM, Kleingewässer-Monitoring) 2018. PANGAEA.

- 131. Liess, M., Liebmann, L., Vormeier, P., Weisner, O., Altenburger, R., Borchardt, D., Brack, W., Chatzinotas, A., Escher, B., Foit, K., 2021b. Pesticides are the dominant stressors for vulnerable insects in lowland streams. Water Research 201, 117262.
- 132. Liess, M., Liebmann, L., Vormeier, P., Weisner, O., Altenburger, R., Borchardt, D., Brack, W., Chatzinotas, A., Escher, B., Foit, K., Gunold, R., Henz, S., Hitzfeld, K.L., Schmitt-Jansen, M., Kamjunke, N., Kaske, O., Knillmann, S., Krauss, M., Küster, E., Link, M., Lück, M., Möder, M., Müller, A., Paschke, A., Schäfer, R.B., Schneeweiss, A., Schreiner, V.C., Schulze, T., Schüürmann, G., von Tümpling, W., Weitere, M., Wogram, J., Reemtsma, T., 2021c. Pesticides are the dominant stressors for vulnerable insects in lowland streams. Water Research 201, 117262.
- 133. Liess, M., Ohe, P.C.V.D., 2005. Analyzing effects of pesticides on invertebrate communities in streams. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry 24, 954-965.
- 134. Liess, M., Schäfer, R.B., Schriever, C.A., 2008. The footprint of pesticide stress in communities—species traits reveal community effects of toxicants. Science of the total environment 406, 484-490.
- 135. Liess, M., Schulz, R., 1996. Chronic effects of short-term contamination with the pyrethroid insecticide fenvalerate on the caddisfly Limnephilus lunatus. Hydrobiologia 324, 99-106.
- 136. Liess, M., Schulz, R., 1999. Linking insecticide contamination and population response in an agricultural stream. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry 18, 1948-1955.
- 137. Liess, M., Schulz, R., Liess, M.-D., Rother, B., Kreuzig, R., 1999. Determination of insecticide contamination in agricultural headwater streams. Water Research 33, 239-247.
- 138. Liess, M., von der Ohe, P.C., 2005. Analyzing effects of pesticides on invertebrate communities in streams. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry 24, 954-965.
- 139. Loewe, S., Muischnek, H., 1926a. Über kombinationswirkungen. Naunyn-Schmiedebergs Archiv für Experimentelle Pathologie und Pharmakologie 114, 313-326.
- 140. Loewe, S.t., Muischnek, H., 1926b. Über kombinationswirkungen. Naunyn-Schmiedebergs Archiv für Experimentelle Pathologie und Pharmakologie 114, 313-326.
- 141. Loewen, C.J.G., Strecker, A.L., Gilbert, B., Jackson, D.A., 2020. Climate warming moderates the impacts of introduced sportfish on multiple dimensions of prey biodiversity. Global Change Biology 26, 4937-4951.
- 142. Lopes, I., Baird, D., Ribeiro, R., 2004. Genetic determination of tolerance to lethal and sublethal copper concentrations in field

populations of Daphnia longispina. Archives of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology 46, 43-51.

- 143. Lopes, P.C., Sucena, É., Santos, M.E., Magalhães, S., 2008. Rapid experimental evolution of pesticide resistance in C. elegans entails no costs and affects the mating system. PloS One 3, e3741.
- 144. Lorenz, A., Hering, D., Feld, C.K., Rolauffs, P., 2004. A new method for assessing the impact of hydromorphological degradation on the macroinvertebrate fauna of five German stream types. Hydrobiologia 516, 107-127.
- Lydy, M., Belden, J., Wheelock, C., Hammock, B., Denton, D., 2004. Challenges in regulating pesticide mixtures. Ecology and Society 9.
- 146. Macaulay, S.J., Hageman, K.J., Piggott, J.J., Juvigny-Khenafou, N.P.D., Matthaei, C.D., 2021a. Warming and imidacloprid pulses determine macroinvertebrate community dynamics in experimental streams. Global Change Biology 27, 5469-5490.
- 147. Macaulay, S.J., Hageman, K.J., Piggott, J.J., Matthaei, C.D., 2021b. Time-cumulative effects of neonicotinoid exposure, heatwaves and food limitation on stream mayfly nymphs: A multiple-stressor experiment. Science of the Total Environment 754, 141941.
- 148. Maes, G.E., Raeymaekers, J.A., Pampoulie, C., Seynaeve, A., Goemans, G., Belpaire, C., Volckaert, F.A., 2005. The catadromous European eel Anguilla anguilla (L.) as a model for freshwater evolutionary ecotoxicology: relationship between heavy metal bioaccumulation, condition and genetic variability. Aquatic Toxicology 73, 99-114.
- 149. Major, K.M., Weston, D.P., Lydy, M.J., Wellborn, G.A., Poynton, H.C., 2018. Unintentional exposure to terrestrial pesticides drives widespread and predictable evolution of resistance in freshwater crustaceans. Evol Appl 11, 748-761.
- 150. Malaj, E., von der Ohe, P.C., Grote, M., Kuhne, R., Mondy, C.P., Usseglio-Polatera, P., Brack, W., Schäfer, R.B., 2014. Organic chemicals jeopardize the health of freshwater ecosystems on the continental scale. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 111, 9549-9554.
- 151. Maltby, L., Naylor, C., 1990. Preliminary observations on the ecological relevance of the Gammarusscope for growth'assay: effect of zinc on reproduction. Functional Ecology, 393-397.
- 152. Markert, J.A., Champlin, D.M., Gutjahr-Gobell, R., Grear, J.S., Kuhn, A., McGreevy, T.J., Roth, A., Bagley, M.J., Nacci, D.E., 2010. Population genetic diversity and fitness in multiple environments. BMC evolutionary biology 10, 1-13.
- 153. Martins, N., Bollinger, C., Harper, R.M., Ribeiro, R., 2009. Effects of acid mine drainage on the genetic diversity and structure of a

natural population of Daphnia longispina. Aquatic Toxicology 92, 104-112.

- 154. Matthaei, C.D., Piggott, J.J., Townsend, C.R., 2010. Multiple stressors in agricultural streams: interactions among sediment addition, nutrient enrichment and water abstraction. Journal of Applied Ecology 47, 639-649.
- 155. McCahon, C., Pascoe, D., 1988a. Culture techniques for three freshwater macroinvertebrate species and their use in toxicity tests. Chemosphere 17, 2471-2480.
- 156. McCahon, C., Pascoe, D., 1988b. Use of Gammarus pulex (L.) in safety evaluation tests: culture and selection of a sensitive life stage. Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety 15, 245-252.
- 157. McMillan, A.M., Bagley, M.J., Jackson, S.A., Nacci, D.E., 2006. Genetic diversity and structure of an estuarine fish (Fundulus heteroclitus) indigenous to sites associated with a highly contaminated urban harbor. Ecotoxicology 15, 539.
- 158. Medina, M.H., Correa, J.A., Barata, C., 2007. Micro-evolution due to pollution: possible consequences for ecosystem responses to toxic stress. Chemosphere 67, 2105-2114.
- 159. Meehl, G.A., Tebaldi, C., 2004. More intense, more frequent, and longer lasting heat waves in the 21st century. Science 305, 994-997.
- 160. Mehler, W.T., Du, J., Lydy, M.J., You, J., 2011. Joint Toxicity of a Pyrethroid Insecticide, Cypermethrin, and a Heavy Metal, Lead, to the Benthic Invertebrate Chironomus Dilutus. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry 30, 2838-2845.
- 161. Meng, S., Tran, T.T., Van Dinh, K., Delnat, V., Stoks, R., 2022. Acute warming increases pesticide toxicity more than transgenerational warming by reducing the energy budget. Science of The Total Environment 805.
- 162. Meyer, J.N., Di Giulio, R.T., 2003. Heritable adaptation and fitness costs in killifish (Fundulus heteroclitus) inhabiting a polluted estuary. Ecological Applications 13, 490-503.
- 163. Millar, N.S., Denholm, I., 2007. Nicotinic acetylcholine receptors: targets for commercially important insecticides. Invertebrate Neuroscience 7, 53-66.
- 164. Miller, L.M., Bartell, S.E., Schoenfuss, H.L., 2012. Assessing the effects of historical exposure to endocrine-active compounds on reproductive health and genetic diversity in walleye, a native apex predator, in a large riverine system. Archives of environmental contamination and toxicology 62, 657-671.
- 165. Miller, T.L., 2002. Oregon pesticide applicator manual: A guide to the safe use and handling of pesticides. Oregon State University.
- 166. Moe, S.J., De Schamphelaere, K., Clements, W.H., Sorensen, M.T., Van den Brink, P.J., Liess, M., 2013. Combined and interactive

effects of global climate change and toxicants on populations and communities. Environmental toxicology and chemistry 32, 49-61.

- 167. Morris, O.F., Loewen, C.J.G., Woodward, G., Schafer, R.B., Piggott, J.J., Vinebrooke, R.D., Jackson, M.C., 2022. Local stressors mask the effects of warming in freshwater ecosystems. Ecology Letters.
- 168. Morrissey, C.A., Mineau, P., Devries, J.H., Sanchez-Bayo, F., Liess, M., Cavallaro, M.C., Liber, K., 2015. Neonicotinoid contamination of global surface waters and associated risk to aquatic invertebrates: A review. Environment International 74, 291-303.
- Münze, R., Hannemann, C., Orlinskiy, P., Gunold, R., Paschke, A., Foit, K., Becker, J., Kaske, O., Paulsson, E., Peterson, M., 2017. Pesticides from wastewater treatment plant effluents affect invertebrate communities. Science of The Total Environment 599, 387-399.
- Munze, R., Hannemann, C., Orlinskiy, P., Gunold, R., Paschke, A., Foit, K., Becker, J., Kaske, O., Paulsson, E., Peterson, M., Jernstedt, H., Kreuger, J., Schuurmann, G., Liess, M., 2017. Pesticides from wastewater treatment plant effluents affect invertebrate communities. Science of the Total Environment 599-600, 387-399.
- 171. Münze, R., Orlinskiy, P., Gunold, R., Paschke, A., Kaske, O., Beketov, M.A., Hundt, M., Bauer, C., Schüürmann, G., Möder, M., 2015. Pesticide impact on aquatic invertebrates identified with Chemcatcher® passive samplers and the SPEARpesticides index. Science of the Total Environment 537, 69-80.
- 172. Nauen, R., Denholm, I., 2005. Resistance of insect pests to neonicotinoid insecticides: current status and future prospects. Archives of insect biochemistry and physiology 58, 200-215.
- 173. Neumann, M., Schulz, R., Schäfer, K., Müller, W., Mannheller, W., Liess, M., 2002. The significance of entry routes as point and nonpoint sources of pesticides in small streams. Water Research 36, 835-842.
- 174. No, O.T., 2004. 202: Daphnia sp. acute immobilisation test. OECD guidelines for the testing of chemicals, section 2.
- 175. Nõges, P., Argillier, C., Borja, Á., Garmendia, J.M., Hanganu, J., Kodeš, V., Pletterbauer, F., Sagouis, A., Birk, S., 2016. Quantified biotic and abiotic responses to multiple stress in freshwater, marine and ground waters. Science of the Total Environment 540, 43-52.
- 176. Novais, S.C., Soares, A.M., De Coen, W., Amorim, M.J., 2013. Exposure of Enchytraeus albidus to Cd and Zn–Changes in cellular energy allocation (CEA) and linkage to transcriptional, enzymatic and reproductive effects. Chemosphere 90, 1305-1309.
- 177. Nowak, C., Vogt, C., Pfenninger, M., Schwenk, K., Oehlmann, J., Streit, B., Oetken, M., 2009. Rapid genetic erosion in pollutantexposed experimental chironomid populations. Environmental Pollution 157, 881-886.

- OECD, 2000. Guidance document on aquatic toxicity testing of difficult substances and mixtures. Series on Testing and Assessment 23. OECD Publishing.
- 179. OECD, 2004. Test No. 202: Daphnia sp. Acute Immobilisation Test. OECD Publishing.
- 180. Orlinskiy, P., Münze, R., Beketov, M., Gunold, R., Paschke, A., Knillmann, S., Liess, M., 2015. Forested headwaters mitigate pesticide effects on macroinvertebrate communities in streams: Mechanisms and quantification. Science of the Total Environment 524, 115-123.
- 181. Outlook, G.B., 2010. Global biodiversity outlook 3, Montréal, Canada: Secretariat of the Convention on Biological Diversity.(http://gbo3. cbd. int/) Phil. Trans. R. Soc. B.
- 182. Paris, J.R., King, R.A., Stevens, J.R., 2015. Human mining activity across the ages determines the genetic structure of modern brown trout (Salmo trutta L.) populations. Evolutionary Applications 8, 573-585.
- 183. Paun, O., Schönswetter, P., 2012. Amplified fragment length polymorphism: an invaluable fingerprinting technique for genomic, transcriptomic, and epigenetic studies, Plant DNA Fingerprinting and Barcoding. Springer, pp. 75-87.
- 184. Pedersen, M.L., 2009. Effects of channelisation, riparian structure and catchment area on physical habitats in small lowland streams. Fundamental and applied limnology 174, 89-99.
- 185. Pedersen, M.L., Friberg, N., 2009. Influence of disturbance on habitats and biological communities in lowland streams. Fundamental and Applied Limnology 174, 27-41.
- 186. Persson, L., Carney Almroth, B.M., Collins, C.D., Cornell, S., De Wit, C.A., Diamond, M.L., Fantke, P., Hassellöv, M., Macleod, M., Ryberg, M.W., Søgaard Jørgensen, P., Villarrubia-Gómez, P., Wang, Z., Hauschild, M.Z., 2022. Outside the Safe Operating Space of the Planetary Boundary for Novel Entities. Environmental Science & Technology 56, 1510-1521.
- 187. Peters, K., Bundschuh, M., Schäfer, R., 2013. Review on the effects of toxicants on freshwater ecosystem functions. Environmental pollution 180, 324-329.
- 188. Pettis, J.S., Johnson, J., Dively, G., 2012. Pesticide exposure in honey bees results in increased levels of the gut pathogen Nosema. Naturwissenschaften 99, 153-158.
- 189. Pieters, B.J., Paschke, A., Reynaldi, S., Kraak, M.H., Admiraal, W., Liess, M., 2005. Influence of food limitation on the effects of fenvalerate pulse exposure on the life history and population growth rate of Daphnia magna. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry 24, 2254-2259.

- Piggott, J.J., Niyogi, D.K., Townsend, C.R., Matthaei, C.D., 2015. Multiple stressors and stream ecosystem functioning: climate warming and agricultural stressors interact to affect processing of organic matter. Journal of Applied Ecology 52, 1126-1134.
- 191. Piola, R.F., Johnston, E.L., 2006. Differential tolerance to metals among populations of the introduced bryozoan Bugula neritina. Marine Biology 148, 997-1010.
- 192. Pisa, L.W., Amaral-Rogers, V., Belzunces, L.P., Bonmatin, J.-M., Downs, C.A., Goulson, D., Kreutzweiser, D.P., Krupke, C., Liess, M., McField, M., 2015. Effects of neonicotinoids and fipronil on nontarget invertebrates. Environmental Science and Pollution Research 22, 68-102.
- 193. Piscart, C., Genoel, R., Doledec, S., Chauvet, E., Marmonier, P., 2009. Effects of intense agricultural practices on heterotrophic processes in streams. Environmental Pollution 157, 1011-1018.
- 194. Poupardin, R., Reynaud, S., Strode, C., Ranson, H., Vontas, J., David, J.P., 2008. Cross-induction of detoxification genes by environmental xenobiotics and insecticides in the mosquito Aedes aegypti: impact on larval tolerance to chemical insecticides. Insect Biochemistry and Molecular Biology 38, 540-551.
- 195. R Core Team, 2022. R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria. (Aavailable from <u>http://www.r-project.org/</u>).
- 196. Raby, M., Maloney, E., Poirier, D.G., Sibley, P.K., 2019. Acute Effects of Binary Mixtures of Imidacloprid and Tebuconazole on 4 Freshwater Invertebrates. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry 38, 1093-1103.
- 197. Rasmussen, J.J., Baattrup-Pedersen, A., Wiberg-Larsen, P., McKnight, U.S., Kronvang, B., 2011. Buffer strip width and agricultural pesticide contamination in Danish lowland streams: Implications for stream and riparian management. Ecological Engineering 37, 1990-1997.
- 198. Rasmussen, J.J., Reiber, L., Holmstrup, M., Liess, M., 2017. Realistic pesticide exposure through water and food amplifies long-term effects in a Limnephilid caddisfly. Science of the Total Environment 580, 1439-1445.
- 199. Reed, D.H., Frankham, R., 2003. Correlation between fitness and genetic diversity. Conservation biology 17, 230-237.
- 200. Reemtsma, T., Alder, L., Banasiak, U., 2013. A multimethod for the determination of 150 pesticide metabolites in surface water and groundwater using direct injection liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry. Journal of Chromatography A 1271, 95-104.
- 201. Ribeiro, R., Lopes, I., 2013. Contaminant driven genetic erosion and associated hypotheses on alleles loss, reduced population growth rate

and increased susceptibility to future stressors: an essay. Ecotoxicology 22, 889-899.

202. Riise, G., Lundekvam, H., Wu, Q., Haugen, L., Mulder, J., 2004. Loss of pesticides from agricultural fields in SE Norway–runoff through surface and drainage water. Environmental geochemistry and health 26, 269-276.

- 203. Ritz, C., Baty, F., Streibig, J.C., Gerhard, D., 2015. Doseresponse analysis using R. PloS One 10, e0146021.
- 204. Ritz, C., Streibig, J.C., 2005. Bioassay analysis using R. Journal of statistical software 12, 1-22.
- 205. Rivero, A., Magaud, A., Nicot, A., Vézilier, J., 2011. Energetic cost of insecticide resistance in Culex pipiens mosquitoes. Journal of medical entomology 48, 694-700.
- Rockström, J., Steffen, W., Noone, K., Persson, Å., Chapin, F.S., III, Lambin, E., Lenton, T.M., Scheffer, M., Folke, C., Schellnhuber, H.J., Nykvist, B., de Wit, C.A., Hughes, T., van der Leeuw, S., Rodhe, H., Sörlin, S., Snyder, P.K., Costanza, R., Svedin, U., Falkenmark, M., Karlberg, L., Corell, R.W., Fabry, V.J., Hansen, J., Walker, B., Liverman, D., Richardson, K., Crutzen, P., Foley, J., 2009. Planetary Boundaries: Exploring the Safe Operating Space for Humanity. Ecology and Society 14.
- 207. Rodrigues, A.C., Gravato, C., Quintaneiro, C., Barata, C., Soares, A.M., Pestana, J.L., 2015. Sub-lethal toxicity of environmentally relevant concentrations of esfenvalerate to Chironomus riparius. Environmental pollution 207, 273-279.
- 208. Rohr, J.R., Schotthoefer, A.M., Raffel, T.R., Carrick, H.J., Halstead, N., Hoverman, J.T., Johnson, C.M., Johnson, L.B., Lieske, C., Piwoni, M.D., 2008. Agrochemicals increase trematode infections in a declining amphibian species. Nature 455, 1235.
- 209. Rolf D. Vinebrooke, K.L.C., Jon Norberg, Marten Scheffer, Stanley I. Dodson, Stephen C. Maberly and Ulrich Sommer, 2004. Impacts of multiple stressors on biodiversity and ecosystem functioning: the role of species co-tolerance. Oikos 104, 451/457.
- 210. Roubos, C.R., Rodriguez-Saona, C., Isaacs, R., 2014. Biological Control Special Issue-Impact of Environmental Change on Biological Control 2 REVISED 3.
- 211. Roush, R.T., McKenzie, J.A., 1987. Ecological genetics of insecticide and acaricide resistance. Annual review of entomology 32, 361-380.
- 212. RStudio, 2022. RStudio: integrated development for R, RStudio, Inc., Boston, MA URL <u>http://www.rstudio.com</u>.
- 213. Rundlöf, M., Andersson, G.K., Bommarco, R., Fries, I., Hederström, V., Herbertsson, L., Jonsson, O., Klatt, B.K., Pedersen, T.R.,

Yourstone, J., 2015. Seed coating with a neonicotinoid insecticide negatively affects wild bees. Nature 521, 77-80.

- 214. Russo, R., Becker, J.M., Liess, M., 2018. Sequential exposure to low levels of pesticides and temperature stress increase toxicological sensitivity of crustaceans. Science of the Total Environment 610-611, 563-569.
- 215. Sánchez-Bayo, F., Goka, K., Hayasaka, D., 2016. Contamination of the Aquatic Environment with Neonicotinoids and its Implication for Ecosystems. Frontiers in Environmental Science 4.
- 216. Schäfer, R.B., Bundschuh, M., Rouch, D.A., Szocs, E., von der Ohe, P.C., Pettigrove, V., Schulz, R., Nugegoda, D., Kefford, B.J., 2012. Effects of pesticide toxicity, salinity and other environmental variables on selected ecosystem functions in streams and the relevance for ecosystem services. Science of the Total Environment 415, 69-78.
- 217. Schäfer, R.B., Caquet, T., Siimes, K., Mueller, R., Lagadic, L., Liess, M., 2007. Effects of pesticides on community structure and ecosystem functions in agricultural streams of three biogeographical regions in Europe. Science of the Total Environment 382, 272-285.
- 218. Schäfer, R.B., Van den Brink, P., Liess, M., 2011. Impacts of pesticides on freshwater ecosystems.
- 219. Schäfer, R.B., von der Ohe, P.C., Rasmussen, J., Kefford, B.J., Beketov, M.A., Schulz, R., Liess, M., 2012. Thresholds for the effects of pesticides on invertebrate communities and leaf breakdown in stream ecosystems. Environmental science & technology 46, 5134-5142.
- 220. Schlichting, C.D., Pigliucci, M., 1998. Phenotypic evolution: a reaction norm perspective. Sinauer Associates Incorporated.
- 221. Schmitt-Jansen, M., Veit, U., Dudel, G., Altenburger, R., 2008. An ecological perspective in aquatic ecotoxicology: Approaches and challenges. Basic and Applied Ecology 9, 337-345.
- 222. Schulz, R., 2004. Field studies on exposure, effects, and risk mitigation of aquatic nonpoint-source insecticide pollution. Journal of Environmental Quality 33, 419-448.
- 223. Schwarzenbach, R.P., Escher, B.I., Fenner, K., Hofstetter, T.B., Johnson, C.A., Von Gunten, U., Wehrli, B., 2006. The challenge of micropollutants in aquatic systems. Science 313, 1072-1077.
- 224. Segner, H., Schmitt-Jansen, M., Sabater, S., 2014. Assessing the impact of multiple stressors on aquatic biota: the receptor's side matters. ACS Publications.
- 225. Sejerøe, L.H., 2011. Toxicity of ternary mixtures tested on Cenorhabditis elegans -predictions and modelling. University of Copenhagen, p. 79.
- 226. Sever, H.C., Heim, J.R., Lydy, V.R., Fung, C.Y., Hartz, K.E.H., Giroux, M.S., Andrzejczyk, N., Major, K.M., Poynton, H.C., Lydy, M.J., 2020. Recessivity of pyrethroid resistance and limited interspecies

hybridization across Hyalella clades supports rapid and independent origins of resistance. Environmental Pollution 266, 115074.

- 227. Shahid, N., Becker, J.M., Krauss, M., Brack, W., Liess, M., 2018. Adaptation of Gammarus pulex to agricultural insecticide contamination in streams. Science of the Total Environment 621, 479-485.
- 228. Shahid, N., Liess, M., Knillmann, S., 2019. Environmental Stress Increases Synergistic Effects of Pesticide Mixtures on Daphnia magna. Environmental Science & Technology 53, 12586-12593.
- 229. Shahid, N., Rolle-Kampczyk, U., Siddique, A., von Bergen, M., Liess, M., 2021. Pesticide-induced metabolic changes are amplified by food stress. Science of the Total Environment 792, 148350.
- 230. Siddique, A., Liess, M., Shahid, N., Becker, J.M., 2020. Insecticides in agricultural streams exert pressure for adaptation but impair performance in Gammarus pulex at regulatory acceptable concentrations. Science of the Total Environment 722, 137750.
- 231. Siddique, A., Shahid, N., Liess, M., 2021. Multiple Stress Reduces the Advantage of Pesticide Adaptation. Environmental Science & Technology 55, 15100-15109.
- 232. Simon-Delso, N., Amaral-Rogers, V., Belzunces, L.P., Bonmatin, J.-M., Chagnon, M., Downs, C., Furlan, L., Gibbons, D.W., Giorio, C., Girolami, V., 2015a. Systemic insecticides (neonicotinoids and fipronil): trends, uses, mode of action and metabolites. Environmental Science and Pollution Research 22, 5-34.
- 233. Simon-Delso, N., Amaral-Rogers, V., Belzunces, L.P., Bonmatin, J.M., Chagnon, M., Downs, C., Furlan, L., Gibbons, D.W., Giorio, C., Girolami, V., Goulson, D., Kreutzweiser, D.P., Krupke, C.H., Liess, M., Long, E., McField, M., Mineau, P., Mitchell, E.A., Morrissey, C.A., Noome, D.A., Pisa, L., Settele, J., Stark, J.D., Tapparo, A., Van Dyck, H., Van Praagh, J., Van der Sluijs, J.P., Whitehorn, P.R., Wiemers, M., 2015b. Systemic insecticides (neonicotinoids and fipronil): trends, uses, mode of action and metabolites. Environmental Science and Pollution Research International 22, 5-34.
- 234. Sismeiro-Vivas, J., Abrantes, N., Pereira, J., Castro, B., Gonçalves, F., 2007. Short-term effects of Quirlan®(chlorfenvinphos) on the behavior and acetylcholinesterase activity of Gambusia holbrooki. Environmental Toxicology: An International Journal 22, 194-202.
- 235. Sparks, T.C., Nauen, R., 2015. IRAC: Mode of action classification and insecticide resistance management. Pesticide Biochemistry and Physiology 121, 122-128.
- 236. Sprague, J., 1970. Measurement of pollutant toxicity to fish. II. Utilizing and applying bioassay results. Water Research 4, 3-32.
- 237. Stehle, S., Knäbel, A., Schulz, R., 2013. Probabilistic risk assessment of insecticide concentrations in agricultural surface waters: a

critical appraisal. Environmental monitoring and assessment 185, 6295-6310.

- 238. Stoate, C., Boatman, N.D., Borralho, R.J., Carvalho, C.R., de Snoo, G.R., Eden, P., 2001. Ecological impacts of arable intensification in Europe. Journal of Environmental Management 63, 337-365.
- 239. Stuhlbacher, A., Maltby, L., 1992. Cadmium resistance in Gammarus pulex (L.). Archives of environmental contamination and toxicology 22, 319-324.
- 240. Sun, P.Y., Foley, H.B., Handschumacher, L., Suzuki, A., Karamanukyan, T., Edmands, S., 2014. Acclimation and adaptation to common marine pollutants in the copepod Tigriopus californicus. Chemosphere 112, 465-471.
- 241. Szocs, E., Kefford, B.J., Schäfer, R.B., 2012. Is there an interaction of the effects of salinity and pesticides on the community structure of macroinvertebrates? Science of the Total Environment 437, 121-126.
- 242. Talebi, K., Kavousi, A., Sabahi, Q., 2008. Impacts of pesticides on arthropod biological control agents. Pest Technology 2, 87-97.
- 243. Tang, J.Y., Escher, B.I., 2014. Realistic environmental mixtures of micropollutants in surface, drinking, and recycled water: Herbicides dominate the mixture toxicity toward algae. Environmental toxicology and chemistry 33, 1427-1436.
- 244. Tomlin, C.D., 2009. The pesticide manual: A world compendium. British Crop Production Council.
- 245. University of Hertfordshire, 2014. The Pesticide Properties DataBase (PPDB) Developed by the Agriculture & Environment Research Unit (AERU). University of Hertfordshire (Available from: <u>http://sitem.herts.ac.uk/aeru/iupac/atoz.htm</u>).
- 246. USEPA, 2014. ECOTOX Database. United States Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA), Washington, DC, USA (Available from: <u>http://cfpub.epa.gov/ecotox/quickquery.htm</u>).
- 247. van Dijk, G.M., van Liere, L., Admiraal, W., Bannink, B.A., Cappon, J.J., 1994. Present state of the water quality of European rivers and implications for management. Science of The Total Environment 145, 187-195.
- 248. van Straalen, N.M., Timmermans, M.J., 2002. Genetic variation in toxicant-stressed populations: an evaluation of the "genetic erosion" hypothesis. Human and Ecological Risk Assessment 8, 983-1002.
- 249. Van Timmeren, S., Wise, J.C., VanderVoort, C., Isaacs, R., 2011. Comparison of foliar and soil formulations of neonicotinoid insecticides for control of potato leafhopper, Empoasca fabae (Homoptera: Cicadellidae), in wine grapes. Pest management science 67, 560-567.
- 250. Verheyen, J., Stoks, R., 2019. Temperature variation makes an ectotherm more sensitive to global warming unless thermal evolution occurs. Journal of Animal Ecology 88, 624-636.
- 251. Vigneron, A., Geffard, O., Coquery, M., François, A., Quéau, H., Chaumot, A., 2015. Evolution of cadmium tolerance and associated costs in a Gammarus fossarum population inhabiting a low-level contaminated stream. Ecotoxicology 24, 1239-1249.
- 252. Villalobos-Barrantes, H.M., García, E.G., Lowe, A.J., Albertazzi, F.J., 2015. Genetic analysis of the dry forest timber tree Sideroxylon capiri in Costa Rica using AFLP. Plant systematics and evolution 301, 15-23.
- 253. Von der Ohe, P.C., Goedkoop, W., 2013. Distinguishing the effects of habitat degradation and pesticide stress on benthic invertebrates using stressor-specific metrics. Science of the Total Environment 444, 480-490.
- 254. Vos, P., Hogers, R., Bleeker, M., Reijans, M., Lee, T.v.d., Hornes, M., Friters, A., Pot, J., Paleman, J., Kuiper, M., 1995. AFLP: a new technique for DNA fingerprinting. Nucleic acids research 23, 4407-4414.
- 255. Vrana, B., Allan, I.J., Greenwood, R., Mills, G.A., Dominiak, E., Svensson, K., Knutsson, J., Morrison, G., 2005. Passive sampling techniques for monitoring pollutants in water. TRAC Trends in Analytical Chemistry 24, 845-868.
- 256. Walker, C.H., Sibly, R., Peakall, D.B., 2005. Principles of ecotoxicology. CRC press.
- 257. Walker, E.K., Brock, G.N., Arvidson, R.S., Johnson, R.M., 2022. Acute Toxicity of Fungicide-Insecticide-Adjuvant Combinations Applied to Almonds During Bloom on Adult Honey Bees. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry 41, 1042-1053.
- 258. Wallace, J.B., Webster, J.R., 1996. The role of macroinvertebrates in stream ecosystem function. Annual review of entomology 41, 115-139.
- 259. Walpole, M., Almond, R.E., Besançon, C., Butchart, S.H., Campbell-Lendrum, D., Carr, G.M., Collen, B., Collette, L., Davidson, N.C., Dulloo, E., 2009. Tracking progress toward the 2010 biodiversity target and beyond. Science 325, 1503-1504.
- 260. Ward, T.J., Robinson, W.E., 2005. Evolution of cadmium resistance in Daphnia magna. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry: An International Journal 24, 2341-2349.
- 261. Werner, I., Zalom, F.G., Oliver, M.N., Deanovic, L.A., Kimball, T.S., Henderson, J.D., Wilson, B.W., Krueger, W., Wallender, W.W., 2004. Toxicity of storm-water runoff after dormant spray application in a french prune orchard, Glenn County, California, USA: temporal

patterns and the effect of ground covers. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry 23, 2719-2726.

- 262. Weston, D.P., Poynton, H.C., Major, K.M., Wellborn, G.A., Lydy, M.J., Moschet, C., Connon, R.E., 2018. Using mutations for pesticide resistance to identify the cause of toxicity in environmental samples. Environmental science & technology 52, 859-867.
- 263. Weston, D.P., Poynton, H.C., Wellborn, G.A., Lydy, M.J., Blalock, B.J., Sepulveda, M.S., Colbourne, J.K., 2013. Multiple origins of pyrethroid insecticide resistance across the species complex of a nontarget aquatic crustacean, Hyalella azteca. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 110, 16532-16537.
- 264. Widenfalk, A., Svensson, J.M., Goedkoop, W., 2004. Effects of the pesticides captan, deltamethrin, isoproturon, and pirimicarb on the microbial community of a freshwater sediment. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry: An International Journal 23, 1920-1927.
- 265. Wieczorek, M.V., Bakanov, N., Bilancia, D., Szocs, E., Stehle, S., Bundschuh, M., Schulz, R., 2018. Structural and functional effects of a short-term pyrethroid pulse exposure on invertebrates in outdoor stream mesocosms. Science of the Total Environment 610-611, 810-819.
- 266. Wilson, C.J., Brain, R.A., Sanderson, H., Johnson, D.J., Bestari, K.T., Sibley, P.K., Solomon, K.R., 2004. Structural and functional responses of plankton to a mixture of four tetracyclines in aquatic microcosms. Environmental science & technology 38, 6430-6439.
- 267. Xie, L., Klerks, P.L., 2003. Responses to selection for cadmium resistance in the least killifish, Heterandria formosa. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry: An International Journal 22, 313-320.
- 268. Xie, L., Klerks, P.L., 2004. Fitness cost of resistance to cadmium in the least killifish (Heterandria formosa). Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry: An International Journal 23, 1499-1503.
- 269. Xing, Z., Chow, L., Rees, H., Meng, F., Li, S., Ernst, B., Benoy, G., Zha, T., Hewitt, L.M., 2013. Influences of sampling methodologies on pesticide-residue detection in stream water. Archives of environmental contamination and toxicology 64, 208-218.
- 270. Zhang, C., De Meester, L., Stoks, R., 2020. Effects of thermal evolution on the stoichiometric responses to nano-ZnO under warming are not general: insights from experimental evolution. Ecotoxicology 29, 175-184.
- 271. Zhang, C., Jansen, M., De Meester, L., Stoks, R., 2018. Thermal evolution offsets the elevated toxicity of a contaminant under warming: A resurrection study in Daphnia magna. Evol Appl 11, 1425-1436.
- 272. Zhang, W., Jiang, F., Ou, J., 2011. Global pesticide consumption and pollution: with China as a focus. Proceedings of the International Academy of Ecology and Environmental Sciences 1, 125.

273. Zhao, Y., Park, Y., Adams, M.E., 2000. Functional and evolutionary consequences of pyrethroid resistance mutations in S6 transmembrane segments of a voltage-gated sodium channel. Biochemical and biophysical research communications 278, 516-521.

# **Contributions to the published articles and chapters**

- Chapter 1 This chapter is written by Ayesha Siddique
- This chapter is based on the manuscript "Insecticides in Chapter 2 agricultural streams exert pressure for adaptation but impair performance in *Gammarus pulex* at regulatory acceptable concentrations" published in Science of the Total Environment. Ayesha Siddique (>70%), designed the study, collected test organisms, conducted all the sensitivity tests and maintained the organisms in cultures for long-term data, analyzed the data and wrote first draft of manuscript. Matthias Liess (10%) contributed to study design and interpretation of results. Naeem Shahid (8%), contributed to data analysis and interpretation of results. Jeremias Martin Becker (12%) contributed to study design, data collection, analysis and interpretation. All authors read, improved and approved the final version of manuscript.
- Chapter 3 This chapter is based on the manuscript "Multiple Stress Reduces the Advantage of Pesticide Adaptation" published in Environmental Science and Technology. Ayesha Siddique (>70%), designed the study, collected test organisms, conducted all lab experiments, analyzed the data and wrote first draft of manuscript. Naeem Shahid (10%), contributed to data analysis and interpretation of results. Matthias Liess (20%) contributed to study design, interpretation of results and supervised the study. All authors read, improved and approved the final version of manuscript.

- Chapter 4 This chapter is based on the manuscript "Persistent pesticides effects favour single population dominance and reduces biodiversity of vulnerable species", Submitted. Ayesha Siddique (>70%), designed the study, collected test organisms, conducted all the lab experiments and data collection, analyzed the data and wrote first draft of manuscript. Matthias Liess (20%) contributed to study design, Extended the cognitive process of analysis, interpretation of results and supervised the study. Naeem Shahid (10%), contributed to data collection, data analysis and interpretation of results All authors read, improved and approved the final version of manuscript.
- Chapter 5 This chapter is based on the manuscript "Predicting the combined effects of multiple stressors and individual stress adaptation", Submitted. Naeem Shahid (45%), Ayesha Siddique (35%), Matthias Liess (20%) conceived the research concept, contributed to interpretation of results. contributed to data analysis and interpretation of results. All authors read, improved and approved the final version of manuscript.
- **Chapter 6** This chapter is written by Ayesha Siddique.

# Acknowledgements

Undertaking this doctoral research has been very challenging and it would not have been possible without the support and guidance of many people around me. First of all, I would like to express my earnest gratitude to my supervisor Prof. Dr. Matthias Liess from Department System-Ecotoxicolgy, Helmholtz Centre of Environmental Research – UFZ, whose expertise, insight and knowledge on the subject directed me throughout the research. Prof. Liess is very motivating and encouraging mentor who always supported me. Further, I would like to acknowledge Prof. Dr. Andreas Schäffer from the RWTH Aachen University for his motivating and persistent support for the thesis.

I gratefully acknowledge DAAD (German Academic Exchange Service) for supporting through doctoral fellowship. Many thanks to Dagmar Beerwerth who have always been there regarding fellowship matters. My thanks also go out to the support I received from Molecular labs of Deapartment Bioanalytical Ecotoxicology and Department of Environmental Microbiology, UFZ, Leipzig.

I appreciate every member of the Department System-Ecotoxicology for the warm and inspiring atmosphere. Especially I thank Jeremias Martin Becker for his support and guidance during my PhD project. Thanks to Oliver Kaske, Klaus Seyfarth, Ingrid Ränker and numerous student assistants especially Mavi H. Kotan, Bernhard Kodritsch, Kai Winter, Matthias Beck, and Gabriel Gomez for their dedicated help in field and lab experiments. I further thanks to all my friends for sharing many cheerful memories.

I wish to acknowledge the support and love of my family for always believing and encouraging me through the difficult times. Finally, thanks to my dear Husband, Naeem, who has always been there by my side throughout this PhD, living literally every minute of it.

# **Curriculum Vitae**

#### Ayesha Siddique

Department System Ecotoxicology Helmholtz Center for Environmental Research-UFZ, Leipzig, Germany <u>ayesha.siddique@ufz.de</u>

### Education

2023	<b>Dr. rer. nat.</b> Department System Eco-toxicology, Helmholtz Centre for Environmental Research – UFZ, Leipzig, Germany, and Institute for Environmental Research (Biology V), RWTH Aachen University Germany
2017	<ul><li>M. phil. Microbiology and Molecular Genetics.</li><li>University of the Punjab, Lahore, Pakistan.</li></ul>
2015	<b>M. Sc.</b> Microbiology and Molecular Genetics. University of the Punjab, Lahore, Pakistan.
2013	<b>B. Sc.</b> Microbiology, Biochemistry, and Genetics. University of the Punjab, Lahore, Pakistan.

#### Experience

2019-present Doctoral Research Fellow, Department System-Ecotoxicology, Helmholtz Centre for Environmental Research – UFZ, Leipzig, Germany & Institute for Environmental Research, RWTH Aachen University, Germany 2019-2022 Research Assistant/Guest Scientist, Department System Eco-toxicology, Helmholtz Centre for Environmental Research – UFZ, Leipzig, Germany.
2017-2019 Research Assistant, Department System Eco-toxicology, Helmholtz Centre for Environmental Research – UFZ, Leipzig, Germany.

#### **Selected honours and Awards**

- 2021-2022 MuSt Multiple Stress of pesticides and environmental stressors: Funded by Helmholtz Centre for Environmental Research – UFZ. With Prof. Matthias Liess, Prof. Martin von Bergin, Prof. Dr. Joerg Hackermuller and Dr. rer. nat Naeem Shahid.
- **2019-2022** DAAD doctoral fellowship, German Academic Exchange Service.
- 2016-2017 M.Phil. research scholarship, University of the Punjab, Lahore, Pakistan.

## **Publications**

- 1. Shahid, N., **Siddique, A.**, & Liess, M. (2023). Predicting the combined effects of multiple stressors and individual stress adaptation. (Submitted).
- 2. **Siddique, A.**, Shahid, N., Liess, M., 2023. Persistent pesticides effects favour single population dominance and reduces biodiversity of vulnerable species. (Submitted).
- Siddique, A., Fatima. W., Shahid, N., 2023. Association of common BRCA1 variants with predisposition to breast tumors in Pakistan. Annals of Human Genetics. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/ahg.12511</u>
- Siddique, A., Shahid, N., Liess, M., 2021. Multiple Stress Reduces the Advantage of Pesticide Adaptation. Environmental Science & Technology. <u>https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.1c02669</u>
- Shahid, N., Rolle-Kampczyk, U., Siddique, A., von Bergen, M., Liess, M., 2021. Pesticide-induced metabolic changes are amplified by food stress. Science of the Total Environment 792, 148350. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2021.148350</u>
- Siddique, A., Liess, M., Shahid, N., Becker, J.M., 2020. Insecticides in agricultural streams exert pressure for adaptation but impair performance in Gammarus pulex at regulatory acceptable concentrations. Science of the Total Environment 722, 137750. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.137750</u>
- Khan, RT., Siddique, A., Shahid. N., Khokher, S., Fatima, W. Breast cancer risk associated with genes encoding DNA repair MRN complex: a study from Punjab, Pakistan. Breast Cancer. 2018; 25(3):350-355. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s12282-018-0837-9</u>
- Abbas S, Siddique, A., Shahid, N., Khan, RT., Fatima, W. High mutational load of *BRCA1/2* variants increase breast cancer risk in the Pakistani population. Breast Cancer. 2018. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s12282-018-0932-y</u>

## **Professional Trainings**

Workshops/courses offered by Helmholtz Interdisciplinary GRADuate School for Environmental Research (HIGRADE), Helmholtz Centre for Environmental Research (UFZ), Leipzig, Germany.

- Good Scientific Practice
- Risk Assessment of Chemicals in the Environment
- Effective Graphic and Visualisation
- Introduction to Probability and Applied Statistics Using R
- Introduction to Generalized Linear Models and Mixed Effects Models Using R
- Reviewing Scientific Manuscripts
- Career Planning for Doctoral Reseachers

ISSN 1860-0387 Online-ISSN 2941-3885

Helmholtz Centre for Environmental Research – UFZ Permoserstraße 15 04318 Leipzig I Germany www.ufz.de

NOT FOR SALE.